
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

AAGGEENNDDAA  
 

Monday, April 29, 2019 – Council Chambers, City Hall 

 

 Call to Order: 2:30 PM  

 Recess: 5:00 PM to 6:00 PM  
 

 

1. IN CAMERA MEETING (approximately 1 hour and 45 minutes)  

 

1.1. Motion to In Camera 

  

1.1.a. City Manager Recruitment – FOIP 19(1) Confidential Evaluations  

  

1.1.b. Committee Appointments – FOIP 17(1) Disclosure Harmful to Personal 

Privacy  

  

1.1.c. Land Matter – FOIP 27(1)(a) Privileged Information 
  

1.2. Motion to Revert to Open Meeting 

  

 

2. MINUTES  

 

2.1. Confirmation of the Minutes of the April 15, 2019 Regular Council Meeting 

 (Agenda Pages 1 – 19) 

 

 

3. POINTS OF INTEREST  

 

 

4. REPORTS  

 

4.1. 2018 Annual Financial Report  

 (Agenda Pages 20 – 113) 

 



City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting Monday, April 29, 2019         Page 2 

 

 

4.2. Community Housing and Homelessness Integrated Plan Ad Hoc Committee 

Appointments  

 (Agenda Pages 114 – 115) 

 

4.3. Community Housing Advisory Board Recommendation - Request for Additional 

Funding  

 (Agenda Pages 116 – 119) 

 

 

5. BYLAWS  

 

5.1. Business Improvement Area Business Tax Bylaw Amendment 3196/A-2019 

 (Agenda Pages 120 – 132) 

 

5.1.a. Consideration of Second Reading of the Bylaw  

  

5.1.b. Consideration of Third Reading of the Bylaw  

  

5.2. 2019 Tax Rate Bylaw  

 (Agenda Pages 133 – 147) 

 

5.2.a. Consideration of Second Reading of the Bylaw  
  

5.2.b. Consideration of Third Reading of the Bylaw  

  

5.3. Proposed amendments to create a new land use district in the Queens Business 

Park area – Bylaw 3357 / N-2019 

Proposed amendments to:  

Bylaw 3398/A-2019 – West QE2 Major Area Structure Plan (MASP)  

Bylaw 3399/A-2019 – Queens Business Park Industrial Area Structure Plan 

(IASP)  

Bylaw 3469/A-2019 – Queens Business Park SE 36 Industrial Area Structure 

Plan (IASP)  

 (Agenda Pages 148 – 199) 

 

5.3.a. Consideration of First Reading of Bylaw 3357/N-2019  

  

5.3.b. Consideration of First Reading of Bylaw 3398/A-2019  

  

5.3.c. Consideration of First Reading of Bylaw 3399/A-2019  

  

5.3.d. Consideration of First Reading of Bylaw 3469/A-2019  

  
5.4. Proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment (site exception) to allow a Freestanding 

Dynamic Sign as a discretionary use on 75 Burnt Park Drive  

Bylaw 3357/R – 2018  
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 (Agenda Pages 200 – 227) 

 

5.4.a. Consideration of First Reading of Bylaw 3357/R-2018  

  

5.5. Bylaw 3357D-2019 Amendment to Direct Control District No. 27 and 

Clearview Market Square Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package  

 (Agenda Pages 228 – 262) 

 

5.5.a. Consideration of First Reading of Bylaw 3357/D-2019  

  

5.6. Appeals Board Bylaw 3619/2019 and Clarifying Amendments Bylaw 3619/B-

2019  

 (Agenda Pages 263 – 278) 

 

5.6.a. Consideration of First Reading of Bylaw 3619/B-2019  

  

 

6. ADJOURNMENT  

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

UNAPPROVED - M  I  N  U  T  E  S   

 

of the Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting 

held on Monday, April 15, 2019 

commenced at 2:35 P.M. 

 

 

Present: Mayor Tara Veer 

  Councillor Buck Buchanan 

Councillor Michael Dawe 

  Councillor Tanya Handley  

 Councillor Vesna Higham 

 Councillor Lawrence Lee 

 Councillor Frank Wong 

 Councillor Dianne Wyntjes   

 

Interim City Manager, Tara Lodewyk 

Acting Director of Communications & Strategic Planning, Tara Shand 

Director of Community Services, Sarah Cockerill 

Director of Corporate Services, Lisa Perkins 

Director of Development Services, Kelly Kloss 

Director of Human Resources, Kristy Svoboda 

Acting Director of Planning Services, Emily Damberger 

Director of Protective Services, Paul Goranson 

City Clerk, Frieda McDougall 

Deputy City Clerk, Samantha Rodwell 

LS Committees Coordinator, Lynn Van Laar 

Controller – Property Taxation, Roxane Preedin   

Emergency Services Manager, Ken McMullen 

Engineering Services Manager, Konrad Dunbar   

Recreation, Parks & Culture Manager, Shelley Gagnon  

Revenue & Assessment Manager, Joanne Parkin 

  Senior Planner, Christi Fidek 

  Senior Planner, Kimberly Fils-Aime 

     

Absent: Councillor Ken Johnston 
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1. IN CAMERA  

 

1.1. Motion to In Camera 

 

Moved by Councillor Buck Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to enter into an In-

Camera meeting of Council on Monday, April 15, 2019 at 2:35 p.m. and hereby agrees 

to exclude the following: 

 

• All members of the media; and 

• All members of the public; and 

• All non-related staff members 

 

to discuss City Manager Recruitment – FOIP 19(1) Confidential Evaluations  

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Michael Dawe, Councillor Tanya 

Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, Councillor Lawrence Lee, 

Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

ABSENT: Councillor Buck Buchanan 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Councillor Buck Buchanan arrived at 2:36 p.m. 

 

1.1.a.  City Manager Recruitment - FOIP 19(1) Confidential Evaluations  

 

The following people were in attendance as the topic under discussion related to 

their position within the organization: 

 

Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael Dawe, 

Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, Councillor Lawrence Lee, 

Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

City Clerk, Frieda McDougall 

Tim Hamilton, Boyden Calgary Inc. 
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Councillor Buck Buchanan left at 4:04 p.m. 

 

1.2. Motion to Revert to Open Meeting 

 

Moved by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes, seconded by Councillor Frank Wong 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to enter into an open 

meeting of Council on Monday, April 1, 2019 at 4:05 p.m. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Michael Dawe, Councillor Tanya 

Handley Councillor Vesna Higham, Councillor Lawrence Lee, 

Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

ABSENT: Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Councillor Buck Buchanan returned to Council Chambers at 4:09 p.m. 

 

Council recessed at 4:09 p.m. and reconvened at 4:14 p.m. 

 

2. MINUTES 

 

2.1. Confirmation of the Minutes of the April 1, 2019 Council Meeting 

 

Moved by Councillor Lawrence Lee, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby approves the Minutes of the 

April 1, 2019 Regular Council Meeting as transcribed. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 
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3. BYLAWS 

 

3.1. Business Improvement Area Business Tax Bylaw Amendment 

3196/A-2019 

 

Moved by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes, seconded by Councillor Lawrence Lee 

 

FIRST READING: That Bylaw 3196/A-2019 (an amendment to the Business 

Improvement Area (BIA) Business Tax Bylaw to set the BIA tax 

rates required to fund the 2019 Downtown Business Association 

(DBA) budget) be read a first time. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

3.2. 2019 Tax Rate Bylaw 

 

Moved by Councillor Frank Wong, seconded by Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

FIRST READING: That Bylaw 3622/2019 (the 2019 Tax Rate Bylaw, to authorize 

the levying of a tax upon all taxable property shown on the 

Assessment Roll and a supplementary property tax in respect for 

which Supplementary Assessments Roll has been prepared) be 

read a first time. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 
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4. REPORTS 

 

4.1. Notice of Motion - Bicycle Registration & Licensing 

 

Moved by Councillor Buck Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Michael Dawe 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to lift from the table 

consideration of the Notice of Motion – Bicycle Registration and Licensing. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 

 

 MOTION TO LIFT FROM THE TABLE CARRIED 

 

The original Notice of Motion, as presented at the October 1, 2018 regular Council Meeting, 

was then on the floor.  

 

Moved by Councillor Buck Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Whereas bicycle thefts in Red Deer is a problem, with over 113 Red Deer bicycles 

reported stolen so far in 2018 and 112 stolen bicycles reported in 2017; and 

  

Whereas actual found bikes in 2018 to date number 190 and in 2017 was 327 which 

demonstrates that most thefts are not reported to the police or bylaws; and 

 

Whereas when you consider that most bikes today cost anywhere between $500 and 

$1200 on average and while many cyclists take the time to ensure their bikes are 

properly locked up but locks are cut, the bikes are stolen, and many bicycle owners 

may not have the serial number, photo or model information of their bicycle; and 

 

Whereas the stolen bikes are often taken apart and bike parts are used in chop shops 

or bike parts are sold or used as a form of currency and traded for drugs; and 

 

Whereas these bike parts when traded or sold are used to rebuild bikes to avoid 
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detection and police have little means to arrest and the assembled bikes don’t have 

serials numbers, serial numbers have been removed and bikes are difficult to identify; 

and 

 

Whereas the City of Red Deer’s recent IPSO survey results rate crime as the number 

one priority along with policing/law enforcement, community safety/security and drugs 

receiving attention as city priorities for action; and 

 

Whereas many other Canadian municipalities facing similar high crimes of bike thefts 

have initiated a bait bike initiative that has been reported as being successful or have 

implemented bicycle registration programs that have all new and resale bicycles 

registered with the local government, which helps as an anti-theft measure, minimizes 

the conversion of bikes and cities have seen a decline in bike thefts; and 

 

Whereas the City and citizens must take on emboldened thieves and look to deterring 

bike thefts with repercussions for illegitimate activities;  

 

Therefore be it Resolved that The City of Red Deer, working with the Central Alberta 

Crime Prevention Centre, initiate a Red Deer Bicycle Registration and Licensing on-

line program along with community registration events and that this registry and 

licensing be cost effective for bicycle owners including family rates to register and 

license their bicycles; and 

 

Be it Further Resolved that this anti-theft initiative will look to reducing bike thefts, 

support bike owners with a process that returns bikes to the owners, and provide 

additional enforcement law and intervention processes for City Community Peace 

Officers and RCMP when bicycles are seen disassembled, reassembled or modified; and 

 

Be it Further Resolved that all lost and stolen bicycles that are recovered be stored 

and available for people looking to locate their stolen or missing property; and 

 

Be it Further Resolved that all bicycles not recovered in a timely fashion be disposed 

through auction with proceeds going to support the program; and 

 

Be it Further Resolved that a bylaw be presented that addresses bicycles that are 

rebuilt and not registered and allows for appropriate enforcement for Community 
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Peace Officers and the RCMP. 

 

Councillor Buck Buchanan and Councillor Dianne Wyntjes agreed to withdraw the motion as 

presented. 

 

MOTION WITHDRAWN 

 

The following motion was then introduced. 

 

Moved by Councillor Buck Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer having considered the report from the 

Protective Services Division dated March 6, 2019 re:  Notice of Motion – Bicycle 

Registration and Licensing hereby agrees to implement a voluntary registry system 

which will enable: 

- access to an up to date, mobile database that supports police in the return of 

stole or recovered bicycles; 

- access to an up to date, mobile database that supports police as an investigative 

and enforcement tool to address stolen or rebuilt bicycles; 

- a free and voluntary Bicycle Registry that promotes bicycle registration, 

community engagement and awareness surround bicycle theft; and 

- the reduction of bicycle thefts in our community. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Council recessed at 5:13 p.m. and reconvened at 6:00 p.m. 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

5.1. Land Use Bylaw 3357/H-2019 

R1 to R2 Rezoning at 4028 51 Street 
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Mayor Tara Veer declared open the Public Hearing for Bylaw 3357/H-2019, an amendment to 

the Land Use Bylaw to redistrict 4028-51 Street (Lots 29-32, Block 9, Plan 3586AE) from R1 

Residential (Low Density) District to R2 Residential (Medium Density) District.  As no one was 

present to speak to this bylaw, Mayor Veer declared the Public Hearing closed. 

 

Moved by Councillor Tanya Handley, seconded by Councillor Vesna Higham 

 

SECOND READING: That Bylaw 3357/H-2019 (an amendment to the Land Use Bylaw 

to redistrict 4028-51 Street (Lots 29-32, Block 9, Plan 3586AE) 

from R1 Residential (Low Density) District to R2 Residential 

(Medium Density) District) be read a second time. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, 

Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

OPPOSED: Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Moved by Councillor Tanya Handley, seconded by Councillor Vesna Higham 

 

THIRD READING: That Bylaw 3357/H-2019 be read a third time. 

 

Prior to voting on third reading of the bylaw, the following motion was introduced: 

 

Moved by Councillor Michael Dawe, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Resovled that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to table this matter for 

up to four weeks to allow administration to provide further information on the future 

use of the site.  

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe 
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OPPOSED: Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, Councillor  

Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne 

Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION TO TABLE DEFEATED 

 

Third reading, as originally introduced, was then on the floor.  

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor 

Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne 

Wyntjes 

 

OPPOSED: Councillor Michael Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor 

Vesna Higham 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

6. REPORTS – Continued  

 

6.1. Aquatic Facility Planning Project - Scope 

 

Moved by Councillor Lawrence Lee, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer having considered the report from 

Recreation, Parks & Culture dated April 15, 2019 re:  Aquatic Facility Planning Project 

– Scope hereby agrees to the Scope for the Aquatic Facility Planning Project as follows: 

 

The Scope/Concept Plan for the aquatic facility will consider the following: 

1. Function:  

a. Support Council’s strategic goal statement “A Chosen Destination” 

b. Enable Hosting Capabilities. Meet FINA  and other relevant governing 

body standards for hosting sanctioned competitions at the following 

levels: 

i. Swimming – Provincial Competitions 

ii. Artistic Swimming and Water Polo – National Competitions 

iii. Diving – Regional Competitions 

c. Support Sport Excellence 
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d. Be multi-functional, support concurrent uses and programming 

efficiencies  

e. Meet gaps in aquatic service 

f. Provide essential aquatic services as well as being an important regional 

asset for fitness, length swimming and competition training 

g. Consider demand vs capacity 

h. Incorporate sufficient spectator seating and other spaces to adequately 

support sporting events (i.e. meet office, deck marshalling space, 

wet/dry warm up areas, storage) 

i. Inclusion of an Outdoor Aquatic element (i.e. lap and/or leisure pool).  

Depending upon site recommendation, this may be incorporated into 

the aquatic facility or alternate location. 

 

2. Identity 

a. Support Council’s strategic plan goal statement “An Economic Leader” 

b. Maximize the benefit of the recommended site 

c. Connect spaces and places 

d. Support required parking and prioritize active transportation and 

connectivity 

e. Design as a civic landmark balanced with fiscal responsibility 

f. Support best practices in design 

 

3. Sustainability  

a. Incorporate sustainability features and design for long term operational 

efficiencies 

b. Explore tested and proven technologies that contribute to 

environmental sustainability and energy efficiencies 

c. Site treatments help biodiversity 

d. Space is flexible and adaptable 

e. Building operations are efficient and resilient 

 

4. Accessibility, Social and Cultural Inclusiveness 

a. Designed to be inclusive, welcoming and safe 

b. Designed to be accessible for all 

c. Designed to encourage social interaction and community connections 
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5. Administration will work with the consultant to deliver the site options, 

concept plan with options and itemized pricing, estimated capital and operating 

budgets, utilizing the above scope by June 2020. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

7. BYLAWS – Continued  

 

7.1. 22 Gunn Street 

Bylaw 3357/J-2019 

 

Moved by Councillor Vesna Higham, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to lift from the table 

consideration of Proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment 3357/J-2019 to Redesignate 22 

Gunn Street From A1 Future Urban Development to R1 Residential (Low Density) and 

R2T (Town House). 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION TO LIFT FROM THE TABLE CARRIED 

 

First reading, as introduced at the March 4, 2019 Regular Council Meeting, was then on the 

floor.  

 

Moved by Councillor Frank Wong, seconded by Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

FIRST READING: That Bylaw 3357/J-2019 (an amendment to the Land Use Bylaw 

to redesignate 22 Gunn Street from A1 Future Urban 
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Development to R1 Residential (Low Density) and R2T 

Residential (Town House)) be read a first time. 

 

Prior to voting on first reading of the bylaw, the following motion to amend was introduced. 

 

Moved by Councillor Frank Wong, seconded by Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to amend Bylaw 3357/J-

2019 as follows: 

 

By deleting clause 1 and clause 2 of the bylaw and replacing it with the following: 

1. The land shown in the sketch attached as Schedule A to this Bylaw is 

redesignated from A1 Future Urban Development District to R1 

Residential (Low Density) District and R1G Residential (Small Lot) District. 

2. The “Land Use District Map K19” contained in “Schedule A” of the Land 

Use Bylaw is hereby amended in accordance with the Land Use District 

Map 6/2019 attached hereto and forming part of the bylaw. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION TO AMEND CARRIED 

 

First reading, as amended, was then on the floor.  

 

Moved by Councillor Frank Wong, seconded by Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

FIRST READING: That Bylaw 3357/J-2019 (an amendment to the Land Use Bylaw 

to redesignate 22 Gunn Street from the A1 Future Urban 

Development District to R1 Residential (Low Density) and R1G 

Residential (Small Lot) Districts) be read a first time, as 

amended. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 
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Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION  AS AMENDED CARRIED 

 

7.2. Land Use Bylaw Amendment - Bylaw 3357/A-2019 

Recreation Vehicle Storage in A1 District 

Equipment & Machinery Storage Site Exception 

 

Moved by Councillor Tanya Handley, seconded by Councillor Vesna Higham 

 

FIRST READING: That Bylaw 3357/A-2019 (an amendment to the Land Use Bylaw 

for a site exception to allow outdoor storage of recreation 

vehicles, equipment and machinery at 10, 39063 C&E Trail, south 

of the Central Park neighbourhood) be read a first time. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Councillor Frank Wong left Council Chambers at 7:55 p.m. and returned at 7:58 p.m. 

 

7.3. Fireworks Bylaw 3623/2019 

 

Moved by Councillor Lawrence Lee, seconded by Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to amend Bylaw 

3623/2019 as follows: 

- Section 3(d) by adding the wording “but does not include sparklers” at the end 

of the sentence; 

- Adding in a new Section 9: 

 9.  No Person shall sell sparklers to persons who are less than 18 years of age. 

 

and subsequently renumbering the bylaw and correcting section references throughout 
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the bylaw and schedules. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael Dawe, Councillor 

Vesna Higham, Councillor Frank Wong 

 

OPPOSED: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor 

Lawrence Lee, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION TO AMEND DEFEATED 

 

Moved by Councillor Michael Dawe, seconded by Councillor Vesna Higham 

 

SECOND READING: That Bylaw 3623/2019 (a bylaw to regulate the sale, possession 

and use of Fireworks and Firecrackers within the city for the safety and well-

being of the community) be read a second time. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Michael Dawe, Councillor Tanya 

Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham 

 

OPPOSED: Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor 

Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION DEFEATED 

 

8. IN CAMERA  

 

8.1. Motion to In Camera 

 

Moved by Councillor Lawrence Lee, seconded by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to enter into an In-

Camera meeting of Council on Monday, April 15, 2019 at 9:02 p.m. and hereby agrees 

to exclude the following: 

 

• All members of the media; and 

• All members of the public; and 
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• All non-related staff members 

 

to discuss: 

 

• Human Resource Matter – FOIP 24(1)(b)(i) Advice from Officials 

• Council Appointments – FOIP 24(1)(a) and 24(1)(b)(ii) Advice from Officials 

• Land Matter – FOIP 27(1)(a) Privileged Information 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Council recessed at 9:03 p.m. and reconvened at 9:07 p.m. 

 

8.1.a.  Human Resource Matter – FOIP 24(1)(b)(i) Advice from Officials 

 

The following people were in attendance as the topic under discussion related to 

their position within the organization: 

 

Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael Dawe, 

Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, Councillor Lawrence Lee, 

Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Tara Lodewyk, Emily Damberger, Paul Goranson, Sarah Cockerill, Kelly Kloss, 

Tara Shand, Kristy Svoboda, Frieda McDougall, Samantha Rodwell, Lynn Van Laar, 

Lesley Kendall 

 

8.1.b.  Council Appointments - FOIP 24(1)(a) and 24(1)(b)(ii) Advice 

from Officials 

 

The following people were in attendance as the topic under discussion related to 

their position within the organization: 
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Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael Dawe, 

Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, Councillor Lawrence Lee, 

Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Tara Lodewyk, Emily Damberger, Kristy Svoboda, Paul Goranson, Sarah Cockerill, 

Tara Shand, Kristy Svoboda, Kelly Kloss, Frieda McDougall, Samantha Rodwell, 

Lynn Van Laar 

 

8.1.c.  Land Matter – FOIP 27(1)(a) Privileged Information 

 

The following people were in attendance as the topic under discussion related to 

their position within the organization: 

 

Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael Dawe, 

Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, Councillor Lawrence Lee, 

Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor Dianne Wyntjes 

 

Tara Lodewyk, Emily Damberger, Kristy Svoboda, Paul Goranson, Sarah Cockerill, 

Kelly Kloss, Tara Shand, Frieda McDougall, Lynn Van Laar, Samantha Rodwell, 

Konrad Dunbar, Lesley Kendall  

 

8.2. Motion to Revert to Open Meeting 

 

Moved by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes, seconded by Councillor Lawrence Lee 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to enter into an open 

meeting of Council on Monday, April 1, 2019 at 10:15 p.m. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 
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9. ADD TO THE AGENDA 

 

Moved by Councillor Tanya Handley, seconded by Councillor Frank Wong 

 

Resolved that Council of the City of Red Deer hereby agrees to add consideration of 

City Manager Recruitment, Human Resource Matter and a Land Matter as discussed In 

Camera, to the April 15, 2019 City Council Agenda. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION TO ADD TO THE AGENDA CARRIED 

 

Moved by Councillor Lawrence Lee, seconded by Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer, having considered a City Manager 

Recruitment matter item on April 15, 2019, hereby endorses the recommendation as 

presented and agrees that the contents of the report will remain confidential, as 

protected by the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, section 19(1). 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Moved by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes, seconded by Councillor Buck Buchanan 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer having considered the report from 

Human Resources, dated April 15, 2019 re: International Brotherhood of Electrical 

Workers Local 254 and The City of Red Deer, hereby ratifies the Mediator’s 

recommended terms of settlement, which provides for the following annual wage 

increases: 

- January 1, 2019 – 1.0% 
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- January 1, 2020 – 2.0% 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

Moved by Councillor Frank Wong, seconded by Councillor Vesna Higham 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer having considered a Land Matter on 

April 15, 2019 hereby endorses Option 5 as presented In Camera and agrees that the 

contents of the report will remain confidential as protected by the Freedom of 

Information and Protection of Privacy Act, Section 27(1)(a). 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

10. REPORTS – Continued  

 

10.1. Council Representation on Federation of Canadian Municipalities 

(FCM) 

 

Moved by Councillor Dianne Wyntjes, seconded by Councillor Vesna Higham 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer having considered the report from 

Legislative Services department, dated April 1, 2019 re: Council Representation on the 

Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM), hereby agrees to: 

1. Endorse  Councillor Lawrence Lee to represent The City of Red Deer on the 

Federation of Canadian Municipalities Board or a Committee; 

2. Assume all costs (to a maximum of $13,000/per Councillor) to be funded from 
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the Operating Reserve: Tax Supported. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Moved by Councillor Buck Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Michael Dawe 

 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer hereby agrees to adjourn the Monday, 

April 15, 2019 Regular Council Meeting of Red Deer City Council at 10:20 p.m. 

 

IN FAVOUR: Mayor Tara Veer, Councillor Buck Buchanan, Councillor Michael 

Dawe, Councillor Tanya Handley, Councillor Vesna Higham, 

Councillor Lawrence Lee, Councillor Frank Wong, Councillor 

Dianne Wyntjes 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

 

 

   

MAYOR  CITY CLERK 
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April 29, 2019 

2018 Annual Financial Report 
Financial Services 

 

Report Summary & Recommendation: 

The 2018 annual financial statements are being presented to Council to: 

1. Accept the 2018 financial statements and annual financial report for distribution to 
the public and other interested parties 

2. Authorize the Mayor and one Councillor from the Audit Committee to sign the 
2018 financial statements on behalf of Council 

3. Authorize administration to forward the 2018 financial statements to Alberta 
Municipal Affairs, Alberta Capital Finance Authority, and Alberta Health Services by 
May 1, 2019 

 

 

City Manager Comments:  

I support the recommendation of the Audit Committee.  

 

Tara Lodewyk 

Interim City Manager  

 

 

Proposed Resolution 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer having considered the report from Financial 
Services dated April 29, 2019 re: 2018 Annual Financial Statements hereby agrees to: 

1. Accept the 2018 financial statements and annual financial report for distribution to 
the public and other interested parties 

2. Authorize the Mayor and one Councillor from the Audit Committee to sign the 
2018 financial statements on behalf of Council 

3. Authorize administration to forward the 2018 financial statements to Alberta 
Municipal Affairs, Alberta Capital Finance Authority, and Alberta Health Services by 
May 1, 2019 
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Report Details 
 

Background: 

Section 276(1) of the Municipal Government Act (MGA) requires that municipalities prepare 
annual financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Section 276(3) requires that each municipality make its financial statements, or a summary of 
them, and the auditor’s report on the financial statements, available to the public. 

Section 281(1) requires that the auditor for the municipality report to Council on the annual 
financial statements and the annual financial return. 

 

 

Discussion: 

Correspondence from the Audit Committee, recommending the acceptance of the 2018 
financial statements and Annual Financial Report for distribution to the public and other 
interested parties will be provided at the Monday, April 29, 2019 Council meeting.  
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DM 2437855 

 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

 
DATE: April 17, 2019   
 
TO: Red Deer City Council 
 
FROM: Audit Committee 
 
SUBJECT: Decision Letter from the April 17, 2019 Audit Committee Meeting re 

2018 Annual Financial Report 
 

 
At the April 17, 2019 meeting of the Audit Committee, the following motion was introduced and 
passed:   
 

Resolved that the Audit Committee, having considered the 2018 Annual Financial Report 
presented by Administration, hereby endorses the 2018 Annual Financial Report and forwards 
this report to Council for the April 29, 2019 Council meeting.   

 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
Councillor Tanya Handley 
Chair, Audit Committee 
 
c: Dean Krejci, Chief Financial Officer    

Michelle Andrew, Corporate Controller 
 Katie Barron, Financial Analyst 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management of The City
of Red Deer.  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements includes best estimates and judgments of management.  Financial information contained
throughout this annual report is consistent with these financial statements.

Management is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control that provides
reasonable assurance that all transactions are accurately recorded, that the financial statements
realistically report operating and financial results, and that assets are properly accounted for and
safeguarded.  As well, it is the policy of The City of Red Deer to maintain the highest standard of ethics
in all its activities.  The audit committee has approved the financial statements.

KPMG LLP, an independent firm of chartered professional accountants, was appointed by a vote of City
Council to audit the consolidated financial statements and provide an independent auditors' opinion in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

___________________

Tara Lodewyk Dean Krejci
Interim City Manager Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 2,870 $ 18,623
Accounts receivable (Note 3) 47,854 59,663
Land held for sale (Note 4) 48,718 50,190
Investments (Note 5) 216,461 169,842
Loans receivable (Note 6) 4,310 4,327

320,213 302,645
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) 37,557 44,856
Deposits 3,192 2,670
Deferred revenue (Note 8) 63,931 44,048
Employee benefit obligations (Note 9) 15,880 14,724
Landfill closure and post-closure liability (Note 10) 5,288 4,973
Long-term debt (Note 11) 275,214 274,564

401,062 385,835

Net Debt (80,849) (83,190)
Non-financial Assets

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1, Note 13) 2,062,830 2,022,765
Inventory held for consumption 8,302 9,809
Prepaid expenses 1,996 637

2,073,128 2,033,211

Accumulated Surplus (Schedule 2, Note 15) $ 1,992,279 $ 1,950,021

Contractual rights and obligations (Note 25)
Contingencies (Note 26)
Guarantees (Note 27)
Segmented disclosure (Schedule 3, Note 28)

Approved on behalf of City Council:

Tara Veer, Mayor Tanya Handley, Councillor

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

Budget
(Note 30)  2018 2017

Revenues (Schedule 3)
Net municipal taxes (Note 16) $ 131,615 $ 130,975 $ 126,701
User fees and sale of goods (Note 17) 181,143 170,279 168,674
Operating government transfers (Note 18) 13,303 13,615 15,110
Investment earnings 5,643 2,793 3,177
Fines and penalties 6,224 6,650 5,937
Franchise fees 8,873 8,418 9,225
Licenses and permits 3,259 3,624 3,249
Other operating revenue 3,930 6,977 5,255

353,990 343,331 337,328
Expenses (Schedule 3, Note 19)

General government services 44,865 43,511 36,641
Protective services and parking 79,010 77,884 76,679
Transportation and fleet 77,025 79,998 78,367
Community services 13,515 12,645 15,376
Recreation, parks, and culture 49,765 50,328 50,896
Water and wastewater 40,427 35,258 36,187
Waste management 17,432 14,064 14,642
Subdivisions, land, and development 2,282 3,198 2,277
Electric light and power 44,734 41,030 39,322

369,055 357,916 350,387

Annual Deficit before Other (15,065) (14,585) (13,059)

Other
Capital government transfers (Note 18) 23,679 32,185 28,481
Contributed tangible capital assets (Note 13) 7,497 19,325 7,325
Developer and customer contributions 3,725 5,088 6,995
Other capital revenue 138 245 956

Annual Surplus 19,974 42,258 30,698

Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year 1,950,021 1,950,021 1,919,323

Accumulated Surplus, end of year $ 1,969,995 $ 1,992,279 $ 1,950,021

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

Budget
(Note 30) 2018 2017

Annual Surplus $ 19,974 $ 42,258 $ 30,698

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (103,353) (97,585) (126,850)
Contributed tangible capital assets (7,497) (19,325) (7,325)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 4,293 1,195
Amortization of tangible capital assets 63,867 74,536 66,686
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - (1,984) (2)

(46,983) (40,065) (66,296)

Net use of inventory held for consumption - 1,507 171
Net use (acquisition) of prepaid expenses - (1,359) 3,537

- 148 3,708

Decrease (Increase) in Net Debt (27,009) 2,341 (31,890)
Net Debt, beginning of year (83,190) (83,190) (51,300)

Net Debt, end of year $ (110,199) $ (80,849) $ (83,190)

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following
activities:
Operating Activities
Annual surplus $ 42,258 $ 30,698
Non-cash items included in annual surplus:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 74,536 66,686
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (1,984) (2)
Contributed tangible capital assets (19,325) (7,325)

Non-cash charges to operations:
Accounts receivable 11,809 (19,493)
Land held for sale 1,472 (1,479)
Loans receivable 17 548
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (7,299) (703)
Deposits 522 (331)
Deferred revenue 19,883 2,772
Employee benefit obligations 1,156 600
Landfill closure and post-closure liability 315 680
Inventory held for consumption 1,507 171
Prepaid expenses (1,359) 3,537

123,508 76,359

Capital Activities
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (97,585) (126,850)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 4,293 1,195

(93,292) (125,655)

Investing Activities
Net sales of investments (46,619) 44,570

(46,619) 44,570

Financing Activities
Long-term debt issued 22,212 49,741
Long-term debt repaid (21,562) (20,447)

650 29,294

Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year (15,753) 24,568
Cash and cash equivalents (bank indebtedness),
beginning of year 18,623 (5,945)

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,870 $ 18,623

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SCHEDULE 1 - CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

For the Year Ended  December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

Land
Land

Improvements Buildings

Machinery,
Equipment,

and
Furnishings Vehicles

Engineered
Structures

Assets Under
Construction 2018 2017

Cost:
Balance, beginning of year $ 352,426 $ 107,062 $ 373,231 $ 92,433 $ 50,369 $ 1,877,097 $ 123,442 $ 2,976,060 $ 2,849,406

Acquisition and contributions of
tangible capital assets 1,013 17,045 22,863 19,499 18,045 65,955 (27,510) 116,910 134,175

Disposal of tangible capital assets - (153) (2,696) (1,700) (3,896) - - (8,445) (7,521)

Balance, end of year 353,439 123,954 393,398 110,232 64,518 1,943,052 95,932 3,084,525 2,976,060

Accumulated Amortization:
Balance, beginning of year - (46,601) (113,538) (47,479) (24,355) (721,322) - (953,295) (892,937)

Amortization of tangible capital
assets - (4,850) (10,668) (9,957) (5,197) (43,864) - (74,536) (66,686)

Accumulated amortization on
disposals - 110 2,173 1,199 2,654 - - 6,136 6,328

Balance, end of year - (51,341) (122,033) (56,237) (26,898) (765,186) - (1,021,695) (953,295)

Net book value of tangible
capital assets $ 353,439 $ 72,613 $ 271,365 $ 53,995 $ 37,620 $ 1,177,866 $ 95,932 $ 2,062,830 $ 2,022,765

2017 Net Book Value of Tangible
Capital Assets $ 352,426 $ 60,461 $ 259,693 $ 44,954 $ 26,014 $ 1,155,775 $ 123,442 $ 2,022,765

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Note 13)

City of Red Deer :  2018 Annual Financial Report Page 12

C
ity of R

ed D
eer C

ity C
ouncil R

egular M
eeting, 2019/04/29 - P

age 33 
Item

 N
o. 4.1.



SCHEDULE 2 - CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF CHANGE IN ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

Unrestricted deficit

and capital to be

financed

Reserves Equity in Tangible

Capital Assets

2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year (46,663) 220,943 1,775,741 1,950,021 1,919,323
Annual Surplus 42,258 - - 42,258 30,698
Unrestricted funds designated for future use (79,569) 79,569 - - -
Restricted funds designated for operations 38,433 (38,433) - - -
Restricted funds used for tangible capital assets - (42,142) 42,142 - -
Current year funds used for tangible capital assets (55,443) - 55,443 - -
Contributed tangible capital assets (19,325) - 19,325 - -
Disposal of tangible capital assets 2,309 - (2,309) - -
Amortization of tangible capital assets 74,536 - (74,536) - -
Long term debt related to tangible capital assets issued 22,212 - (22,212) - -
Long term debt related to tangible capital assets repaid (19,346) - 19,346 - -
Change in accumulated surplus 6,065 (1,006) 37,199 42,258 30,698
Balance, end of year (40,598) 219,937 1,812,940 1,992,279 1,950,021

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Note 15)
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SCHEDULE 3 - CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

General
government

services

Protective
services and

parking
Transportation

and fleet
Community

services

Recreation,
parks, and

culture
Water and
wastewater

Waste
management

Subdivisions,
land, and

development

Electric
light and
power Total

Revenues
Net municipal taxes $ 8,220 $ 54,395 $ 32,423 $ 5,717 $ 30,220 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 130,975

User fees and sale of goods 299 14,595 6,077 471 9,305 57,832 18,024 2,952 60,724 170,279

Operating government transfers 720 3,562 549 7,732 1,052 - - - - 13,615

Investment earnings 1,422 8 365 43 153 172 191 226 213 2,793

Fines and penalties 1,053 4,883 - - 124 350 64 - 176 6,650

Franchise fees 8,343 - - - 75 - - - - 8,418

Licenses and permits 100 3,474 28 22 - - - - - 3,624

Other operating revenue 364 2,471 (110) 1,344 1,950 159 394 393 12 6,977

20,521 83,388 39,332 15,329 42,879 58,513 18,673 3,571 61,125 343,331

Expenses 
Salaries, wages, and benefits 23,229 43,801 28,465 4,075 29,241 10,604 1,149 645 5,171 146,380

Contracted services 7,568 4,422 5,153 703 4,642 3,034 11,259 33 3,673 40,487

Materials and supplies 1,197 1,398 7,849 324 5,540 4,722 176 2,154 27,681 51,041

Purchases from other
governments - 24,661 - - - - - - - 24,661

Grants to organizations 470 - 369 7,340 2,037 - - - - 10,216

Financial charges 5,610 463 1,027 - 121 1,884 3 366 597 10,071

Amortization of tangible capital
assets 5,298 2,984 37,078 206 8,711 15,014 1,241 - 4,004 74,536

Other expenses 139 155 57 (3) 36 - 236 - (96) 524

43,511 77,884 79,998 12,645 50,328 35,258 14,064 3,198 41,030 357,916

Annual surplus (deficit)
before other (22,990) 5,504 (40,666) 2,684 (7,449) 23,255 4,609 373 20,095 (14,585)

Other
Capital government transfers 107 - 27,861 - 1,510 1,000 - - 1,707 32,185

Contributed tangible capital
assets - - 5,636 - 4,605 9,084 - - - 19,325

Developer and customer
contributions - - 1,297 - 330 1,287 - 22 2,152 5,088

Other capital revenue - - 36 - 189 20 - - - 245

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (22,883) $ 5,504 $ (5,836) $ 2,684 $ (815) $ 34,646 $ 4,609 $ 395 23,954 $ 42,258

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Note 28)
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SCHEDULE 3 - CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 (in thousands of dollars)

General
government

services

Protective
services and

parking
Transportation

and fleet
Community

services

Recreation,
parks, and

culture
Water and
wastewater

Waste
management

Subdivisions,
land, and

development

Electric
light and
power Total

Revenues
Net municipal taxes $ 5,517 $ 51,704 $ 33,555 $ 5,623 $ 30,302 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 126,701

User fees and sale of goods 365 14,557 5,943 465 9,469 54,655 17,738 8,035 57,447 168,674

Operating government transfers 973 3,472 273 9,310 1,082 - - - - 15,110

Investment earnings 1,497 - 659 55 160 134 252 105 315 3,177

Fines and penalties 1,014 4,270 - - 93 262 58 44 196 5,937

Franchise fees 9,153 - - - 72 - - - - 9,225

Licenses and permits 79 3,118 25 27 - - - - - 3,249

Other operating revenue 1,665 416 1,337 96 810 433 479 16 3 5,255

20,263 77,537 41,792 15,576 41,988 55,484 18,527 8,200 57,961 337,328

Expenses 
Salaries, wages, and benefits 21,205 43,346 28,095 4,636 29,207 10,671 1,022 501 5,331 144,014

Contracted services 7,287 4,598 5,384 878 5,335 3,628 11,703 (59) 3,626 42,380

Materials and supplies 1,120 1,765 8,755 333 4,758 5,109 71 1,574 26,009 49,494

Purchases from other
governments - 23,534 - - - - - - - 23,534

Grants to organizations 483 - 410 9,209 4,163 - - - - 14,265

Financial charges 4,839 491 1,125 - 149 2,037 3 261 603 9,508

Amortization of tangible capital
assets 2,062 2,765 34,679 221 7,429 14,567 1,196 - 3,767 66,686

Other expenses (355) 180 (81) 99 (145) 175 647 - (14) 506

36,641 76,679 78,367 15,376 50,896 36,187 14,642 2,277 39,322 350,387

Annual surplus (deficit)
before other (16,378) 858 (36,575) 200 (8,908) 19,297 3,885 5,923 18,639 (13,059)

Other
Capital government transfers 50 - 26,251 - 592 186 - - 1,402 28,481

Contributed tangible capital
assets - - 2,949 - 3,400 976 - - - 7,325

Developer and customer
contributions - - 4,986 - 421 592 - - 996 6,995

Other capital revenue - - 58 - 895 2 - 1 - 956

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (16,328) $ 858 $ (2,331) $ 200 $ (3,600) $ 21,053 $ 3,885 $ 5,924 21,037 $ 30,698

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Note 28)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 1  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements (the "financial statements") of The City of Red Deer ("The
City") are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards ("PSAS"). Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by The City are as
follows:

(a) Reporting Entity

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,
changes in reserve balances, and change in financial position of the reporting entity. This entity is
comprised of the municipal operations as well as all the organizations and committees that are
controlled and therefore, accountable to City Council for the administration of their financial affairs
and resources. They include the following:

City Municipal and Utility Operations

 General government services;

 Protective services and parking;

 Transportation and fleet;

 Community services;

 Recreation, parks, and culture; 

 Water and wastewater;

 Waste management;

 Subdivisions, land, and development; and

 Electric light and power.

Societies and Boards

 Red Deer Public Library;

 Red Deer Downtown Business Association;

 Waskasoo Environmental Education Society;

 Red Deer and District Museum Society; and

 Red Deer River Bend Golf & Recreation Society ("River Bend Golf Course").

Interdepartmental and inter-entity transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

The schedule of taxes levied includes requisitions for education and other external organizations
that are not part of the municipal reporting entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

(b) Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are
accounted for in the period in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as
they are incurred and measurable based upon receipt of goods or services and/or the legal
obligation to pay.

   i.   Net Municipal Taxes

Property tax revenue is based on market value assessments determined in accordance with the
Municipal Government Act (MGA) and tax rates established annually by City Council. Taxation
revenues are recorded at the time the tax billings are issued, except for local improvement taxes
which are recognized as revenue in the year the capital project is completed and the Local
Improvement Bylaw is approved. Assessments may change due to appeal or as a result of
adjustments made by assessors to correct errors or omissions. Gains or losses on assessment
changes or appeals are recorded as adjustments to tax revenue and tax receivables when a written
decision is received from the authorized board or a change is generated by authorized assessment
staff.

   ii.  Government Transfers

Government transfers and the associated externally restricted investment income are recorded as
deferred revenue if the terms for use of the transfer, or the terms along with The City's actions and
communications as to the use of the transfer, create a liability. These transfers are recognized as
revenue as the terms are met and, when applicable, The City complies with its communicated use
of the transfer. Government transfers without terms for the use of the transfer are recorded as
revenue when The City is eligible to receive the funds. 

   iii.  External Contributions

Funds from external parties and earnings thereon restricted by agreement or legislation are
accounted for as deferred revenue until used for the purpose specified.

Developer contributions received from third parties are recognized as revenue when the related
expenditures have been incurred. Offsite levy revenue from external developers is deferred in the
appropriate offsite deferred revenue account and recognized as revenue as The City constructs the
related offsite basins.

City of Red Deer :  2018 Annual Financial Report Page 17

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 38 Item No. 4.1.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

(c) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Where measurement uncertainty exists, the financial
statements have been prepared within reasonable limits of materiality. Actual results could differ
from those estimates and assumptions.

Significant financial statement areas requiring the use of management estimates include:

 landfill closure and post-closure liability;

 valuation of inventory;

 employee benefit obligations;

 useful life of tangible capital assets;

 accrued liabilities;

 liabilities for potential environmental obligations;

 allowance for doubtful accounts receivable; and

 fair value of contributed tangible capital assets.

(d) Financial Instruments

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost and consist of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, investments, and loans receivable. Financial assets are tested annually for
impairment. Impairment losses are recorded in the statement of operations. Any write-downs
resulting from impairment are not reversed for subsequent increases in value.

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost and include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, deposits, and long-term debt. 

   i.  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on deposits with financial institutions including
bank indebtedness and highly liquid investments with original term to maturity of three months or
less.

   ii.  Investments

Investment income is recognized as revenue in the period earned.  When required by an external
funder, investment income earned on deferred revenue is allocated to the deferred revenue
balance. Investment premiums and discounts are amortized over the term of the respective
investments. When there has been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline, the
respective investment is written down to recognize the loss. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

   iii.  Loans Receivable

Loans are classified as impaired when, in management’s opinion, there is no reasonable assurance
of the timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest. The allowance for impairment is
recorded against loans receivable. Changes in the allowance are recognized in the statement of
operations. Interest is accrued on loans receivable to the extent it is deemed collectable.

The allowance for impairment represents management’s best estimate of losses due to impaired
loans. The provision is determined based on management’s identification and evaluation of the
doubtful accounts and estimated losses that exist in the portfolio. Loan write-offs must be approved
by City Council.

(e) Land Held for Sale

Land held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost includes the
acquisition costs of the land and the improvements required to prepare the land for servicing such
as clearing, stripping, and leveling. 

(f) Requisition Over-levy and Under-levy

Over-levies and under-levies arise from the difference between the actual property tax levy made to
cover each requisition and the actual amount requisitioned.

If the actual levy exceeds the requisition, the over-levy is accrued as a liability and property tax
revenue is reduced. If the actual levy is less than the requisition amount, the under-levy is accrued
as a receivable and as property tax revenue.

Requisition tax rates in the subsequent year are adjusted for any over-levies or under-levies of the
prior year.

(g) Employee Benefit Obligations

The cost of employment benefits, pension benefits, compensated absences, and termination
benefits are recorded as an expense at the time the event giving rise to the obligation occurs.

(h) Local Improvement Charges

Construction costs associated with local improvement projects are recovered through annual tax
levies collectible from property owners for work performed by The City. Taxpayers may elect to pay
over a number of years or immediately prepay the outstanding local improvement charges.

(i) Liability for Contaminated Sites

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water, sediment, a
chemical, organic or radioactive material, or live organism that exceeds an environmental standard.
The liability is recorded net of any expected recoveries. A liability for remediation of a contaminated
site is recognized when a site is not in productive use and is management's estimate of the cost of
post-remediation including operation, maintenance, and monitoring.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

(j) Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Liability

Pursuant to the Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act, The City is required to
fund the closure of its landfill sites and provide for post-closure care of the facility. Closure and
post-closure activities include final clay cover, landscaping, as well as surface and ground water
monitoring, leachate control, and site inspection and maintenance. This requirement is being
provided for over the estimated remaining life of the landfill site based on usage.

(k) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not
intended for sale in the normal course of operations. The change in non-financial assets during the
year, together with the annual surplus, provides the Consolidated Change in Net Debt for the year.

   i.  Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly attributable
to acquisition, construction, development, or betterment of the asset. Government contributions for
the acquisition of tangible capital assets are reported as revenue and do not reduce the related
tangible capital asset costs.

The cost, less residual value of the tangible capital assets, excluding land and landfill cells, are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life as follows:

ASSET TYPE Years
Land improvements 7-50
Buildings 10-50
Machinery, equipment, and furnishings 4-40
Vehicles 8-18
Engineered structures

Roadway system 7-90
Water system 7-75
Wastewater system 7-75
Storm system 45-75
Electrical system 20-40
Fibre optics system 30

Amortization begins in the month the tangible capital asset is placed in service and ends in the
month the tangible capital asset is disposed. Tangible capital assets under construction or
development are reported as assets under construction with no amortization recorded until the
asset is available for productive use. Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions
indicate that they no longer contribute to The City's ability to provide goods and services, or when
the value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their
net book value. Net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

   ii.  Contributed Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions such as privately developed subdivisions including
water systems, sanitary systems, storm systems, roads, and landscaping are recorded at their fair
value at the date of completion and recorded as revenue on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

   iii.  Cultural and Historical Tangible Capital Assets

Works of art for display, archived municipal records, and municipal historical artifacts are not
recorded as tangible capital assets since a reasonable estimate of the future economic benefits
associated with such property cannot be made. Acquisitions of cultural and historical assets are
expensed in the period the related costs are incurred.

   iv.  Leases

Leases are classified as capital or operating leases. Leases which transfer substantially all of the
benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as capital leases. All other
leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related lease payments are charged to
expenses as incurred.

   v.  Inventory Held for Consumption

Inventories held for consumption are recorded at lower of weighted average cost and replacement
cost.

(l) Reserves

Certain amounts, as approved by City Council, are set aside in accumulated surplus for future
operating and capital purposes. Transfers to or from reserves are adjustments to the respective
fund when approved.

(m) Adoption of New Accounting Standards

The following accounting standards were adopted in 2018:

   i.  Contractual Rights

PS3380, Contractual Rights are defined as economic resources arisng from agreements that will
result in both an asset and revenue in the future. This standard was adopted on a prospective
basis. Contractual rights for 2018 are disclosed in Note 25.

   ii.  Related Party Disclosure

PS2200, Related Party Disclosure requires the disclosure of the effect of financially material
transactions between related parties, which include entities under common or shared control and
key management personnel along with their affiliations and close family members. This standard
was adopted on a prospective basis. No material transactions have occurred between The City and
its identified related parties, therefore there is no requirement to disclose those transactions in
2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

   iii.  Inter-Entity Transactions

PS3420, Inter-Entity Transactions, specifically covers how to account for and report transactions
between entities controlled by a government from both a provider and a recipient perspective.
These transactions have been eliminated on consolidation and therefore this new standard has little
impact on these financial statements.

(n) Future Accounting Pronouncements

The following summarizes upcoming changes to PSAS put forward by the Public Sector Accounting
Board ("PSAB"). In the coming years, The City will assess the impact and prepare for the adoption
of these standards. While the timing of adopting each new standard can vary, certain standards
must be adopted concurrently.

   i.  Restructuring Transactions

PS3430, Restructuring Transactions, provides guidance in accounting for transactions arising from
restructuring type transactions such as: amalgamation of entities or operations within the reporting
entity, amalgamation of local governments, annexation or boundary alterations, transfers of
operations or programs from one entity to another, and/or shared service arrangements entered
into by local governments. The net effect of restructuring transactions should be presented as
separate revenue and expense items in the Statement of Operations and sufficient detail of the
nature and financial effects on financial position and operations should be disclosed. This standard
is applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2018.

   ii.  Financial Statement Presentation

PS1201, Financial Statement Presentation, requires a new statement of re-measurement gains and
losses separate from the statement of operations. Included in this new statement are the unrealized
gains and losses arising from the re-measurement of financial instruments and items denominated
in foreign currencies, as well as the government’s proportionate share of other comprehensive
income that arises when a government includes the results of government business enterprises
and partnerships. This standard is applicable for the fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021.

   iii.  Financial Instruments

PS3450, Financial Instruments, establishes recognition, measurement, and disclosure
requirements for derivative and non-derivative financial instruments. The standard requires fair
value measurement of derivatives and equity instruments; all other financial instruments can be
measured at cost, amortized cost, or fair value at the election of the government. There is the
requirement to disclose the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments and
clarification is given for the de-recognition of financial liabilities. This standard is applicable for fiscal
years beginning on or after April 1, 2021.

   iv.  Foreign Currency Translation

PS2601, Foreign Currency Translation must be adopted in conjunction with PS3450. It requires
that monetary assets and liabilities be denominated in a foreign currency and non-monetary items
included in the fair value category that are denominated in a foreign currency, be adjusted to reflect
the exchange rates in effect at the financial statement date. Unrealized gains and losses are to be
presented in the new statement of re-measurement gains and losses. This standard is applicable
for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

   v.  Portfolio Investments

PS3041, Portfolio Investments has removed the distinction between temporary and portfolio
investments and was amended to conform to Financial Instruments, PS3450. Once PS3450 and
PS3041 are adopted, Temporary Investments PS3030 will no longer apply. This standard is
applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021.

   vi.  Asset Retirement Obligations

PS3280, Asset Retirement Obligations defines which activities would be included in a liability for
retirement of a tangible capital asset, establishes when to recognize and how to measure a liability
for asset retirement, and provides the related financial statement presentation and disclosure
requirements. This new standard will effectively replace PS3270, Solid Waste Landfill Closure and
Post-closure Liability. This standard is applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021.

   vii.  Revenue

PS3400, Revenue establishes standards on how to account for and report on revenue, specifically
in regards to revenue arising from transactions with performance obligations (exchange
transactions) and those without performance obligations (non-exchange transactions). This
standard is applicabe for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 2  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017

Cash $ 2,870 $ 18,539
Cash in investment accounts - 84

$ 2,870 $ 18,623

The City has access to an unsecured line of credit of up to $30,000 (2017 - $25,000) with an
interest rate of prime minus 0.75%, resulting in an effective rate of 3.20% (2017 - 2.45%) to cover
any bank overdraft arising from day to day cash transactions. As at December 31, 2018, there was
no amount outstanding on the line of credit overdraft (2017 - Nil).

 3  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2018 2017

Property Taxes:
   Current taxes and grants in place of taxes $ 2,855 $ 2,401
   Arrears 523 503
   Local improvement levies 3,694 3,902

7,072 6,806

General 5,209 5,807
Utilities 17,789 11,560
Government transfers 14,683 32,746
Interest on investments 780 552
Other receivables 2,457 2,332
Allowance for doubtful accounts (136) (140)

40,782 52,857

$ 47,854 $ 59,663
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 4  LAND HELD FOR SALE

2018 2017

Residential $ 1,412 $ 1,050
Industrial and commercial 4,017 4,399

Land held ready for sale 5,429 5,449

Residential 26,403 27,855
Industrial and commercial 16,886 16,886

Land held not ready for sale $ 43,289 $ 44,741

48,718 50,190

Land held ready for sale is land in a condition to be sold, marketed for sale, and reasonably
anticipated to be sold within one year. Land held not ready for sale is land held for future
development and is not reasonably anticipated to be sold within one year.

 5  INVESTMENTS

2018 2017

Cost Market Value Cost Market Value
Short-term investments $ 69,181 $ 69,452 $ 24,272 $ 24,328
Federal government 13,961 13,883 12,653 12,507
Provincial government 78,455 78,387 77,553 77,021
Municipal government 3,311 3,259 3,067 3,147
Canadian banks 40,000 38,869 39,182 39,311
Corporate 10,460 10,163 12,057 11,939
Other 1,093 1,085 1,058 1,048

$ 216,461 $ 215,098 $ 169,842 $ 169,301

Short-term investments are reasonably liquid investments held in various financial institutions,
notably Canadian Treasury Bills and Guaranteed Income Certificates. These investments have
interest rates of 0.00% to 2.81% (2017 - 0.00% to 1.65%) with maturities of generally one year or
less.

The remaining investments have interest rates of 0.50% to 6.47% (2017 - 1.00% to 10.25%) and
mature in periods from January 14, 2019 to April 12, 2054 (2017 - April 2, 2018 to June 30, 2108). 

Any declines in market value below cost are considered to be temporary and therefore no write-
downs have been recorded. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 6  LOANS RECEIVABLE

2018 2017

Central Alberta Theatre $ 12 $ 17
Red Deer Gymnastics Club - 22
Red Deer Curling Centre 45 -
Red Deer and District SPCA 701 736
2019 Canada Winter Games Host Society 3,552 3,552

$ 4,310 $ 4,327

Principal amounts due are as follows:

2019 $ 3,616
2020 66
2021 43
2022 41
2023 43

Thereafter 501
$ 4,310

(a) The City provided a loan to Central Alberta Theatre to pay for servicing and fire suppression
apparatus to meet the requirements of the Alberta Building Code. The original term of the loan was
4 years and with an interest rate of 5.33% per annum. In 2014, City Council approved an amended
loan bylaw that extended the loan term to 7 years and reduced the interest rate to 2.96%.

(b) The City had provided a loan to Red Deer Gymnastics Club for space in the Collicutt Centre.
The term of the loan was 17 years bearing interest at an initial rate of 6.00% per annum and
reduced to 3.75% effective January 2, 2012. This loan was paid in full in 2018.

(c) The City Council approved a loan to Red Deer Curling Centre to help make their facility exterior
consistent with the adjacent Servus Arena. The original loan issued in 2018 was $68, representing
50% of the Centre's share of installation costs. The loan terms are 3 equal payments of $23 due
October 1 of 2018, 2019, and 2020 and bearing 0.00% interest per annum.

(d) The City provided a loan to The Red Deer & District SPCA for the construction of a new
facility. The term of the loan is 25 years and bears interest at a rate of 3.60% per annum,
changed from 5.06% per annum upon an amended loan agreement signed in October of 2015.
The interest rate is to be reviewed every three years on the anniversary date of the original
agreement.

(e) In 2016, The City advanced funds to the 2019 Canada Winter Games Host Society (Host
Society) for capital projects related to the 2019 Canada Winter Games (Games). The entire
advance will be repaid by the end of 2019 with an interest rate of 0.00% per annum. For more
information related to the Games and the Host Society, see Note 29.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 7  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Trade $ 29,753 $ 35,917
Payroll and remittances 3,603 3,953
Goods and Services Tax 350 603
Liability for contaminated sites 2,771 2,922
Accrued interest 991 954
Other 89 507

$ 37,557 $ 44,856

The City owns properties that have undergone initial Environmental Site Assessments. Where the
site assessments identified environmental contamination, liabilities for future environmental
remediation were established.

Remediation activity for each contaminated site is as follows:

2017 Remediation
Costs

2018

Riverlands Development $ 1,272 $ 146 $ 1,126
P2 Parking Lot 450 - 450
P10 Parking Lot 1,200 5 1,195

Liability for contaminated sites $ 2,922 $ 151 $ 2,771
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 8  DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue is comprised of the funds noted below, the use of which are externally restricted
or subject to stipulations from the funders.

2017

Restricted
contributions

received
including
interest
earned

Revenue
recognized 2018

Deferred Government Transfers

Basic Municipal Transportation Grant $ 998 $ 2 $ 935 $ 65
Municipal Sustainability Initiative 14,659 32,485 14,225 32,919
Federal Gas Tax Fund 6,079 6,293 6,621 5,751
GreenTRIP - 2,015 - 2,015
Water for Life Grant 450 1,000 1,000 450
Family and Community Support Services 229 3,108 3,121 216
Outreach Support Services Initiative 2,557 3,835 3,681 2,711
Other government 343 5,873 5,866 350

25,315 54,611 35,449 44,477

Other Deferred Revenue
Recreation amenity 2,774 279 331 2,722
Developer and customer contributions 11,584 6,450 4,757 13,277
Other 4,375 5,014 5,934 3,455

18,733 11,743 11,022 19,454

$ 44,048 $ 66,354 $ 46,471 $ 63,931

The Municipal Sustainability Initiative (MSI) is made up of capital and operating components. The
capital component, in conjunction with Federal Gas Tax Fund are restricted to eligible capital
projects as approved by the Province of Alberta and scheduled for completion in future years. MSI's
operating componant makes up $650 (2017 - $701) of the amount received in 2018.

For more information on government transfers received during the year, see Note 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

2018 2017

Vacation, overtime, and earned days off $ 8,514 $ 7,577
Retiring allowance 2,609 2,439
Other employment benefits 4,757 4,708

$ 15,880 $ 14,724

(a) Vacation, Overtime, and Earned Days Off

The liability is comprised of vacation, overtime, and earned days off that employees are deferring to
future years. Employees are entitled to these benefits within the next fiscal year.

(b) Retiring Allowance

The City provides a retiring allowance to employees consisting of one day of pay for each year of
employment with The City as long as the employee has 15 years of service with The City and they
retire into the Local Authorities Pension Plan. The retiring allowance is not currently funded. An
actuarial valuation for the retiring allowance was completed by an independent actuary as at
December 31, 2018 and extrapolated to December 31, 2020. Key actuarial assumptions used in
the valuation were based on a number of assumptions about future events, which reflect
management's best estimates.

The expected discount rate of 3.40% (2017 - 3.00%) and the expected salary escalations of 2.75%
are used to determine the accrued benefit obligation. The accrued benefit obligation is $2,811
(2017 - $2,609) using projected benefit method prorated on services. The net actuarial loss of $202
(2017 - $170) is amortized on a straight line basis over 13 years starting with the year following its
determination.

(c) Other Employee Benefits

Employees accumulate sick day entitlements up to maximums set in the various union agreements
that may be used for casual or short term benefits. Employees are also eligible for Employee
Disability Support Plan (EDSP) and sick plan benefits for longer-term disability. The liability is
recorded on an accrual basis based on the most recent five-year average usage of sick time,
EDSP, and sick plan benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 10 LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE LIABILITY

The estimated total landfill liability is based on the sum of discounted future cash flows for closure
and post-closure activities for 40 years after closure using a discount rate of 2.84% (2017 - 2.94%)
and annual inflation of 1.80% (2017 - 1.59%). The reported liability is based on estimates and
assumptions with respect to events using the best information available to management. Future
events, such as changes to regulatory requirements, may result in significant changes to the
estimated total expenses and will be recognized prospectively as a change in estimate when
applicable.

The 1972 landfill site reached its full capacity and was permanently closed in 2002. It is estimated
that post-closure care will be required for a period of 40 years from the time of closure. The present
value of estimated future post-closure costs has been calculated and accrued. 

The new waste management facility commenced operation in 2001 and consists of three phases of
development. All three phases combined are estimated to provide capacity to 2050. Closure
activities will be ongoing as the landfill reaches final design elevation. Closure and post-closure
costs are based on an independent study conducted in 2012. Phase one of the landfill has an
estimated capacity of 737,412 (2017 - 778,624) cubic metres remaining, which is projected to last
until 2022 based on current growth and usage. It is estimated that post closure care will be required
for a period of 40 years from closure. The present value of estimated future closure and post
closure costs has been calculated and accrued.

The City has not designated assets for settling closure and post-closure liabilities.

The following summarizes the total net present value for the estimated costs of closure and post-
closure care:

1972 Site

2001 Site
Phase
One 2018 2017

Total estimated closure and post-closure costs 1,853 4,350 6,203 5,885

Estimated capacity used %100 %79 %79 %77

Liability recognized as of December 31, 2018 1,853 3,435 5,288 4,973

Estimated capacity remaining -% %21 %21 %23

Remaining estimated costs to be recognized $ - $ 915 $ 915 $ 912
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 11 LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is comprised of :

2018 2017

Tax-supported debt $ 145,479 $ 137,945
Self-supported debt:
   Offsites 34,142 39,697
   Utilities 62,641 61,063
   Land and other 32,952 35,859

$ 275,214 $ 274,564

Current portion of long-term debt amounts to $19,960 (2017 - $21,547).

Tax-supported debt represents the amount funded by municipal taxes. Self-supported debt
represents the amount funded through self-supported municipal operations including fleet,
subdivisions, parking, offsite levies collected from developers, wastewater, waste management,
and electric light and power. 

Principal and interest repayments are as follows:

Principal Interest Total

2019 $ 19,960 $ 9,764 $ 29,724
2020 19,018 9,103 28,121
2021 19,662 8,459 28,121
2022 18,727 7,799 26,526
2023 18,564 7,146 25,710

Thereafter 179,283 58,312 237,595

$ 275,214 $ 100,583 $ 375,797

Long-term debt consists of debentures payable to Alberta Capital Finance Authority (ACFA).

Debentures mature in annual amounts to 2048 (2017 – 2047). Interest rates on these debentures
range from 1.84% to 5.38% (2017 - 1.84% to 5.38%) per annum. The average annual interest rate
is 3.54% (2017 - 3.55%). Debenture debt is issued on the credit and security of The City at large.

During the year, a total of $22,212 (2017- $49,741) was added through new debenture borrowings
to fund capital projects. Interest expenses on long-term debt amounted to $9,824 (2017 - $9,212).
Cash payments for interest and principal were $9,786 (2017 - $9,197) and $21,562 (2017 - 20,447)
respectively.
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 12 DEBT LIMIT

Section 276(2) of the MGA requires that debt and debt limits as defined by Alberta Regulation
255/2000 for The City be disclosed as follows:

2018 2017

Total debt limit $ 522,996 $ 517,919
Total debt 275,214 274,564
Percentage used %53 %53

Total debt service limit 87,166 86,320
Total debt service 29,724 31,309
Percentage used %34 %36

The debt limit is calculated at 1.5 times revenue of The City as defined in Alberta Regulation
255/2000 and the debt service limit is calculated at 0.25 times such revenue. Incurring debt beyond
these limitations requires approval by the Minister of Municipal Affairs. These thresholds are
guidelines used by Alberta Municipal Affairs to identify municipalities that could be at financial risk if
further debt is acquired. The calculation taken alone does not represent the financial stability of The
City. Rather, the financial statements must be interpreted as a whole.

Pursuant to section 6(1) of the Regulation, The City has elected to include revenue, total debt and
debt service costs for controlled organizations in its debt limit and debt service limit calculations.
The controlled organizations that have been included are Red Deer Public Library, Red Deer
Downtown Business Association, Waskasoo Environmental Education Society, Red Deer and
District Museum Society, and River Bend Golf Course.
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 13 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2018 2017

Net book value
Land $ 353,439 $ 352,426
Land improvements 72,613 60,461
Buildings 271,365 259,693
Machinery, equipment, and furnishings 53,995 44,954
Vehicles 37,620 26,014
Engineered structures

Roadway system 414,906 412,537
Water system 208,882 206,898
Wastewater system 242,148 233,573
Storm system 215,667 211,705
Electrical system 94,902 90,033
Fibre optics system 1,361 1,029

1,966,898 1,899,323
Assets under construction 95,932 123,442

$ 2,062,830 $ 2,022,765

In 2018, $19,325 (2017 - $7,325) in land, building, and engineered structures were contributed to
The City and were recorded at their fair value at the time received. 

In 2018, $249 (2017 - $7) of works of art for display were acquired and then expensed as materials
and supplies.

For additional information, see Schedule 1 - Consolidated Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets.

 14 EQUITY IN TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2018 2017

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) $ 3,084,525 $ 2,976,060
Accumulated amortization (Schedule 1) (1,021,695) (953,295)
Long-term debt related to tangible capital assets (249,890) (247,024)

Equity in tangible capital assets (Schedule 2) $ 1,812,940 $ 1,775,741
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 15 ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Accumulated surplus consists of restricted and unrestricted amounts including operating surplus,
reserves, and equity invested in tangible capital assets.

2018 2017

Unrestricted surplus in controlled agencies $ 148 $ 170
Capital to be financed (40,746) (46,833)
Reserves

Finance a specific purpose 1,854 1,783
Capital projects - tax supported 33,133 40,743
Municipal parkland 6,922 6,984
Operating - tax supported 33,838 31,757
Debt repayment 3,155 3,816
Capital asset replacement 20,234 27,209
Land development 63,009 65,430
Parking 1,637 372
Offsite (6,257) (10,012)
Power 24,148 19,878
Water 3,873 3,373
Wastewater 18,042 12,191
Solid waste management 16,349 17,419

Total reserves (Schedule 2) 219,937 220,943
Equity in tangible capital assets (Note 14) 1,812,940 1,775,741

Accumulated surplus (Schedule 2) $ 1,992,279 $ 1,950,021

Effective in 2018, City Council approved of internal borrowing transfers of $6,000 from the power
reserve and $4,500 from the capital asset replacement reserve to temperarily cover some of the
shorfall in the offsite reserve. All internal loans have a term of 10 years and pay interest of 2.50%
per annum.
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 16 NET MUNICIPAL TAXES

Budget
(Note 30) 2018 2017

Taxation
Real property taxes $ 172,621 $ 172,068 $ 169,616
Grants in place of taxes 1,561 1,561 1,504
Local improvement levies - - (768)
Linear and other property taxes 3,286 3,286 1,681

177,468 176,915 172,033
Requisitions
Public schools 39,782 39,763 39,421
Catholic schools 5,566 5,672 5,511
Piper Creek Foundation 500 500 400
Designated industrial property 5 5 -

45,853 45,940 45,332

$ 131,615 $ 130,975 $ 126,701

 17 USER FEES AND SALE OF GOODS

Budget
(Note 30) 2018 2017

Utility user fees $ 133,765 $ 131,927 $ 125,249
Land sales 10,741 2,871 7,975
Transit revenue 5,974 5,829 5,751
Ambulance and dispatch revenue 12,166 12,184 12,260
Facility user fees 6,428 5,133 5,374
Equipment and facility rental 3,900 4,026 3,651
Electrical transmission recovery 4,320 4,320 4,320
Other 3,849 3,989 4,094

$ 181,143 $ 170,279 $ 168,674
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 18 GOVERNMENT TRANSFERS

Budget
(Note 30) 2018 2017

Operating transfers
Provincial $ 12,212 $ 12,509 $ 13,540
Federal 730 729 887
Other local 361 377 683

13,303 13,615 15,110
Capital transfers
Provincial 13,163 21,349 23,826
Federal 10,516 10,607 4,633
Other local - 229 22

23,679 32,185 28,481

$ 36,982 $ 45,800 $ 43,591

(a)  The Homelessness Partnering Strategy (HPS) is a program offered by the Government of
Canada to address local homelessness issues. It is run from April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2020. The
revenue is recognized quarterly on a claim basis submitted to the Federal Government. In 2018,
the amount claimed was $729 (2017 – $887) and has been recognized as operating government
transfers. 

(b)  In 2018, the Green Transit Incentives Program (GreenTRIP) has paired with Public Transit
Infrastructure Fund (PTIF) to support municipalities in providing sustainable public transit
alternatives. For GreenTRIP, The City recognized $6,365 (2017 - $4,468) as provincial capital
government transfers for 2018 and accrued $5,933 (2017 - $2,932) of that amount. For PTIF, The
City recognized $3,986 in federal capital government transfers for 2018 and accrued $2,023 in
government transfer receivable. 

(c)  Alberta Solicitor General and Public Security provides annual funding for supporting
municipalities with the costs of policing services. The City received $1,607 in 2018 (2017 - $1,597),
and the full amount was recognized as operating government transfers in 2018. 

(d)  Alberta Emergency Management Agency provides funding to The City under the 911 Grant
Program, which must only be used in relation to 911 call answering services. In 2018, The City
received $1,496 (2017 - $1,425) for the 911 Grant Program and recognized the entire amount in
operating government transfers for 2018.

For government transfers deferred to future years, see Note 8.

City of Red Deer :  2018 Annual Financial Report Page 36

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 57 Item No. 4.1.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

 19 EXPENSES BY OBJECT

Budget
(Note 30) 2018 2017

Salaries, wages, and benefits $ 151,694 $ 146,380 $ 144,014
Contracted services 48,937 40,487 42,380
Materials and supplies 55,102 51,041 49,494
Purchases from other governments 24,921 24,661 23,534
Grants to organizations 11,508 10,216 14,265
Financial charges 12,511 10,071 9,508
Amortization of tangible capital
assets 63,867 74,536 66,686
Other expenses 515 524 506

$ 369,055 $ 357,916 $ 350,387
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 20 SALARIES AND BENEFITS DISCLOSURE

The following City Council and executive salaries and benefits are disclosed as required by Alberta
Regulation 313/2000 of the MGA.

Salaries Benefits 2018 2017

(a) (b), (c)

Mayor:
T. Veer $ 105 $ 20 $ 125 $ 123

Councillors:
S. Buchanan 58 13 71 70
M. Dawe 60 10 70 10
T. Handley 58 13 71 70
P. Harris - - - 55
V. Higham 58 9 67 10
K. Johnston 58 13 71 70
L. Lee 64 13 77 71
L. Mulder - - - 61
F. Wong 58 9 67 66
D. Wyntjes 58 13 71 70

472 93 565 553
City Manager 419 26 445 307
Designated Officer 123 26 149 162

$ 1,119 $ 165 $ 1,284 $ 1,145

(a) Salary includes regular base pay, bonuses, overtime, lump sum payments, gross honoraria, and
any other direct cash remuneration. 

(b) Employer’s share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of
employees including pension, health care, dental coverage, group life insurance, long and short-
term disability plans, professional memberships, tuition, and car allowance. Benefits and
allowances also include supplementary employee retirement plan payments and moving and
relocation allowances.

(c) Benefits for City Councillors include accidental death and dismemberment, group life, health
care, dental coverage, registered savings plan, internet and phone allowances, transit, and Canada
Pension Plan.
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 21 LOCAL AUTHORITIES PENSION PLAN

Employees of The City participate in the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP), which is a multi-
employer plan governed by the Alberta Public Sector Pension Plans Act. The LAPP is financed by
employer and employee contributions and by investment earnings of the LAPP Fund. Contributions
for current service are recorded as expenditures in the year in which they become due. 

The City is required to make current service contributions to LAPP of 10.39% of pensionable
earnings up to the Canada Pension Plan Year's Maximum Pensionable Earnings (YMPE) and
14.84% for the excess. Employees of The City are required to make current service contributions of
9.39% to the YMPE and 13.84% thereafter.

Total current service contributions by The City to LAPP in 2018 were $12,592 (2017 - $13,498).
Total contributions by the employees of The City to LAPP in 2018 were $11,538 (2017 - $12,428).

As at December 31, 2017, LAPP reported an actuarial surplus of $4.8 million (actuarial deficit 2017
- $637 million). This amount is not specifically allocated to the participating government
organizations. The 2018 actuarial balance was not available at the date these financial statements
were released.

 22 APEX SUPPLEMENTARY PENSION PLAN

The APEX supplementary pension plan, an Alberta Urban Municipality Association (AUMA)
sponsored defined benefit pension plan covered under the provisions of the Alberta Employment
Pension Plans Act, commenced on January 1, 2003, and provides supplementary pension benefits
to a prescribed class of employees. The plan supplements the LAPP.

Contributions are made by the prescribed class of employees and The City. Employees and The
City are required to make current service contributions to APEX of 2.84% and 3.78% respectively
(2017 - 2.84%, 3.78%) of individual pensionable earnings up to $147 (2017 - $146).

Total current service contributions by The City to APEX were $543 (2017 - $551). Total current
service contributions by the employees of The City were $408 (2017 - $414).

The cost of post-retirement benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the
projected benefit method prorated on service and management’s best estimate of salary and
benefit escalation and retirement age of employees. The costs of post-retirement benefits are fully
funded.
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 23 MUNI SUPPLEMENTARY EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

Muni SERP is a supplementary employee retirement plan (SERP) defined by The City and
administered by the Alberta Municipal Services Corporation (AMSC). The plan commenced on
January 1, 2003, and provides supplementary retirement benefits to a prescribed class of
employees in excess of the limits of the Income Tax Act (Canada). The supplementary benefit
takes the form of a lump sum cash payment upon retirement or death. Muni SERP supplements
APEX and LAPP and is a voluntary, non-contributory defined benefit employee retirement plan. The
total current and past service liability to The City as at December 31, 2018 is estimated at $702
(2017 - $1,245).

A projected accrued benefit cost with prorating on service method is used to determine the accrued
benefit obligation. Key actuarial assumptions used in the valuation were based on actuarial
estimates. Those assumptions involve forecasts of expected future inflation rates, discount rates,
wage and salary increases, maximum pension limit under the Income Tax Act, and employee
turnover and mortality. Key assumptions are as follows: expected discount rate of 4.75% (2017 -
4.75%), expected salary escalations of 3.50% (2017 - 3.50%) per year, and inflation rate of 2.25%
(2017 - 2.25%).

 24 RISK MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The City's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
investments, loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, deposits, and long term
debt. It is management's opinion that The City is not exposed to significant interest or currency
risks arising from these financial instruments.

The City is subject to credit risk with respect to taxes and grants in place of tax receivables, loans
receivable, and trade and other receivables. Credit risk arises from the possibility that taxpayers
and entities to which The City provides services may experience financial difficulty and be unable to
fulfil their obligations. The large number and diversity of taxpayers and customers minimizes the
credit risk.

Unless otherwise noted, the carrying value of the financial instruments approximates fair value.
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 25 CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

As at December 31, 2018, The City had the following capital contractual rights and obligations:

Construction Contracts Commitment Amount

Infrastructure projects $ 6,458
Water and Wastewater treatment plant upgrades 5,694
Parks and facility improvements 3,250
Transit system upgrades 2,874
Commercial development 2,840
Street Improvements 2,680
North highway connector 2,492
Power substation upgrades 2,330
Fleet purchases 2,266
Roadway rehabilitation 1,169
Network and IT Upgrades 794
Subdivision development 576
City Hall Improvements 392
Central Elementary School 383
CNG Fuelling station and bus purchases 161
Other minor projects 960

$ 35,319

The City entered into various developer agreements where engineered structures will be
contributed to The City as at the date of their completion. Developer agreements in effect in 2018
that will result in future contributed assets total $1,101.

The following are The City's significant operating contractual rights and obligations:

(a)  Solid Waste and Recyclables Collection Contracts

The City's solid waste and recyclables collection contracts are based on a percentage of the utility
billing for the year and will expire in May 2019 to make way for the new green, blue, and black cart
programs. The green cart program is already in effect and expires March 31, 2023 with an option to
renew for another two years. The black and blue cart programs are set to commence May 6, 2019.
The estimated annual costs for the contracts in effect in 2018 total $7,254 (2017 - $9,546).  The
Waste Management Facility operations contract has an annual estimated cost of $2,107 (2017 -
$2,074) and an expiry date of December 31, 2020.

(b)  RCMP Contract

The City pays 90% of the operating costs for RCMP services through to March 31, 2032.  The
estimated annual contract cost for 2018 is $25,637 (2017 - $24,776).

(c) ENMAX Contract

In 2017, The City entered into a two year agreement with ENMAX Power Corporation to provide
Meter Data Management Services to The City until February 29, 2020. The estimated remaining
cost of the contract is $3,093 (2017 - $5,587).
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(d)  Red Deer College

In 2016, The City entered into a contract with Red Deer College to provide $11,500 over nine years
toward the construction of sporting facilities related to the Games. As at December 31, 2018, The
City has paid $5,500 (2017 - $4,500) of this contractual obligation.

The payment schedule is as follows:

2019 $ 1,000
2020 1,000
2021 1,000
2022 1,000
2023 1,000
2024 1,000

$ 6,000

The Host Society will provide The City with $5,000 for their portion of the contract amount in 2019.
For contractual rights and obligations related to the Games and the Host Society, see Note 29.

(e) Traffic Enforcement Program

In 2017, The City entered into a four year agreement with Conduent Business Services Canada
Inc. (formerly Xerox Business Services Canada Inc.) to provide services as they relate to the
Automated Traffic Enforcement Program until April 9, 2021. The estimated remaining cost of the
contract is $1,436 (2017 - $2,419).

(f) Lease Obligation

In 2013, The City entered into a ten year lease agreement with Gold Bar Investments Ltd. for three
floors in the Professional Building in downtown Red Deer. The annual lease amount is $2,687
(2017 - $3,304) until December 31, 2022. 

(g)  Lease Rights

The City has agreements to lease land to the Westerner Exposition Association with an expiry date
of May 1, 2059 and to the Alberta Sports Hall of Fame Museum Society with an expiry date of
November 9, 2042. At the time of expiry or lease termination, all buildings and other improvements
on these properties will be contributed to The City.
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 26 CONTINGENCIES

(a)  Environmental Contingencies

   i.  A pre-existing, non-PCB hydrocarbon plume was discovered beneath Substation 12 as a
result of an initial incident in 2009 that was remediated. A plan has been submitted to Alberta
Environment to allow The City to continue to monitor the contamination. No official response has
been received as at the date of these financial statements, therefore, no estimation for the cost
of monitoring can be made at this time.

   ii.  Subsurface contamination has been found as part of the Ross Street and Taylor Drive
project. More delineation is required by The City's geotechnical consultant. Initial reports state
that in-site remediation will be possible. The extent of the remediation requirements is still
unknown, therefore, no estimation for the cost of remediation can be made at this time.

   iii.  The Queen's Business Park - NE and SE, the current fire training grounds, the Bellevue
Reservoir, and the NE corner of 46 Street and 49 Avenue all have contamination issues. The
extent of the remediation requirements for these sites is still unknown, therefore, no estimation
for the cost of remediation can be made at this time.

   iv.  The City has had significant, ongoing transactions and agreements with an oil company that
has gone into receivership filing for protection under the Companies' Arrangement Act in 2016
Several abandoned wells and battery sites have potential contamination issues. The City may
face detriment should the Receiver fail to continue with their commitments and representations
made to The City. The extent of remediation costs as well as the potential impact on The City's
financial position is still unknown as at the date of these financial statements.

   v.  The City received notification that high levels of contamination had been found on a
landowner's property adjacent to City land previously used for rail operations. The City is
performing additional tests to determine the extent of the contamination and cost of remediation
if necessary. No estimation for the cost of remediation can be made at this time.

(b)  Land Expropriation Compensation

In 2009, The City acquired land under the Expropriation Act from several property owners in
connection with various road development projects. Seven property owners have since filed with
the Alberta Land Compensation Board for compensation to which they believe they are entitled.  At
this time, The City cannot determine the amount or the likelihood of the remaining compensation in
these cases, therefore, no liability has been accrued in these financial statements.

(c) Active Lawsuits

During 2018, there were various legal claims pending against The City, arising in the ordinary
course of its operations. The City defends all claims made against it, but the outcome of these
cases is presently indeterminable. At this time, The City cannot estimate the financial impact of
these cases and therefore, no liability has been accrued in these financial statements.
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 27 GUARANTEES

The City has issued an irrevocable standby letter of credit for $5,800 (2017 - $5,500) as required by
its supplier, The Alberta Electric System Operator, in the event of payment default for electrical
distribution charges. The letter of credit has not been utilized to date. 

The City has issued two irrevocable standby letters of credit for $584 and $884 to the Receiver
General of Canada on behalf of Fisheries and Oceans Canada. The letter of credit is for two
separate projects in waterways in The City to guarantee work completion and quality. The letters
have not been utilized to date. 

For guarantees related to the Games and the Host Society, see Note 29.

 28 SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE

The City is a diversified municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its citizens.
For management reporting purposes, The City’s operations and activities are organized and
reported by functions and services provided. For each reported segment, revenues and expenses
represent amounts that are directly attributable to the segments and amounts that are allocated on
a reasonable basis. Investment earnings are allocated to each segment based on an average of
fund balances. Net tax revenue is allocated to each tax-supported segment based on the budgeted
expenditures in those segments.

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements as disclosed in Note 1. For additional
information, see Schedule 3 - Consolidated Schedule of Segmented Disclosure.

Certain functions that have been disclosed in the segmented information, along with the services
provided, are as follows:

(a)  General Government Services

This category of functions is used to report activities that provide for the overall operation of The
City, which are common to, or affect all of the services provided by The City, including Council and
legislative, general administration, property assessment, taxation administration, licensing,
elections, and municipal census.

(b)  Protective Services and Parking

This category of functions is used to report activities that provide for the public safety of the
inhabitants of The City, including police, bylaw enforcement, and disaster management services as
well as fire, ambulance, and parking authority.

(c)  Transportation and Fleet

This category of functions is used to report activities related to public transportation, including roads
and streets, public transit, storm sewers and drainage, and the equipment pool.

(d)  Community Services

This function is used to report activities related to the development and management of social
issues in the community, including public housing, research, and addressing at-risk group needs.
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(e)  Recreation, Parks, and Culture

This function is used to report activities related to providing recreational and cultural opportunities
to the community.

(f)  Water and Wastewater

These functions report activities related to acquiring, treating, and supplying water as well as
collection or removal and treatment and disposal of sanitary sewage.

(g)  Waste Management

This function is used to report activities related to the collection of recyclables, garbage, and other
waste material, the maintenance and operation of sanitary landfill sites, and management of solid
waste landfill closure and post-closure.

(h)  Subdivisions, Land, and Development

This function is used to report activities related to the development of land and infrastructure for
use by The City or for resale.

(i)  Electric Light and Power

This function is used to report activities related to the operation and maintenance of electric
transmission and distribution facilities and delivery of power. 

29  DISCLOSURE SUMMARY FOR THE 2019 CANADA WINTER GAMES

The City was selected by the Canada Winter Games Council as Host City for the 2019 Canada
Winter Games (Games). This commitment includes capital and operating components from 2014
through to 2019. The Host Society was formed in 2015 to manage and deliver the Games. The City
has entered into an agreement with the Host Society, signed March 2017 and amended March
2018 and December 2018, that outlines the roles and responsibilities of the two parties and the
transactions between them.

The agreement is summarized as follows:

(b) Contribution from the Host Society

The Host Society has committed to contribute $9,552 to The City to fund various capital projects
related to the Games. The funding is allocated as follows:

Capital Project Allocation Amount

Red Deer College (Note 25) $ 5,000
Great Chief Park 3,000
Canyon Ski Resort 558
River Bend Golf Course 426
Other 568

9,552

The City received $3,000 to date from the Host Society for Great Chief Park. The remainder will be
received in separate instalments: $2,600 on April 1, 2019 and $3,952 on December 31, 2019.
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(c)  Contribution to the Games

The City has committed to a contribution of $5,923 toward various capital projects related to the
Games on the Host Society's behalf. As at December 31, 2018, $3,552 (2017 - $3,552) remains on
this commitment.  

(d) Loan to Host Society

In 2016, The City advanced $5,355 to the Host Society in which a loan receivable was established.
As at December 31, 2018, the ending balance of this loan was $3,552 (2017 - $3,552) and will be
received in full by December 31, 2019. See Note 6.

(e) Value in Kind

The City has agreed to provide value in kind up to $2,000 for the Games through its operations. In
2018, $157 (2017 - $114) worth of administrative support services was provided to the Host
Society.  As at December 31, 2018, $1,675 (2017 - $1,832) remains on this commitment. 

(f)  Games Plaza

In 2016, The City has contributed $1,000 to the Host Society toward the construction of a
permanent Games Plaza. The plaza will become property of The City upon the Plaza's completion
in 2019. The estimated value of the contributed asset to be contributed at that time will be $2,600.

(g) Guarantee

In 2014, The City signed an Agreement to Undertake with the Canada Games Council, which The
City has agreed to assume responsibility for the financial deficit, if any, associated with the
operating and capital expenses incurred by the Host Society. It is management's assessment that
the risk of significant loss to The City is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

30  BUDGET

The reported budget information has been derived from the capital cash flow budget and the
operating budget approved by Council on September 4, 2018. These budgets do not include
subsequent amendments by Council, internal fund transfers, debt issuance and repayment, and
other internal recoveries. The table below reconciles The City's final budget to the reported budget
presented in the financial statements.

Operating Capital Total

Reported budget surplus (deficit) $ (15,065) $ 35,039 $ 19,974
   Contributed tangible capital assets 7,497 (7,497) -
   Net amendments (1,907) - (1,907)
Final budget surplus (deficit) before funding
transfers

(9,475) 27,542 18,067

Add (less) funding transfers:
   Net transfers between capital and operating (22,241) 927 (21,314)
   Net reserve transfers (4,627) 53,447 48,820
   Internal recoveries from capital 3,201 - 3,201
   Tangible capital asset transfers 56,371 - 56,371
   Long term debt repaid (23,229) - (23,229)
   Long term debt issued - 21,437 21,437
Final budget surplus $ - $ 103,353 $ 103,353

31  COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

The financial statements have been reclassified, where applicable, to conform to the presentation
used in the current year. The changes do not affect prior year annual surplus.

32  APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

City Council has approved these financial statements on April 29, 2019.
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GENERAL MUNICIPAL DATA - UNAUDITED

(2014-2018) (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Population 99,832 99,832 99,832 100,807 98,585

Assessed valuation $ 15,724,614 $ 15,756,231 $ 15,987,628 $ 15,666,694 $ 14,882,334

Per capita assessed valuation $ 158 $ 158 $ 160 $ 155 $ 151

Mill rates (commercial)

Municipal 13.7448 13.4570 13.1457 12.6665 12.2177

Education Foundation 3.8047 3.7298 3.6836 3.6200 3.5416

Piper Creek Foundation 0.0321 0.0256 0.0273 0.0107 0.0079

17.5816 17.2124 16.8566 16.2972 15.7672

Taxes paid by the largest single

  taxpayer $ 3,275 $ 3,177 $ 3,146 $ 3,059 $ 2,942

Percent of taxes %1.84 %1.83 %1.86 %1.89 %1.93

Property taxes

Current levy $ 178,423 $ 174,065 $ 169,570 $ 162,199 $ 152,819

Current collected $ 176,315 $ 172,017 $ 167,917 $ 160,628 $ 152,661

Percent of current levy %99 %99 %99 %99 %100

Gross tax collections $ 178,491 $ 173,924 $ 170,524 $ 161,702 $ 153,780

Taxes outstanding $ 2,676 $ 2,335 $ 1,954 $ 2,255 $ 2,198

No municipal census was conducted in the last two years. The 2016 census results are being used for 2016-2018 statistical information.

City of Red Deer :  2018 Annual Financial Report Page 49

C
ity of R

ed D
eer C

ity C
ouncil R

egular M
eeting, 2019/04/29 - P

age 70 
Item

 N
o. 4.1.



CAPITAL FUND ACTIVITIES - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Capital expenditure by segment:

General government services $ 3,077 $ 3,873 $ 4,046 $ 4,102 $ 2,420
Protective services and parking 2,167 5,339 13,704 1,814 1,036
Transportation and fleet 37,285 46,618 63,943 51,235 46,772
Water and wastewater 16,820 14,681 15,649 30,897 39,474
Waste management 3,373 1,095 1,632 2,576 164
Community services 131 - (4) 289 162
Subdivisions, land, and development 3,390 6,374 2,741 13,045 13,722
Recreation, parks, and culture 20,708 36,330 16,065 6,334 6,855
Electric light and power 9,390 10,688 9,430 19,427 11,537

Total Capital Spending $ 96,341 $ 124,998 $ 127,206 $ 129,719 $ 122,142

Financing Sources Applied:

Developer contributions 5,088 6,995 6,442 8,777 10,015
Government transfers 32,185 28,481 50,218 44,179 38,120
Other capital revenue 848 2,094 3,458 891 1,172
Debt issued 24,427 45,852 26,664 10,000 27,247
From (to) operating (2,262) 1,808 (2,222) (635) 7,678
From (to) reserves 42,142 30,636 20,809 50,680 44,879

Total Funding 102,428 115,866 105,369 113,892 129,111

Increase (decrease) in fund balance 6,087 (9,132) (21,837) (15,827) 6,969
Capital fund balance,  beginning of
year (46,833) (37,701) (15,864) (37) (7,006)

Capital fund balance, end of year $ (40,746) $ (46,833) $ (37,701) $ (15,864) $ (37)

In 2018 and 2017, comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 
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CONSOLIDATED REVENUE BY SOURCE - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Operating Revenue:

Net municipal taxes $ 130,975 $ 126,701 $ 124,346 $ 123,923 $ 112,537
User fees and sale of goods 170,279 168,674 161,388 161,889 172,911
Operating government transfers 13,615 15,110 19,198 12,301 11,061
Investment earnings 2,793 3,177 6,981 4,893 5,151
Fines and penalties 6,650 5,937 6,148 5,928 5,870
Franchise fees 8,418 9,225 7,848 7,394 7,441
Licenses and permits 3,624 3,249 3,558 3,283 3,690
Other operating revenue 6,977 5,255 5,935 4,092 5,521

Total Operating Revenue 343,331 337,328 335,402 323,703 324,182
Capital Revenue:

Capital government transfers 32,185 28,481 50,218 44,179 38,120
Contributed tangible capital assets 19,325 7,325 7,330 9,389 34,284
Other capital contributions 5,333 7,951 9,301 9,108 10,406

Consolidated Revenue $ 400,174 $ 381,085 $ 402,251 $ 386,379 $ 406,992
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CONSOLIDATED OPERATING EXPENSES BY FUNCTION - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Operating Expenses:

General government services $ 43,511 $ 36,641 $ 37,545 $ 34,146 $ 33,260
Protective services and parking 77,884 76,679 74,421 66,949 65,796
Transportation and fleet 79,998 78,367 85,706 76,805 73,741
Community services 12,645 15,376 13,572 11,504 11,401
Recreation, parks, and culture 50,328 50,896 51,924 46,892 45,074
Water and wastewater 35,258 36,187 34,542 31,710 29,979
Waste management 14,064 14,642 14,524 13,991 12,410
Subdivisions, land, and development 3,198 2,277 2,534 2,023 11,640
Electric light and power 41,030 39,322 35,884 34,048 32,933

Total operating expenses
$ 357,916 $ 350,387 $ 350,652 $ 318,068 $ 316,234

In 2018, comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 
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CONSOLIDATED EXPENSES BY OBJECT - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Operating Expenses:

Salaries, wages, and benefits $ 146,380 $ 144,014 $ 141,093 $ 133,027 $ 127,294
Contracted services 40,487 42,380 41,998 41,084 44,533
Materials and supplies 51,041 49,494 48,784 47,996 52,135
Purchases from other governments 24,661 23,534 23,217 18,754 18,869
Grants to organizations 10,216 14,265 20,970 8,687 8,955
Financial charges 10,071 9,508 9,317 9,130 9,037
Amortization of tangible capital assets 74,536 66,686 63,758 58,576 53,809
Other expenses 524 506 1,515 814 1,602

Total operating expenses
$ 357,916 $ 350,387 $ 350,652 $ 318,068 $ 316,234
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANNUAL SURPLUS - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Financial assets $ 320,213 $ 302,645 $ 308,168 $ 328,313 $ 342,988

Liabilities 401,062 385,835 359,468 357,745 358,589

Net debt (80,849) (83,190) (51,300) (29,432) (15,601)

Non-financial assets 2,073,128 2,033,211 1,970,623 1,897,156 1,815,014

Accumulated surplus 1,992,279 1,950,021 1,919,323 1,867,724 1,799,413

Annual surplus $ 42,258 $ 30,698 $ 51,599 $ 68,311 $ 90,758

Land held not ready for sale had been reclassified from non-financial assets to financial assets in 2016. Comparative information has been reclassified to
conform to the current year's presentation.

CONSOLIDATED ACCUMULATED SURPLUS - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Unrestricted deficits in controlled
agencies 148 170 10,979 20,168 (135)

Capital to be financed $ (40,746) $ (46,833) $ (37,701) $ (15,864) $ (37)

Reserves 219,937 220,943 222,260 210,830 215,273

Equity in tangible capital assets 1,812,940 1,775,741 1,723,785 1,652,590 1,584,312

Total $ 1,992,279 $ 1,950,021 $ 1,919,323 $ 1,867,724 $ 1,799,413

In 2018 and 2017, long term debt not used to purchase tangible capital assets has been reclassified from equity in tangible capital assets to capital to be
financed. Comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 
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CONSOLIDATED RESERVES - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Finance a specific purpose $ 1,854 $ 1,783 $ 2,388 $ 2,287 $ 2,211

Capital projects - tax supported 33,133 40,743 41,060 31,589 25,033

Municipal parkland 6,922 6,984 6,710 6,464 5,450

Operating - tax supported 33,838 31,757 33,454 33,294 24,441

Debt repayment 3,155 3,816 2,471 4,718 12,642

Tax-supported reserves 78,902 85,083 86,083 78,352 69,777

Capital asset replacement 20,234 27,209 36,317 31,356 27,499

Land development 63,009 65,430 54,447 48,593 50,363

Parking 1,637 372 158 663 1,369

Offsite (6,257) (10,012) (2,068) 7,947 12,659

Self-supported reserves 78,623 82,999 88,854 88,559 91,890

Power 24,148 19,878 17,997 16,885 21,534

Water 3,873 3,373 3,383 7,858 9,385

Wastewater 18,042 12,191 8,949 3,001 6,169

Solid waste management 16,349 17,419 16,994 16,175 16,518

Utility-supported reserves 62,412 52,861 47,323 43,919 53,606

Total reserves $ 219,937 $ 220,943 $ 222,260 $ 210,830 $ 215,273

In 2014, City Council approved a reserve consolidation for tax-supported and self-supported operations. Comparative information has been reclassified to conform
to the current year's presentation. 
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LONG-TERM DEBT ISSUED BY FUNCTION - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Protective services and
parking

$ - $ 1,082 $ 15,030 $ - $ -

Transportation and fleet 1,500 8,042 9,500 3,000 4,968

Recreation, parks, and
culture

10,235 33,482 895 11,500 -

Water and wastewater 4,971 1,565 - 3,800 14,579

Subdivisions, land, and
development

- 5,570 4,600 11,990 -

Electric light and power 5,506 - - - 8,000

Total $ 22,212 $ 49,741 $ 30,025 $ 30,290 $ 27,547

In 2016, comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 

LONG-TERM DEBT - UNAUDITED

2014-2018 (in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Tax-supported debt $ 145,479 $ 137,945 $ 107,041 $ 84,043 $ 67,434

Self-supported debt 129,735 136,619 138,228 149,835 152,744

Total long-term debt 275,214 274,564 245,269 233,878 220,178

Population 99,832 99,832 99,832 100,807 98,585

Long-term debt per capita 2,757 2,750 2,457 2,320 2,233

Debt limit per regulation 522,996 517,919 517,055 499,217 501,882

Debt limit unused 247,782 243,355 271,786 265,339 281,704

Percentage of debt limit used %53 %53 %47 %47 %44

Service on debt limit 87,166 86,320 86,176 83,203 83,647

Service on existing debt 29,724 31,309 29,223 27,536 25,233

Service on debt limit unused 57,442 55,011 56,953 55,667 58,414
Percentage of service on
debt limit used %34 %36 %34 %33 %30

Percentage of expenses %8 %9 %8 %9 %8
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Executive summary 
Purpose of this report* 

The purpose of this Audit Findings Report is to assist you, as a member of the Audit 
Committee, in your review of the results of our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of The City of Red Deer as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

This Audit Findings Report builds on the Audit Plan we presented to the Audit Committee on 
November 5, 2018. 

Changes from the Audit Plan 

There have been no significant changes regarding our audit from the Audit Planning Report 
previously presented to you. 

Areas of audit focus 

We discussed with you at the start of the audit a number of areas of audit focus including: 

Recognition of revenue amounts subject to external restrictions; 
Completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities; 
Accuracy and valuation of investments; 
Existence and accuracy of capital expenditures against planned capital projects; and 
Risk of management override of controls. 
These areas of audit focus have been addressed in our audit. 
See pages 4 - 6. 

Critical accounting estimates 

Overall, we are satisfied with the reasonability of critical accounting estimates subject to 
uncertainty as described in note 1c) to the consolidated financial statements. 

See pages 7 - 8. 
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Executive summary 
Adjustments and differences 

During our audit, we identified differences that remain uncorrected and adjustments that were 
communicated to management and subsequently corrected in the financial statements. Refer 
to page 12 - 13 and Appendix 1b for adjustments.  

Control and other observations 

We did not identify any control deficiencies that we determined to be significant deficiencies 
in internal control over financial reporting. We have provided recommendations for other 
observations.  Please refer to pages 14 – 16. 

Independence 

We confirm that we are independent with respect to the City (and its related entities), within 
the meaning of the relevant rules and related interpretations prescribed by the relevant 
professional bodies in Canada and any other standards or applicable legislation or regulation. 

We confirm that we have extensive quality control processes in place, and that we have 
provided complete transparency on all services, and followed the Audit Committee’s approved 
protocols. 

Significant accounting policies and practices 

There have been three new significant accounting policies that have been adopted by the City 
of Red Deer that have been disclosed in note 1(m) to the consolidated financial statements: 

PS 3380 – Contractual Rights 

PS 3420 – Inter-Entity Transactions 

PS 2200 – Related Party Disclosure 

Refer to page 10 for further details over these new accounting policies.  

As well, future accounting pronouncements applicable to the City have been disclosed in note 
1(n) to the consolidated financial statements.    
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Executive summary 
Finalizing the Audit 

As of April 17, 2019, we have completed the audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
with the exception of certain remaining procedures, which include amongst others: 

• Receipt and analysis of certain agency auditor reporting packages;
• Receipt and analysis of legal letter responses from external and in-house legal counsel;
• Review of the final financial statements;
• Obtaining a signed management representation letter;
• Completing our discussions with Mayor and Council;
• Obtaining evidence of Council’s approval of the financial statements;
• Obtaining information on any subsequent events to the date of the auditors’ report; and
• Obtaining and reviewing the annual report and any other publications containing the

consolidated financial statements.

We will update the Audit Committee, and not solely the Chair (as required by professional 
standards), on significant matters, if any, arising from the completion of the audit, including the 
completion of the above procedures. Our auditors’ report will be dated upon the completion of 
any remaining procedures. 

We will also separately report on the following: 

• City of Red Deer Municipal Financial Information Return (FIR) which is prepared to
comply with Section 277 of the Municipal Government Act R.S.A. 2000, c.M-26, as
amended (December 31, 2018);

• City of Red Deer Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP) compliance with the Management
Employees Pension e-guide (December 31, 2018);

• City of Red Deer APEX Supplementary Pension Plan compliance (December 31, 2018);

• Family and Child Support Services (FCSS) grant schedule (December 31, 2018);

• Homelessness Partnering Strategy (HPS) statement of funding and expenditures as
required under the Homeless Partnering Strategy Contribution Agreement – Community
Entity Model Amendment (March 31, 2019); and

• Outreach and Support Services Initiative (OSSI) statement of funding and expenditures as
required under the Outreach and Support Services Initiative Conditional Grant Funding
Agreement (March 31, 2019).

*This Audit Findings Report should not be used for any other purpose or by anyone other than the Council. KPMG shall 
have no responsibility or liability for loss or damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this Audit Findings 
Report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, and should not be used by, any third party or for any other 
purpose.
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Audit risks and results 
We highlight our findings in respect of areas of audit focus as identified in our discussion with you in the Audit Plan. 

Area of audit focus Why? 

Recognition of revenue amounts subject to external restrictions There may be inappropriate revenue recognition of amounts 
received with external restrictions attached to them (government 
transfers and other amounts).  

Our response and findings 

We inspected the recognition of amounts subject to external restrictions to assess whether they had been recognized appropriately. 
We confirmed all significant government transfers and examined related agreements. 
We inspected capital grant agreements and related expenditures and ensured the funds are appropriately recognized against specific 
capital projects. 
During the audit, we were informed by management of an item related to funding from a 2013 local improvement project that had 
been incorrectly funded through a government grant.  Management corrected this item in the current year.  Refer to “uncorrected 
differences” on page 13. 
We did not identify any other significant differences in our testing and have no further audit findings to report. 
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Audit risks and results 
Area of audit focus Why? 

Completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities There is a risk that inappropriate cut-off of accrued liabilities may 
occur.  

Accuracy and valuation of investments There is a risk that investments are not appropriately valued; 
specifically that impairment is not assessed and recorded where 
appropriate.  

Existence and accuracy of capital expenditures against planned 
capital projects  

There is a risk that capital expenditures are not appropriately 
recorded in the financial statements and are not appropriately 
applied against the planned capital projects.  

Our response and findings 

Completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
— We used our understanding of the City’s operations, discussions with management and our inspection of Council minutes to

assess if the completeness of accruals has been achieved as at December 31, 2018. 
— We completed a search for unrecorded liabilities (through review of unprocessed transactions and payments subsequent to year-

end) and performed an analysis of key accruals. 
— In their year-end review process, management informed us of three invoices for which an accrual was not made.

Management has chosen not to correct this citing they are not material.  We concur with management’s assessment; however, we 
have included them within our schedule of “uncorrected differences” on page 13. 

— We did not identify any significant inconsistencies in the way that accounts payable and accrued liabilities were recorded and are
satisfied that the City is accruing costs in the appropriate period. 

Accuracy and valuation of investments 
— We obtained third-party confirmations for the cost and market value of all investments, and agreed the confirmations to the

financial record and financial statements. 
— We noted that as at December 31, 2018, investments that were purchased at a premium or discount were not being recorded at

amortized cost. Investment premiums and discounts are required to be amortized over the term of the respective investments, 
which is the City’s policy and consistent with PSAS. Management has quantified the error and it remains uncorrected as at the 
2018 year-end. Refer to page 13 for the effect of the uncorrected misstatements.  
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Audit risks and results 
Our response and significant findings (continued) 

— We noted several investments had a market value that was lower than their carrying value. Investments are required to be written
down if there is an other-than-temporary decline in value. Management determined that a write-down was not required due to 
the intention that these investments will be held to maturity and the decline is expected to be temporary. We concur with 
management’s assessment.  

— We did not note any other errors or issues in our testing and have no further audit findings to report.

Existence and accuracy of capital expenditures against planned capital projects 
— We inspected a sample of capital expenditures during the testing of tangible capital assets to determine if they were appropriately

applied against the specific capital projects and did not note any significant differences between expenditures against the planned 
capital projects.  

— We performed project reviews for select projects with the City’s project managers to evaluate the assessment of the project’s
status at year end and any remaining commitments. 

— As a result of our audit procedures, we identified three projects that had been completed and put into use in 2018 but were still
included in Assets under Construction (AUC): 
— Construction costs of $2.6M related to the Biogas Co-generator, which was substantially completed in October 2018, were

still included in AUC; 
— LED street light conversion project costs were identified as having been substantially completed and in use in 2018.

Retrofitting of the street lights began in 2016; however, street light conversions with project costs of $4.4M that 
were completed were also still included in AUC; and   

— Lastly, the construction of the ice oval facility at Great Chief Park was substantially completed in 2018 but the costs of $9.2M
had not been moved out of AUC.  

— Management has appropriately corrected all three of the above by reclassifying each of the above assets to the appropriate asset
class; however, as each asset was completed prior to the year-end date, the related amortization expense should have been 
recorded.  As the amortization expense did not have a material impact, it was not corrected. Please refer to the “corrected 
differences” in the management representation letter in Appendix 1b. 

— Through our work on depreciation expense and discussions with management, we noted that certain assets were inappropriately
moved out of AUC during the year resulting in an overstatement of depreciation expense for the year of $1.2M. Please refer to the 
“corrected differences” in the management representation letter in Appendix 1b. 

— Through discussions with management, we noted that an asset management system that had been in use since 2011 had been
sitting in AUC in 2018. This was noted and corrected by management. However, the cumulative depreciation expense for 2011 – 
2018 was booked in 2018.  This has resulted in an overstatement of depreciation expenses in 2018 by $2.3M. Please refer to the 
“uncorrected differences” on page 13 and “other observations” on page 15. 
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Critical accounting estimates 
  Under PSAS (PSAS 2130.05), management is required to disclose information in the consolidated financial statements about the 

assumptions it makes about the future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a 
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Generally, 
these are considered to be “critical accounting estimates.” 

We have summarized our assessment of the subjective areas. 

 
 Asset / liability Balance ($’000s) 

  
  

  — Landfill closure and post-closure liability  
— Valuation of inventory  
— Employee benefit obligations  
— Useful life of tangible capital assets  
— Accrued liabilities  
— Carrying value of investments  
— Liabilities for contaminated sites  
— Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable and loans receivable  
— Fair value of contributed assets  
 

— $5,288 (2017 - $4,973)  
— $nil (2017 - $nil)  
— $15,880 (2017 - $14,724)  
— NBV $2,061,958 (2017 - $2,022,765)  
— $12,255 (2017 - $13,502)  
— $216,461 (2017 - $169,842)  
— $2,771 (2017 - $2,922)  
— $136 (2017 - $140)  
— $19,325 (2017 - $7,325)  

 
 

 KPMG comment 

  
 

  — Landfill closure and post-closure liability: The City obtains information from various consulting parties who specialize in landfill 
closure and post-closure issues when determining the amount of the obligation. There have been no significant changes in how 
the obligations are estimated year over year.  

— Valuation of inventory:  The City records an allowance for any obsolete inventory meeting the criteria necessary for a write down 
to be recorded. There have been no significant changes in how the allowance is determined. 

— Employee benefit obligations: The City relies on an actuary to determine the future employee benefit obligation. The City provides 
the necessary data to the actuary to determine an appropriate future obligation for the City to record which we have agreed to 
note 9 to the financial statements. There have been no changes to the method used to estimate employee benefits obligations 
from the prior year. 
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Critical accounting estimates (continued) 
KPMG comment 

— Useful life of tangible capital assets: The City estimates the useful life of tangible capital assets and reviews the amortization
policy on a regular basis. The City reviews tangible capital assets for impairment on an annual basis. There have been no 
changes to the manner in which this estimate is determined.  

— Accrued liabilities: The City estimates its unsettled obligations as at December 31. There has been no change in the method the
City uses to assess its accrued liabilities from the prior year. 

— Carrying value of investments: The City reviews the ratings on the City’s investments on an annual basis, and corresponds with
the City’s investment managers regularly in order to identify any impairment. There have been no changes to the method used 
from the prior year. A deviation from the City’s policy of recording investments at amortized cost was noted. Please see 
“Adjustments and differences” for the impact of this deviation.  

— Liabilities for contaminated sites: The City monitors various sites with environmental issues and obtains information from various
consulting parties who specialize in determining extent of the contamination and extent and estimates for future remediation 
costs. There have been no significant changes in the current year. 

— Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable and loans receivable: The City estimates allowances for doubtful accounts receivable
and loans receivable based on historical collections and examination of aged balances that are greater than 90 days past due. 
There have been no changes in the manner in which this estimate is determined.  

— Fair value of contributed assets: The City typically relies on the value of the contributed asset as outlined on the Construction
Completion Certificate which is signed by the developer. Contributed land is determined by an ascribed value as indicated on 
a signed land title certificate. There have been no changes in the manner in which the estimate is determined.  

We consider management’s process for identifying critical accounting estimates to be adequate. 
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Technology in the audit 
 
 

As previously communicated in our Audit Planning Report, we have utilized technology to enhance the quality 
and effectiveness of the audit. 

 
Areas of the audit where Technology was used 

  Tool Our results and insights 

KPMG Clara Client 
Collaboration 

This was the second year we utilized the KPMG Clara Client Collaboration site. Using the KPMG Clara collaboration site allows for both 
management and the audit team to have a full access of all items requested and provided which reduces or eliminates any repeat 
requests of information.  
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Significant accounting policies and practices 
 
 

 Initial selections 

  

The following new significant accounting policies and practices were selected and applied during the period: 

PS2200 Related Party Disclosures 

PS2200 defines a related party and establishes disclosures required for related party transactions. Related parties include key management personnel and close 
family members, through their relationship with the key management personnel, as they have the ability to influence and impact the City’s policies, operations and 
strategic decisions. 

Through discussion with management, key management personnel of the City have been identified as the Mayor, City Councillors, City Manager and Deputy City 
Managers for the purpose of this reporting. An external entity becomes a related party to the City when the key management personnel and/or their close family 
member have the ability to influence and impact the policies, operations and strategic decisions of the external entities. 

For the year ended December 31, 2018 there were no material transactions to disclose that occurred between related parties at a value other than or terms different 
from that which would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated. 

PS3380 Contractual Rights 

Defines and establishes disclosure standards on contractual rights. 

Contractual rights are rights of the City to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result in both assets and revenues in the future when the 
terms of those contracts or agreements are met. 

Through discussion with management, and audit procedures performed over the disclosure, it has been determined that the significant contractual rights of the City 
include future government transfers and lease revenues. Management included disclosure over contractual rights in Note 25 of the consolidated financial statements. 

PS3420 Inter-Entity Transactions 

This standard provides how to account for and report transactions between entities controlled by a government and that comprise the government’s reporting entity 
from both a provider and a recipient perspective.  
 
Through discussion with management, since the majority of these types of transactions are eliminated on consolidation, there was not a material impact on the 
adoption of this standard. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2018, as a result of the adoption of this standard, there was a minor change to note 1 a) to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

  

C
ity of R

ed D
eer C

ity C
ouncil R

egular M
eeting, 2019/04/29 - P

age 90 
Item

 N
o. 4.1.



KPMG Audit Findings Report |   11 

Financial statement presentation and disclosure 
The presentation and disclosure of the financial statements are, in all material respects, in accordance with the City’s 
relevant financial reporting framework. Misstatements, including omissions, if any, related to disclosure or presentation 
items are in the management representation letter. 
We also highlight the following: 

Form, arrangement, and 
content of the financial 
statements 

Application of accounting 
pronouncements issued 
but not yet effective 

We provided management with our comments on the City’s preliminary draft consolidated 
financial statements, particularly with respect to manually prepared notes such as the salaries 
and benefits disclosure. Management has taken our comments into consideration. We have no 
significant concerns with respect to the form, arrangement, and content of the final draft 
consolidated financial statements.  

Forthcoming standards were included in Appendix 4 of the Audit Plan we presented to you.  We 
have no concerns at this time regarding future implementation. 
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Adjustments and differences 
Adjustments and differences identified during the audit have been categorized as “Corrected adjustments” or 
“Uncorrected differences”. These include disclosure adjustments and differences. 
Professional standards require that we request of management and the audit committee that all identified adjustments or 
differences be corrected. We have already made this request of management. 

 Corrected adjustments 

The management representation letter in Appendix 1b includes all adjustments identified as a result of the audit, communicated to management and 
subsequently corrected in the consolidated financial statements. 

Uncorrected differences 

The management representation letter includes the Summary of Uncorrected Audit Misstatements, which disclose the impact of all uncorrected differences 
considered to be other than clearly trivial. 
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Adjustments and differences 
Based on both qualitative and quantitative considerations, management have decided not to correct certain differences 
and represented to us that the differences —individually and in the aggregate—are, in their judgment, not material to the 
financial statements. 

As at year ended December 31, 2018 Income effect Financial position 

Description of differences greater than $545 
individually (in ‘000s) (Decrease) Increase 

Assets (Decrease) 
Increase 

Liabilities (Decrease) 
Increase 

Equity (Decrease) 
Increase 

To reflect the prior year impact of not 
recognizing investments at amortized cost. 

$(1,152) – – – 

To recognize investments at amortized cost as 
at December 31, 2018. 

$2,380 $2,380 – – 

To correct the overstatement of depreciation 
expense. 

$2,256 – – – 

To accrue invoices related to 2018. $(586) – $586 – 

To correct the understatement of revenue 
related to the Sullivan project change in funding. 

$4,115 – – – 

To accrue for settlement of legal dispute over 
land expropriation.  

– $825 $825 – 

Total differences $7,013 $3,205 $1,411 – 

We concur with management’s representation that the differences are not material to the financial statements. Accordingly, the differences have no effect 
on our auditors’ report. 
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Other observations 

 Item Observation 

Agency reporting During the 2018 audit, and as in prior years, we requested reporting packages from the auditors of the City’s controlled 
Agencies.  These packages were requested to be received by March 15, allowing for enough time to incorporate the 
results into the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the City.  This also allows the financial reporting team of 
the City to perform their consolidation process in a timely manner for us to perform our procedures over the consolidation 
process. However, as the Annual General Meetings (AGMs) for each agency were later than in prior years, we have not 
yet received all of the requested information and in addition nor had the City received the information in a timely manner 
to perform the consolidation process they undertake to create the consolidated financial statements.  The dates of the 
approval of the financial statements for each of the agencies related to the December 31, 2018 year end are as follows: 
— Red Deer River Bend Golf & Recreation Society – March 19, 2019
— Red Deer Downtown Business Association – March 21, 2019
— Red Deer Public Library – March 27, 2019
— Waskasoo Environmental Education Society – March 28, 2019
— Red Deer Museum and Art Gallery – April 17, 2019

We recommend that the City set timelines for the Agencies related to the approval of their respective financial statements 
to ensure that there is appropriate alignment with the timelines for the City’s consolidated financial statement process and 
approvals. 
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Other observations (continued) 

 Item Observation 

Tangible capital 
assets  
(previously 
reported)  

During the 2016 audit, a corrected adjustment and uncorrected error were noted with respect to substantially completed projects that 
remained in assets under construction (AUC) as at December 31, 2016. We recommended that management have clear lines of 
communication with the project managers and accountants to assess the completion of each project (or major asset) and ensure that 
management is aware when projects are nearing completion.  

As well, unusual balances such as the negative AUC balances were noted during prior year audits. We recommended these balances 
should be identified and followed-up with the project managers in a timely manner. The reviewer should obtain appropriate explanations 
and implement corrections before the preparation of the financial statements.  

During the performance of the 2017 audit procedures, we identified three substantially completed projects that remained in AUC as at 
December 31, 2017 that met the criteria to be moved into the appropriate asset class and the commencement of depreciation.  

We did not observe significant negative AUC balances as at December 31, 2017. 

Current Year Findings 

During the performance of the 2018 audit procedures, we tested a sample of 6 projects and identified 3 substantially completed projects 
that remained in AUC as at December 31, 2018 that met the criteria to be moved into the appropriate asset class and the 
commencement of depreciation. As this asset transfer had not occurred, depreciation expense for the year was understated.   

As part of our audit procedures over depreciation expense, we identified certain assets that had been inappropriately transferred out of 
AUC and accordingly, the annual depreciation expense was overstated.  In addition, management identified two assets that had not 
commenced amortization when they were put into service in 2011 and 2013.  As a result, management recorded depreciation expense 
through to 2018 within the 2018 year which overstates the depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

Additionally, we noted that there are several systems that contain information regarding tangible capital assets.  As these systems do not 
directly interface to each other, it is possible for there to be discrepancies between systems.  As certain systems are used for asset 
management purposes, it is important for the information within them be as accurate and complete as possible.  Our previous 
recommendation therefore remains unchanged. 

We did not observe significant negative AUC balances as at December 31, 2018. 
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Other observations (continued) 

 Item Observation 

Budgeting process  
(previously reported) 

In prior years, we noted a number of areas where the City’s approved budget differed significantly from actual results for 
several years: 

Budgeting Area Variances from budget to actual (%) 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets -29% -43% -33% 3% 2% 

Contributed tangible capital assets -73% -69% -52% -26% 9% 

Land sales -45% -63% -87% -60% -27%

o The budget for acquisition of tangible capital assets was significantly greater than actual results for the past 3 years.
In 2017, there was a variance of $52M.

o The budget for contributed tangible capital assets forms part of the operating budget and was based on a four year
historical average. For the past 4 years, the budget had been significantly greater than actual contributions.    In
2017, there was a variance of $20M.

o The budget for land sales was significantly greater than actual sales for the past 5 years.  In 2017, there was a
variance of $6M.

We recommended that management assess its budgeting methodology for these items to increase the usefulness of the 
City’s budget.  Through inquiry with management, we noted that management’s budgeting process had been improved 
and observed that variances between budget and actual results have decreased; hence, we consider this 
recommendation to be implemented. 
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Appendices 

Appendix 1: Required communications 

Appendix 1a: Draft Auditors’ Report 

Appendix 1b: Draft management representation letter 

Appendix 2: Audit Quality and Risk Management 

Appendix 3: Introducing Comprehensive Accounting Advisory 
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Appendix 1: Required communications 
In accordance with professional standards, there are a number of communications that are required during the course of 
and upon completion of our audit.  
These include: 

Auditors’ Report Management representation letter 

The conclusion of our audit is set out in our draft auditors’ report 
as attached. 

In accordance with professional standards, copies of the management 
representation letter are provided to the Audit Committee. The management 
representation letter is attached. 

CPAB Audit Quality Insights Report (October 2018) (formerly the “Big Four Firm Public Report”) 
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Appendix 1a: Draft Auditors’ Report 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
To Her Worship the Mayor and Members of Council of The City of Red Deer 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The City of Red Deer (the Entity), which comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended

• the consolidated statement of changes in net debt for the year then ended

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018, and its consolidated results of 
operations, its consolidated changes in net debt and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

• the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in the 
Annual Financial Report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for 
indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated.   

We obtained the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included 
in the Annual Financial Report as at the date of this auditors’ report.    
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If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.   

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

DRAFT 

Edmonton, Canada 

April 29, 2019 
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Appendix 1b: Draft management representation letter 
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KPMG LLP 
Enbridge Centre 
2200, 10175 – 101 Street 
Edmonton, AB T5J 0H3 

April 29, 2019 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We are writing at your request to confirm our understanding that your audit was for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as “financial 
statements”) of the City of Red Deer (“the City”) as at and for the period ended December 31, 2018. 

GENERAL: 
We confirm that the representations we make in this letter are in accordance with the definitions as set 
out in this letter.

We also confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

RESPONSIBILITIES: 
1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the engagement letter dated

August 4, 2017, including for:

a) the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and believe that these
financial statements have been prepared and present fairly in accordance with the relevant
financial reporting framework.

b) providing you with all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of
the financial statements, such as all financial records and documentation and other matters,
including:

(i) the names of all related parties and information regarding all relationships and
transactions with related parties; and
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(ii) the complete minutes of meetings, or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which
minutes have not yet been prepared, of shareholders, board of directors and committees
of the board of directors that may affect the financial statements. All significant actions
are included in such summaries.

c) providing you with unrestricted access to such relevant information.

d) providing you with complete responses to all enquiries made by you during the engagement.

e) providing you with additional information that you may request from us for the purpose of the
engagement.

f) providing you with unrestricted access to persons within the City from whom you determined
it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

g) such internal control as we determined is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. We also
acknowledge and understand that we are responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

h) ensuring that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected
in the financial statements.

i) ensuring that internal auditors providing direct assistance to you, if any, were instructed to
follow your instructions and that management, and others within the City, did not intervene in
the work the internal auditors performed for you.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING: 
2) We have communicated to you all deficiencies in the design and implementation or maintenance

of internal control over financial reporting of which we are aware.

FRAUD & NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS:
3) We have disclosed to you:

a) the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

b) all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of that involves:

— management;

— employees who have significant roles in internal control over financial reporting; or

— others

where such fraud or suspected fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

c) all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial
statements, communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, or others.

d) all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations, including all aspects of contractual agreements, whose effects should be
considered when preparing financial statements.

e) all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when
preparing the financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: 
4) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the relevant financial

reporting framework requires adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements have been
adjusted or disclosed.
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RELATED PARTIES: 
5) We have disclosed to you the identity of the City’s related parties.

6) We have disclosed to you all the related party relationships and transactions/balances of which
we are aware.

7) All related party relationships and transactions/balances have been appropriately accounted for
and disclosed in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework.

ESTIMATES: 
8) Measurement methods and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates,

including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

GOING CONCERN: 
9) We have provided you with all information relevant to the use of the going concern assumption in

the financial statements.

10) We confirm that we are not aware of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the City’s ability to continue as a going concern.

MISSTATEMENTS: 
11) The effects of the uncorrected misstatements described in Attachment II are immaterial, both 

individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole.

12) We approve the corrected misstatements identified by you during the audit described in 
Attachment II. 

NON-SEC REGISTRANTS OR NON-REPORTING ISSUERS: 
13) We confirm that the City is not a Canadian reporting issuer (as defined under any applicable

Canadian securities act) and is not a United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
Issuer (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002). We also confirm that the financial
statements of the City will not be included in the consolidated financial statements of a Canadian
reporting issuer audited by KPMG or an SEC Issuer audited by any member of the KPMG
organization.
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COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES: 
14) There are no:

a) Other liabilities that are required to be recognized and no other contingent assets or contingent
liabilities that are required to be disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with the
relevant financial reporting framework, including liabilities or contingent liabilities arising from
illegal acts or possible illegal acts, or possible violations of human rights legislation

b) Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the City is contingently liable.

OTHER: 
15) The City has satisfactory title to all owned assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on such

assets, nor has any asset been pledged as collateral, except as disclosed in the financial
statements or notes to the financial statements.

16) We have no knowledge of any plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities, except as disclosed in the financial statements or notes to
the financial statements.

17) All contractual obligations as at December 31, 2018 have been appropriately disclosed in the
financial statements.

18) We have reviewed all assets under construction and there are no projects that are substantially
complete that would require reclassification as at December 31, 2018.

Yours very truly, 

_______________________________________ 
Dean Krejci, Chief Financial Officer 

_______________________________________ 
Tara Lodewyk, Interim City Manager 

cc: Audit Committee 
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Attachment I – Definitions 
MATERIALITY 
Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be 
material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, or a 
combination of both. 

FRAUD & ERROR 
Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial 
statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an Entity’s assets. It is often accompanied by false or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the 
fact that the assets are missing or have been pledged without proper authorization. 
An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an amount or a disclosure. 

RELATED PARTIES 
In accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards for Public Sector (PSAS) related party is defined as: 

• when one party has the ability to exercise control or shared control over the other. Two or more parties are related when they are subject to common
control or shared control. Related parties also include key management personnel and close family members.

In accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards for Public Sector (PSAS) a related party transaction is defined as: 

• a transfer of economic resources or obligations between related parties, or the provision of services by one party to a related party. These transactions are
related party transactions whether or not there is an exchange of considerations or transactions have been given accounting recognition. The parties to the
transaction are related prior to the transaction. When the relationship arises as a result of the transaction, the transaction is not one between related
parties.
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Attachment II – Summary of Audit Misstatements Schedules 
Uncorrected differences 

As at year ended December 31, 2018 Income effect Financial position 

Description of differences greater than $545 
individually (in ‘000s) (Decrease) Increase 

Assets (Decrease) 
Increase 

Liabilities (Decrease) 
Increase 

Equity (Decrease) 
Increase 

To reflect the prior year impact of not recognizing 
investments at amortized cost. 

$(1,152) – – – 

To recognize investments at amortized cost as at 
December 31, 2018. 

$2,380 $2,380 – – 

To correct the overstatement of depreciation expense. $2,256 – – – 

To accrue invoices related to 2018. $(586) – $586 – 

To correct the understatement of revenue related to 
the Sullivan project change in funding. 

$4,115 – – – 

To accrue for settlement of legal dispute over land 
expropriation.  

– $825 $825 – 

Total differences $7,013 $3,205 $1,411 –
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Corrected differences 

As at year ended December 31, 2018 Income effect Financial position 

Description of differences greater than $545 
individually (in ‘000s) (Decrease) Increase 

Assets (Decrease) 
Increase 

Liabilities (Decrease) 
Increase 

Equity (Decrease) 
Increase 

To reclass capital asset additions that were 
inappropriately included as part of assets under 
construction (AUC) even though the projects were 
complete and assets were in or ready for use. 

– 16,124 

(16,124) 

– – 

To reclass assets that were inappropriately transferred 
out of AUC and correct the related depreciation 
expense. 

872 (7,592) 

7,592 

872 

– – 

Total differences 872 872 – – 
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KPMG
Audit quality

and risk
management

Independence,
integrity, ethics
and objectivity

Personnel
management

Acceptance &
continuance of

clients /
engagements

Engagement
performance

standards

Independent
monitoring

Other risk
management

quality controls

Appendix 2: Audit Quality and Risk Management 
KPMG maintains a system of quality control designed to reflect our drive and determination to deliver independent, 
unbiased advice and opinions, and also meet the requirements of Canadian professional standards. 
Quality control is fundamental to our business and is the responsibility of every partner and employee. The following 
diagram summarizes the six key elements of our quality control system. 

Visit our Audit Quality Resources page for more information including access to our most recent Audit Quality Report. 

Other controls include: 

— Before the firm issues its audit
report, the Engagement Quality 
Control Reviewer reviews the 
appropriateness of key elements of 
publicly listed client audits 

Technical department and specialist 
resources provide real-time support to 
audit teams in the field 

We conduct regular reviews of 
engagements and partners. Review 
teams are independent and the work of 
every audit partner is reviewed at least 
once every three years. 

We have policies and guidance to 
ensure that work performed by 
engagement personnel meets applicable 
professional standards, regulatory 
requirements and the firm’s standards of 
quality. 

All KPMG partners and staff are required 
to act with integrity and objectivity and 
comply with applicable laws, regulations 
and professional standards at all times. 

We do not offer services that would impair 
our independence. 

The processes we employ to help retain 
and develop people include: 

Assignment based on skills and experience 
Rotation of partners 
Performance evaluation 
Development and training 
Appropriate supervision and coaching 

We have policies and procedures for 
deciding whether to accept or continue a 
client relationship or to perform a specific 
engagement for that client. 

Existing audit relationships are reviewed 
annually and evaluated to identify instances 
where we should discontinue our 
professional association with the client. 
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kpmg.ca/audit 

KPMG LLP, an Audit, Tax and Advisory firm (kpmg.ca) and a Canadian limited liability partnership established under the laws of Ontario, is the Canadian 
member firm of KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”). 

KPMG member firms around the world have 174,000 professionals, in 155 countries. 

The independent member firms of the KPMG network are affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss entity. Each KPMG firm is a legally distinct and separate 
entity, and describes itself as such. 

© 2019 KPMG LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with 

KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved. 
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DM 2436039 

 

April 23, 2019  

2019/2020 – Citizen Representative Appointments to 
Committees 
Legislative Services 

 

Report Summary & Recommendation: 

At the March 18, 2019 meeting of Red Deer City Council, Council adopted the Terms of Reference and 
membership for the Community Housing and Homelessness Integration Plan (CHHIP) Ad Hoc 
Committee. Recruitment for this Committee has now concluded and a number of representatives of 
various interest groups and the community at large will be recommended by the Nomination Review 
Committee for appointment to this Committee. 

 

In addition, Council’s endorsement is sought for the two Council representatives and the two 
Community Housing Advisory Board representatives that have been recommended by that Board. 

 

City Manager Comments:  

Council’s direction is requested. 

 

Tara Lodewyk 

Interim City Manager 

 

Proposed Resolutions 

Resolved that Council, having considered the report from Legislative Services dated April 17, 2019 re: 
2019/2020 – Citizen Representative Appointments to Committees, endorses the recommendations of 
the Nomination Committee as presented to the Monday, April 29, 2019 meeting of Council, as follows: 

 

Community Housing Advisory Board representative:  ______________________________ 

Community Housing Advisory Board representative: ______________________________ 

Indigenous community representative:   ______________________________ 

Business community representative:   ______________________________ 

Homeless service agency representatives:   ______________________________ 

              

              

Community member at large:    ______________________________ 

              

Housing public entity representative:   ______________________________ 

Member of the faith community:    ______________________________ 
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With terms of these appointments to conclude at the completion of this work. 

 

 

Resolved that Council, having considered the report from Legislative Services dated April 17, 2019 re: 
2019/2020 – Citizen Representative Appointments to Committees, hereby agrees to appoint the 
following Council representatives to the Community Housing and Homelessness Integration Plan Ad 
Hoc Committee: 

 

Council representative:     ______________________________ 

Council representative:      ______________________________ 

 

With terms of these appointments to conclude at the completion of this work. 

 

Report Details 

Background: 

This newly formed committee will help guide the development of a strategic and innovative 
housing plan to help achieve the community’s housing plan goal. This plan will encompass the 
full non-market housing spectrum and will focus on the integration of housing assets, support 
services, community planning, and governance and fund administration. 
 
While Council appoints citizens to the various committees, boards, commissions, community 
engagement groups, and societies, the names of the people nominated are submitted in confidence. The 
Nomination Review Committee reviewed all applications against the Terms of Reference of the 
Committee and the Committee’s recommendations will be presented to Council at the April 29, 2019 
regular meeting. 
 

Discussion: 

The following summary indicates the appointments which are to be made:  

 

The Community Housing and Homelessness Integration Plan (CHHIP) Ad Hoc Committee will consist 
of a minimum of ten members and will include:  

 

2 members of City Council  

2 members of the Community Housing Advisory Board  

1 Indigenous community representative (to be endorsed by UAVS) 

1 business community representative 

1 homeless service agency representative 

1 community member at large 

1 housing public entity representative 

1 member of the faith community 
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April 15, 2019 

Shoestring Warehouse – Request for Additional Funding 
SOCIAL PLANNING 

 

Report Summary & Recommendation: 

 

In January and March 2019, the Community Housing Advisory Board (CHAB) considered a request from 
Central Alberta Women’s Outreach Society (CAWOS) for $50,000 in additional Outreach & Support 
Services (OSSI) funds for the Shoestring Warehouse program. The organization is requesting the funding 
to develop a business plan to adopt a social enterprise model for the program.  

 

As an existing funded program, this request would require additional OSSI funds and a contract 
amendment. As per City practice, CAWOS’s request was first brought to CHAB. CHAB considered the 
request in January 2019 and requested additional information to fully consider CAWOS’s proposal. 
CAWOS provided the additional information. At its March 2019 meeting, CHAB passed a motion 
supporting the $50,000 request, and is submitting a recommendation for City Council’s consideration.  

 

City Manager Comments:  

I support the recommendation of Administration. 

 

Tara Lodewyk 

Interim City Manager 

 

Proposed Resolution 

Resolved that Council of The City of Red Deer, having considered the report from Social Planning dated 
April 15, 2019 re: Shoestring Warehouse – Request for Additional Funding and the recommendation of 
the Community Housing Advisory Board, hereby endorses the Central Alberta Women’s Outreach 
Society for $50,000 of funding to be funded from the Outreach & Support Services funds. 
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Report Details 
 

Background: 

 

The Shoestring Warehouse provides furniture and essential household items to individuals and families 
transitioning from homelessness to permanent housing. Clients, often with their case manager, visit the 
warehouse and choose their own furniture and household items. The program coordinates move-in, 
move-outs, and small repairs of the furniture, if needed. The program has been funded since January 1, 
2017.  

 

The program receives $120,000/year through the Province of Alberta’s OSSI grant that The City 
administers locally. Other OSSI-funded programs use the warehouse, in addition to other community 
and government organizations. The use of the program by non-OSSI-funded entities helps support the 
financial viability of the program.  

 

In 2017 and 2018, the program supported a total of 687 requests. The program had self-generated 
revenues of $80,795.15 (April 1, 2018 – March 12, 2019), and expenses of $164,143.89. This resulted in 
a net income of $36,651.26 for this period. All of this net income is re-invested in the program (e.g., 
subsidize operations, start-up costs associated with purchasing tools and shelving).   

 

Discussion: 

 

The program currently operates on a model that requires OSSI grant support to remain viable. 
However, CAWOS’s request to develop a business plan could enable it to operate on self-generated 
revenues (a social enterprise). It’s hoped that this may result in a decrease of OSSI funds in the future to 
support this service for individuals leaving homelessness and moving into housing.  

 

Social enterprise is an organizational form that uses business-type of practices in environmental and/or 
social purposes. It is different from a traditional charitable model, for example, as it focuses on 
developing self-generated revenue through business-type activities (e.g., sales). Furthermore, a social 
enterprise is different from a traditional business model, for example, as it focuses on creating social 
value rather than shareholder value (e.g., funds generated are re-invested in the organization to support 
its on-going work). Supporting CAWOS’s business plan development for the Shoestring Warehouse 
could serve as an example elsewhere in Red Deer for transitioning from the traditional charitable model 
to a social enterprise model. Social enterprise is being increasingly adopted globally to address complex 
social challenges.  

 

Analysis: 

 

The Shoestring Warehouse program currently receives $120,000/year of City-administered provincial 
OSSI funds. In its current agreement with The City, an outcome of the program is to become self- 
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sufficient and successful as a social enterprise. This funding request would support the program in 
meeting this outcome. The goal of this additional $50,000 one-time request would be to enable the 
program to be fully self-sufficient for the next round of OSSI funding allocations. This would mean that 
the current $120,000/year allocation could be allocated to other programs and supports in the 
community in the future. Based on the program’s current financial statements, a needs assessment, and 
that the program is creating an income which suggests that a social enterprise model is viable for the 
program. CAWOS’s Board of Directors and Executive Director believe that the program cannot fund 
the business plan from its current program budget as it is using the self-generated income to purchase 
start-up tools and supplies to become self-sufficient (e.g., tools, shelving). 

 

There is sufficient unallocated OSSI funding available for this request, should City Council wish to 
support the request. This is an eligible expense under the Province’s OSSI funding guidelines.  
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DM 2427914 

 
 

Community Housing Advisory Board 
Decision – March 26, 2019 

  

DATE: March 26, 2019  

TO: Red Deer City Council 

FROM: Sandi Chalmers, Chair, Community Housing Advisory Board 

SUBJECT: Shoestring Warehouse – Request for Additional Funding 

 
At the March 26, 2019 meeting of the Community Housing Advisory Board, the following 
motion was introduced and passed:  
 

Resolved that the Community Housing Advisory Board, having considered the letter 
dated March 18, 2019 from the Central Alberta Women’s Outreach Society re the 
Shoestring Warehouse, hereby endorses $50,000 in additional Outreach & Support 
Services (OSSI) funding be allocated to develop the Shoestring Warehouse into a social 
enterprise, and forwards this to Council for consideration. 
 

The foregoing is submitted to Council for consideration. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Sandi Chalmers 
Chair, Community Housing Advisory Board 
 
c: Tricia Hercina, Social Planning Manager  

Ryan Veldkamp, Social Planning Supervisor - Resource & Capacity Development 
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April 18, 2019  

Business Improvement Area Business Tax Bylaw 
Amendment  

3196/A-2019 
Legislative Services 

Report Summary & Recommendation: 

Summary: 

The attached report is being brought forward from the Monday, April 15, 2019 City 
Council meeting. 

 

Recommendation:  

That Council considers second and third readings to Business Improvement Area 
Business Tax Bylaw Amendment 3196/A-2019. 

 

Background: 

At the Monday, April 15, 2019 City Council meeting, Council gave first reading to 
Bylaw 3196/A-2019, an amendment to the Business Improvement Area (BIA) 
Business Tax Bylaw to set the BIA tax rates required to fund the 2019 Downtown 
Business Association (DBA) budget). 

 

Proposed Resolution: 

That Bylaw 3196/A-2019 be read a second and third time. 
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April 15, 2019 

Business Improvement Area Business Tax Bylaw Amendment  

3196/A-2019 

Revenue and Assessment Services 

Report Summary & Recommendation: 

The Business Improvement Area (BIA) Business Tax Bylaw sets the BIA tax rates required to fund the 

2019 Downtown Business Association (DBA) Council approved budget. BIA tax rates must be set by 

Council in order for administration to prepare and send the BIA tax notices and collect the approved 

funding.  

 
Recommendation: 

Administration respectfully recommends that Council give first reading to Bylaw No. 3196/A-2019 

Business Improvement Area Business Tax Bylaw, with a return to Council April 29, 2019 for 2nd and 3rd 

readings. 

City Manager Comments:  

I support the recommendation of Administration.  If first reading of Bylaw 3196/A-2019 is given, this 

bylaw will come back for second and third reading at the Monday, April 29, 2019 Council Meeting. 

Tara Lodewyk 

Interim City Manager 

 

Proposed Resolution: 

That Bylaw 3196/A-2019 be read a first time. 

 

Originally submitted at the 

April 15, 2019 Regular 

Council Meeting 
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Background: 

Principles of Taxation: 

• Fairness and equity 

• Predictability and stability 

• Competitiveness 

• Sustainability of revenues raised and 

• Simplicity, transparency and efficiency of the tax system 

Alberta Regulation 93/2016 

Section 11 requires the Downtown Business Association (DBA) board to submit a budget for each 

calendar year to Council for approval. 

Section 14 requires the municipality to transfer to the board the amount identified in the Council 

approved budget as revenue to be received from the municipality. 

Section 21 Council must pass a Business Improvement Area (BIA) tax rate bylaw. The BIA tax rate must 

be sufficient to raise the amount that the board is to receive from the municipality in respect of the BIA 

tax as set out in the board’s approved budget.  

Council Direction 

In 1983 Council adopted Bylaw 2827/83 establishing Red Deer Downtown Business Association Zone. 

January 9, 2017 Council resolved to calculate and collect from the BIA an over or under collection of 

BIA taxes for 2018 and beyond.  

December 10, 2018 Council approved the 2019 DBA budget requiring a tax levy of $409,656 from the 

taxable businesses operating within the Downtown BIA. 

Downtown Business Association (DBA) Direction 

October 1, 2018 DBA Board advised the City of the board’s approval to maintain the 2019 minimum tax 

levy at $187.25. A copy of the letter was included in the December 10, 2018 Council Report for 

consideration in Council’s approval of the 2019 DBA budget. 
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Discussion & Analysis: 

The primary purpose of amending the bylaw is to modify the taxation rates for 2019.  

There are four drivers that can impact the BIA Tax Rate: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The total taxation revenue to be generated for the DBA from the taxation of business operating 

with the BIA for 2019 is $416,044.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Drivers 2019 
1) Council approved DBA Budgeted Revenue 

from Tax 
$409,656 

2) Over/Under Collection of BIA Tax $6,388 
3) Taxable Assessed Value  $20,971,700 
4) Minimum BIA Tax Levy set by the DBA 

Board 
$187.25 

Tax Levy

Taxable 

Assessed Value Tax Rate

BIA Tax Minimum Levy 26,590$             724,000$              

BIA Tax 389,454$           20,247,700$         0.0192345

TOTAL TAX LEVY 416,044$        20,971,700$      

Impact to the Average Tax Payer 2018 2019

BIA Tax 

Increase

BIA Tax Minimum Levy 187.25$             187.25$                0%

BIA Tax
(Based on the median assessed value 

of 15,100)* 279.59$             290.44$                4%
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BYLAW NO. 3196/A-2019 

 

Being a Bylaw to amend Bylaw 3196/A-2018 which was passed on April 30, 2018 for 

the purpose of providing a business assessment for properties within the City of Red 
Deer’s Business Improvement Area. 

 

Bylaw 3196/A-2018 as amended is hereby further amended as follows: 

 

1. Section 5 is deleted and replaced by the following: 
 

5.  For the purpose of meeting the 2019 annual approved expenditures of the 

Downtown Business Revitalization Zone (Bylaw 2827/83): 

a) A business improvement area tax rate of 0.0192345 is hereby imposed 

on all business tax assessments for the year 2019; and 

b) A minimum tax levy on any business tax assessment for the year 

2019 shall be $187.25 whichever is the greater sum. 

 
2.    This bylaw shall come into force on the date it is passed and upon being signed. 
 

READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this                day of     2019  

 

READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this          day of     2019 

 

READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this             day of       2019 

 

AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this          day of        2019 
 

 

  

________________________   ____________________________ 

MAYOR       CITY CLERK 
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 BYLAW NO. 3196/A-20182019 

 

Being a bylaw to provide for a business assessment for properties within the City of 

Red Deer’s Business Improvement Area; 

 

NOW THEREFORE THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER, IN 

THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Short Title 

 

1  This bylaw may be cited as "The Business Improvement Area   Business 

Tax Bylaw”. 

 

Definitions  

 

2  In this bylaw, unless the context otherwise requires: 

 

(a) "Assessor" means the Assessor of The City of Red Deer. 

 

(b) "Business" means 

 

(i) a commercial, merchandising or industrial activity or 

undertaking, 

 

(ii) profession, trade, occupation, calling or employment, or 

 

(iii) an activity providing goods or services, however organized 

or formed, including a co-operative or association of 

persons. 
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 2 Bylaw No. 3196/98 

 
(c) "Business Assessment" means the assessment of a business 

located within the Business Improvement Area, for business tax 

purposes.  

 

(d) "Business Day" means a day on which The City of Red Deer is 

open for business. 

 

(e) "Business Tax" means the tax levied pursuant to this bylaw on any 

person carrying on a business within the City of Red Deer’s 

Business Improvement Area, including Supplementary Business 

Tax and penalties. 

 

(f) "City" means The City of Red Deer. 

 

(g) "Floor Space" means the superficial area of every floor in the 

premises in which business is carried on and includes the 

superficial area of any land not forming the site of a building but 

occupied or used for the purpose of or incidental to the exercise or 

carrying on of a business. 

 

(h) "Person" includes a corporation or partnership. 

 

(i) "Premises" means the store, office warehouse, factory, building, 

enclosure, yard or any space occupied or used by a person for the 

purpose of a business. 
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 3 Bylaw No. 3196/98 

 
 

Assessment Roll  

 

3  The Assessor shall prepare a business tax assessment roll showing the 

business tax assessment for each business operating within the Business 

Improvement Area. 

 

Calculation of Business Assessment  

 

4
 

 The business assessment shall be a sum equal to 100% of the net annual 

rental value of the premises occupied by the business.  

 

Business Improvement Area Tax  

 

5
 

For the purpose of meeting the 2019 annual approved expenditures of the 

Downtown Business Improvement Area (Bylaw 2827/83): 

 

a) A business improvement area tax rate of 0.0192345 is hereby 

imposed on all business tax assessments for the year 2019; and 

b) A minimum tax levy on any business tax assessment for the year 

2019 shall be $187.25 whichever is the greater sum. 

5
 

 For the purpose of meeting the 2018 annual approved expenditures of the 

Downtown Business Revitalization Zone (Bylaw 2827/83): 

 

a) A business improvement area tax rate of 0.0185156 is hereby 

imposed on all business tax assessments for the year 2018; and 

b) A minimum tax levy on any business tax assessment for the year 

2018 shall be $187.25 whichever is the greater sum. 

 

 

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 127 Item No. 5.1.



 4 Bylaw No. 3196/98 

 
Obligation to Pay Business Tax  

 

6  Every Person operating a Business within the boundaries of the Business 

Improvement Area shall pay the full amount of the Business Tax to the 

City on or before the due date stated on the Business Improvement Area 

Tax notice.
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 5 Bylaw No. 3196/98 

 
 

7  A person who takes over the operation of a business shall be liable to pay 

the business tax imposed in respect of that business from the date the 

person took over operation of the business and for the remainder of the 

year.  

 

8  Where, in the opinion of the Assessor, it is not practical to levy a Business 

Tax or Supplementary Business Tax on individual tenants or sub-tenants 

as a result of the short term of their tenancies, then the Business Tax or 

Supplementary Business Tax shall be levied on the owner or tenant or 

sub-tenant, as the Assessor deems appropriate. 

 

9  A person who ceases to carry on business shall notify the City in writing 

within 90 days to be eligible for proration of tax.  

 

Supplementary Business Tax  

 

10  The Assessor may prepare a Supplementary Business Tax Assessment 

Roll at any time or times during the year, for the purpose of assessing 

businesses. 

 

11  A Supplementary Business Tax shall be levied at the same rate as the 

Business Tax rate for that year: 

 

(a) on each person who operates a business for a temporary period 

and whose name is not entered on the business tax roll; 

 

(b) on each person who moves into new premises or opens new 

premises or branches of an existing business, although the 

person's name is entered on the business tax roll; 

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 129 Item No. 5.1.



 6 Bylaw No. 3196/98 

 
 

(c) on each person who begins operating a business and whose name 

is not entered on the business tax roll; 

 

(d) on each person who increases the storage capacity or floor space 

of the premises occupied for the purposes of a business after the 

business tax roll has been prepared. 

 

Proration of Taxes  

 

12  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, a person who is liable to pay 

Business Tax or Supplementary Business Tax shall be liable to pay the 

greater of the minimum tax or the prorated amount of tax based on the 

number days in the year in which the person operated the business.  

 

13  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, a person who operates a 

business for a period of time not exceeding 30 days in total during the 

course of a year shall not be liable to pay either Business Tax or 

Supplementary Business Tax. 
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 7 Bylaw No. 3196/98 

 
 

Penalties for Late Payment of Taxes  

 

14  For the purpose of this bylaw, any payment of business tax forwarded by 

mail shall be deemed to be paid on the same date as the postmark on the 

envelope in which the said payment is mailed.  

 

15  A penalty shall be levied on the amount of any current year business 

taxes which remain outstanding on the following dates: 

 

Tax July 1                       7% 

September 1            7% 

Total                     14% 

 

 

Penalties imposed in the current calendar year will not be compounded 

during that year.  

 

16  A penalty shall be levied on the amount of any business taxes and 

accumulated penalties that remain unpaid after December 31
st
 of the year 

in which they were imposed on the following dates: 

 

Tax Arrears January 1                 7% 

July 1                       7% 

Total                     14% 
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 8 Bylaw No. 3196/98 

 
17                 A refund of overpayment or a rebate of business tax shall be made only 

on written application from the taxable business to the City. No refund of 

overpayment or rebate of business tax shall be made without verification 

of the business moving out of the Business Improvement Area or after 

January 31 of the year following the year the tax is levied.  

 

Consequential Provisions  

 

18  Bylaw No. 3128/95 and all amendments thereto are hereby repealed. 

 

19  The provisions of the General Penalty Bylaw shall not apply to Business 

Tax, Supplementary Business Tax and penalties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of  2019. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this  day of  2019. 
 
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this  day of  2019. 
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this  day of 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
        
___________________________ __________________________ 
DEPUTY MAYOR CITY CLERK 
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April 18, 2019  

Tax Rate Bylaw 3622/2019 
Legislative Services 

Report Summary & Recommendation: 

Summary: 

The attached report is being brought forward from the Monday, April 15, 2019 City 
Council meeting. 

 

Recommendation:  

That Council considers second and third readings to Tax Rate Bylaw 3622/2019. 

 

Background: 

At the Monday, April 15, 2019 City Council meeting, Council gave first reading to 
the 2019 Tax Rate Bylaw to authorize the levying of a tax upon all taxable property 
shown on the Assessment Roll and a supplementary property tax in respect for 
which Supplementary Assessments Roll has been prepared. 

 

Proposed Resolution: 

That Bylaw 3622/2019 be read a second and third time. 
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 April 15, 2019 

 

Tax Rate Bylaw 3622/2019 
Revenue & Assessment Services 

 

 

Report Summary & Recommendation        

The 2019 Tax Rate Bylaw sets the property tax rates required to collect the funds approved for the 
2019 Operating Budget, and requisitions required to be remitted to the Piper Creek Foundation and 
Alberta Government for funds collected on their behalf.  Tax rates must be set by Council in order for 
administration to prepare and send tax notices to collect the required revenue.   
 
 
Recommendation: 

Administration respectfully recommends that Council give consideration to first reading of Tax Rate 
Bylaw 3622/2019 to establish the property tax rates for 2019. 

 

City Manager Comments          

I support the recommendation of Administration.  If first reading of Bylaw 3622/2019 is given, this bylaw 
will come back for second and third reading at the Monday, April 29, 2019 Council Meeting. 
 
Tara Lodewyk 
Interim City Manager 
 
 

Proposed Resolution                           

That Bylaw 3622/2019 be read a first time. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Originally submitted at the 

April 15, 2019 Regular 

Council Meeting 
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Background            

Principles of Property Taxation: 
 

• Fairness and equity, 

• predictability and stability, 

• competitiveness, 

• sustainability of revenues raised, and 

• simplicity, transparency and efficiency of the tax system. 

 

Municipal Government Act (MGA): 
 
Section 353 requires each council pass an annual property tax bylaw to impose a tax in respect of 

property in the municipality to raise revenue to be used toward the payment of the expenditures and 

transfers set out in the budget and requisitions. 

Section 354 requires that the property tax bylaw must set and show separately all of the tax rates that 

must be imposed to raise the revenue required. 

Section 355 requires that a tax rate is calculated by dividing the amount of revenue required by the 

total assessment of all property on which that tax rate is to be imposed. 

Section 356 requires that the amount of tax to be imposed in respect of a property is calculated by 

multiplying the assessment for the property by the tax rate to be imposed on that property. 

Section 359 requires Council to accordingly reduce or increase the amount of revenue to be raised 

for requisitions in the next tax year if too much or too little tax revenue has been collected in the 

current year. 

 
Governance and Policy Committee Direction: 
 

• Multi Family property be a separate sub class of residential 

• No other subclasses of residential property 

• No subclass of vacant land be established for Non Residential 

• No set ratios be adopted for Multi Family or Non Residential 

• Administration prepare 4 to 5 options 

 

Discussion             

The Tax Rate Bylaw has three key components: 
 

1. Municipal Property Tax 
The approved 2019 Operating Budget requires collection of general municipal tax revenue of     
$136,417,008, a tax levy increase of 2.16% from 2018.  General municipal tax revenue funds the programs and 
services delivered to Red Deer citizens every day.          
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2. Requisitions  

 
a.  Education:  $46,255,278 
Under Municipal Government Act authority and direction from The Province, the 2019 education 
requisition has been estimated for purposes of tax collection as a result of the delay in the provincial 
budget.  The Alberta Government will not be adopting a provincial budget until sometime after the 
provincial election, potentially as late as fall.  Administration’s best estimate for purposes of tax 
collection is an increase of $906,966 (2.00%) in the requisition for the 2019 taxation year.  The 
actual requisition amount and tax rate are set by the Province during the annual provincial budget 
process, and once adopted, municipalities will be required to remit the approved education amount.  
Any shortfalls in education tax collection will be interim funded from reserves in 2019. 
 
Requisitions are collected and remitted to the Province to fund education.  Collection of 
requisitioned funds is reconciled and adjusted each year to ensure that only those taxes 
requisitioned are collected.  Any over or under collection of education revenue in 2019 will be 
adjusted through the over/under levy in 2020 and tax rates and reserves will be adjusted 
accordingly.    
 
b.  Piper Creek Foundation:  $575,000 
The Piper Creek Foundation requisitions The City to collect funds for affordable senior’s housing.  
The City is required under Ministerial Order to collect this funding on behalf of the Foundation to 
fund operating deficits and reserves.  The 2019 requisition has increased to $575,000 from $500,000 
in 2018 (15%).  A name change is currently underway and the new foundation name will be Bridges 
Community Living once it is complete.    

       
c.  Designated Industrial Property: $12,273 
The City of Red Deer is also legislatively required to collect monies on behalf of the Province to 
fund the cost of the assessment of Designated Industrial Property (DIP). The tax rate is set by The 
Province and will be applied to the tax notices of DIP only.    

                           
3. Annexed Property  

The Tax Rate Bylaw provides for specific taxation conditions for annexed property: 
a. Order in Council 432/2004 requires the taxation of certain 2004 annexed property at the lower 

of County or City municipal tax rates until 2029.    
b. Order in Council 531/2009 amended by 477/2010 and 103/2011 requires the taxation of certain 

2009 annexed property at County municipal tax rates until 2034. 
 

Analysis             
 
Council approved the total tax requirement when the 2019 Operating Budget was approved.  Setting 
the tax rates is about finding a fair and equitable balance of allocating the total approved tax requirement 
(municipal operating budget + requisitions) amongst the classes.  Important considerations in assessing 
the options are: 
 

1) Predictability and stability of tax impacts 
2) Comparability to provincial counterparts 
3) Impact of requisitions on the overall tax increases 

 

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 136 Item No. 5.2.



 

 

The analysis looks at a number of indicators because no one indicator tells the complete story. It is 
necessary to consider a combination of all indicators, holistically, to determine a fair, predictable and 
competitive tax rate.  

2018 
 

  Red 
Deer 

Calgary Edmonton Grande 
Prairie 

Medicine 
Hat 

Lethbridge Average 

Municipal Tax Rates (per $1000) 
 Residential $6.63 $3.90 $6.20 $10.21 $6.66 $8.48 $7.01 
 Multi Family $6.84 N/A $7.13 $10.21 $8.46 $12.69 $9.07 
 Non Residential $13.74 $15.32 $17.44 $16.37 $15.31 $19.94 $16.35 
Tax Revenue/$1,000 Taxable Total Assessed Value 

       Total Tax Level $8.42 $6.56 $9.03 $12.07 $8.18 $10.83 $9.18 
    Residential $4.55 $2.99 $4.18 $6.48 $4.86 $6.31 $4.90 

    Multi Family $0.40 N/A $0.51 $0.39 $0.26 $0.43 $0.40 

    Non Residential $3.47 $3.57 $4.34 $5.12 $3.05 $4.09 $3.94 

Tax Rate Ratio (municipal only) 
Non Residential 2.07 3.93 2.81 1.60 2.30 2.35 2.51 
Multi Family 1.05 N/A 1.15 1.00 1.24 1.47 1.18 

 
Tax Policy/Governance 

Multi-Family Class ü  
 ü  ü  ü  ü  

 

Management Body 
Tax 

ü    ü  ü  ü   

Business Tax  ü  
     

M&E Tax    ü  
   

Special Taxes      ü   

Annexation Order ü  
  ü  

 ü  
 

 
The last published Calgary Property Tax and Utilities Survey is based on 2017 data and therefore the 
information is dated and has not been included for purposes of the analysis.  Fewer Alberta 
municipalities are participating, and as the survey has become more out of date and more focused on 
comparing Calgary nationwide, it has limited value.   We continue to utilize this report as a reasonability 
check however the data above provides the same information in a more concrete, timely and reliable 
manner.   
Residential (RS) 
Overall, Red Deer has about average residential property taxes in comparison to other Alberta cities.  
However, Residential taxpayers pay a higher portion of the tax requirement than Non Residential tax 
payers when the overall tax requirement is allocated to the classes in the Tax Rate Bylaw.  In total, 54% 
of property tax revenue, not including Multi Family, comes from the Residential property class.   
 
 
Multi Family Residential (MF) 
The Multi Family tax rate and ratio are significantly below the average of other municipalities.  Multi 
Family residential properties in Red Deer pay a lower share of the tax requirement than in other 
municipalities.  In total 5% of property tax revenue comes from the Multi Family property class.  
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The average 2018 tax rate for Multi Family properties in other cities was 9.07 mils.  Red Deer was 6.84 
mils which is 25% below the average.  No municipalities have a Multi Family tax rate that is less than the 
tax rate for the entire Residential property class, a ratio of less than 1.0.                          
                    
Multi Family property are properties that have three (3) or more living units on one property (Land 
Title).  Condominiums, duplexes and manufactured homes are classified and taxed at Residential 
property tax rates.  Multi Family properties are income producing and therefore property tax is a 
deductible expense for income tax purposes.  Typically, Multi Family property is classified separately 
from other residential properties so as to apply a higher municipal tax rate than that of the Residential 
property class.   
 
 
Non Residential (NR) 
Red Deer continues to have low Non Residential property taxes as compared to other cities in Alberta.         
The average Non Residential tax rate in Red Deer was 16% lower than in comparison municipalities.  In 
total 41% of property tax revenue comes from the Non Residential property class.   
 
Red Deer’s 2018 commercial ratio was among the lowest in the province at 2.07 in comparison to the 
average of 2.51 – 18% lower.  A low commercial ratio does not necessarily translate to low taxes or a 
lower tax rate. For example, Grande Prairie’s commercial ratio was 1.60, however the tax rate in 2018 
was $16.37 mils, 19% higher than Red Deer.  The commercial ratio compares the municipal Non 
Residential tax rate to the municipal Residential tax rate which only compares the distribution of taxes 
between the classes, not the level of tax borne by each class.  
 
Further increasing the non residential tax advantage in Red Deer is that The City does not charge 
Business Tax, Machinery & Equipment tax or have any Special Taxes.  These taxes increase overall tax 
paid by Non Residential properties beyond what is shown in the chart for Calgary, Grande Prairie and 
Lethbridge. 
 

Summary                              ______________________________________ 
Red Deer has a very reasonable level of overall property taxation with Residential paying a 
proportionately larger share than Non Residential property.  This translates into an average Residential 
property tax level and a highly attractive Non Residential property tax level when compared with other 
cities. 
 
Key Considerations: 
1. The 2019 Tax Rate Bylaw includes an estimated 2% education requisition increase. 
2. The level of tax was set when the 2019 Operating Budget was adopted. 
3. Tax Rate Bylaw only determines how much of the tax requirement will be paid by each class.   
4. A decrease in assessed value does not mean a decrease in taxes.   
5. Property taxes for Non Residential and Multi-Family properties qualify for an income tax 

deduction as a business expense, whereas residential taxes must be paid with after-tax income.  
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Options___________________________________________________________
The purpose in setting different tax rates for different property classes is to distribute the required tax 
amongst the classes.  Experience tells us that property owners focus on total property taxes payable.  In 
keeping with the Principles of Property Taxation and GPC direction, Administration has prepared four 
options in Appendix A for Council’s consideration.   
 
Option 1 – Same Total Increase for Residential and Non Residential 

• Same total tax increase Residential and Non Residential of 1.89%  

• Equalizes education impact on total tax increase between Residential and Non Residential  

• Maintains MF ratio at 1.0 (same tax rate as RS) - higher increase to Multi Family    
 
Option 2 – Same Non Residential and Multi Family Ratios as 2018  

• Maintains Non Residential and Multi Family ratios the same as 2018 - NR 2.07, MF 1.03 

• Results in a shift of tax burden to Multi Family and Non Residential 
 
Option 3 – Same Municipal Increase All Classes 

• Same municipal increase for each class – 2.16% 

• Results in a shift of tax burden to Multi Family and Non Residential as a result of education 
requisition 
 

Option 4 – Same Total Increase for All Classes  

• Same total tax increase for all classes – 2.00% 

• Results in Multi Family tax rate dropping below the Residential tax rate – a ratio of less than 1.0 
 

Administrative 
Recommendation__________________________________________________ 
 
Option 1 - Same Total Increase for Residential and Non Residential  
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Residential     

97.59% Muni Only Total Muni Only Total Muni Only Total Muni Only Total

2018 679$      951        679$      951        679$      951        679$      951        

2019 695$      969        684$      958        694$      968        696$      971        

Increase 16$        18           5$           7             15$        17           17$        19           

% Increase 2.32 1.89 0.68 0.72 2.16 1.77 2.47 2.00

Multiple Family     

102.06% Muni Only Total Muni Only Total Muni Only Total Muni Only Total

2018 671$      931        671$      931        671$      931        671$      931        

2019 695$      969        706$      981        685$      960        675$      950        

Increase 24$        38           35$        50           14$        29           4$           19           

% Increase 3.57 4.09 5.29 5.33 2.16 3.07 0.66 2.00

2019 MULTI 

FAMILY RATIO
1.00 1.03 0.99 0.97

Non-Residential     

100.55% Muni Only Total Muni Only Total Muni Only Total Muni Only Total

2018 1,367$   1,749     1,367$   1,749     1,367$   1,749     1,367$   1,749     

2019 1,391$   1,782     1,418$   1,808     1,396$   1,787     1,393$   1,784     

Increase 24$        33           51$        60           29$        38           26$        35           

% Increase 1.77 1.89 3.73 3.42 2.16 2.19 1.91 2.00

2019 

COMMERCIAL 

RATIO

2.00 2.07 2.01 2.00

(tax amounts are per $100,000 of 2019 assessed value)

RS  4.87$     RS  1.85$     RS  4.57$     RS  5.15$     

MF 10.32$   MF 13.45$   MF 7.76$     MF 5.04$     

NR  8.96$     NR  16.20$   NR  10.37$   NR  9.48$     

Administrative 

Recommendation

Same Municipal 

Increase
Same Total Increase

Same NR and MF 

ratios as prior year

OPTION # 3 OPTION # 4OPTION # 2

OPTION # 1 OPTION # 3 OPTION # 4OPTION # 2

Monthly tax 

increase for a 

$325,000 

property:

MF ratio of 1.00. Res & 

NR same total

OPTION # 1
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BYLAW NO. 3622/2019 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to section 353 of the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, 
c.M-26 (the “MGA”) Council must pass a property tax bylaw annually authorizing 
Council to impose a tax in respect of property in the municipality to raise revenue to be 
used toward the payment of the expenditures and transfers as set out in the budget of 
the municipality and the Requisitions; 
 
 
AND WHEREAS,  section 369 of the MGA provides that Council must pass a 
supplementary property tax bylaw annually to authorize the levying of supplementary 
property tax in respect for which Supplementary Assessments have been made; 
 
 
AND WHEREAS, the tax rate to be established on areas annexed to The City of Red 
Deer (the “City”) is set by the Orders in Council by which those areas were annexed to 
the City; 
 
NOW THEREFORE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

PART 1 – TITLE, PURPOSE AND DEFINTIONS 
 
Title  
 
1. This bylaw may be referred to as the “2019 Tax Rate Bylaw”. 

 
Purpose 
 
2. The purpose of this bylaw is to authorize the levying of a tax upon all taxable 

property shown on the Assessment Roll and a supplementary property tax in 
respect for which Supplementary Assessments Roll has been prepared. 

 
Definitions 
 
3. In this bylaw, unless the context otherwise requires: 

 
(a) “Assessment Roll” means assessment roll as set out in section 303 of the 

MGA; 
 

(b) “Designated Industrial Property” means designated industrial property as 
set out in Section 284 of the MGA; 

 
(c) “Designated Manufactured Home” means designated manufactured home 

as set out in Section 284 of the MGA; 
 

(d) “Farm Land” means farm land as set out in Section 297 of the MGA; 
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(e) “Machinery and Equipment” means machinery and equipment as set out in 
Section 297 of the MGA; 

 
(f) “Manufactured Home Community” means manufactured home community 

as set out in Section 284 of the MGA; 
 

(g) “MGA” means the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, c. M-26 as may 
be amended.  

 

(h) “Multiple Family Residential” means a sub-class of property classified as 
Class 1 – residential, as set out in Section 297 of the MGA, which includes 
property or a portion of the property that contains:  
 
(i) all residential property where the total number of dwelling units on the 

parcel of land, whether contained in a single building or more than one 
building, exceeds two dwelling units; or 

 
(ii) Manufactured Home Communities, excluding the individual Designated 

Manufactured Homes; or 
 

(iii) vacant residential land held for the development of the above uses; or 
 

(iv) residential portion of Non Residential Property.  
 

(i) “Non Residential” means non-residential property as set out in Section 297 
of the MGA; 

 

(j) “Provincial Assessor” means provincial assessor as defined in Section 284 
of the MGA; 
 

(k) “Requisition” means requisition as set out in Section 326 of the MGA; 
 

(l) “Residential”  means residential as set out in Section 297 of the MGA; 
 
(m)“Single Family Residential” means a sub-class of property classified as 

Class 1 – residential, as set out in Section 297 of the MGA, which includes 
property or a portion of the property that contains: 

 
(i) residential property where the total number of dwelling units on the 

parcel of land, whether contained in a single building or more than one 
building, does not exceed two dwelling units; 

 
(ii) registered residential condominium units; 

 
(iii) single family dwelling with basement suite; 

 
(iv) residential portion of Non Residential Property; 
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(v) vacant residential land held for the development of the above uses; 

and 
 

(vi) Designated Manufactured Home located on a site in a Manufactured 
Home Community. 

 

(n) “Supplementary Assessment” means supplementary assessment  as set 
out in Section 314 of the MGA; 
 

(o) “Supplementary Assessment Roll” means supplementary assessment roll 
as set out in Section 315 of the MGA; 

 

 
PART II - ASSESSMENT CLASSES AND TAX RATES 

 
Assessment Classes and Sub-Classes 
 
4. For the purpose of the 2019 tax levy and supplementary tax levy, all assessed 

property within the City of Red Deer is hereby divided into one of the following 
assessment classes and subclasses: 

(a) Residential 
(i) Single Family Residential 

 
(ii) Multiple Family Residential 

 
(b) Non-Residential 

 
(c) Farmland 

 

(d) Machinery and Equipment 
  

Allowance for non-Collection of Taxes 
 
5. Pursuant to Section 359(2) of the MGA, for the 2019 tax levy and supplementary 

tax levy there may be an allowance for the non-collection of taxes at a rate not 
exceeding the actual rate of taxes uncollected from the previous year’s tax levy 
as determined at the end of the year. 

 
 
Levy of Tax Rates 
 
6. The City Manager is hereby authorized to levy the tax rates set out in Schedule 

“A” against the assessed value of all taxable property shown on the Assessment 
Roll and the Supplementary Assessment Roll and classified according to this 
bylaw. 
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Annexed Property 
 
7. There shall be assessed, imposed and collected for the year of 2019, on those 

properties annexed to the City which are still subject to the following Orders in 
Council, those rates which are provided in each of the Orders in Council: 
 
(a) Order in Council 432/2004 dated September 22, 2004; 
 
(b) Order in Council 531/2009 dated October 28, 2009, as amended by Order in 

Council 477/2010 dated December 16, 2010, and Order in Council 103/2011 
dated March 23, 2011. 

 
PART III – GENERAL 

 
Effective Date 
 
8. This bylaw comes into force on the day it is passed. 
 
 
READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   15 day of  April 2019.  
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this 29 day of  April 2019.  
 
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this  29 day of  April 2019.  
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this   29 day of  April 2019. 
 
 

             
MAYOR      CITY CLERK 
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BYLAW 3622/2019 
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 SCHEDULE 
“A”

Assessment Class Tax Levy Taxable Assessment Tax Rate

Single Family Residential 73,814,350$          10,624,438,650           0.0069476        

Multiple Family Residential 6,638,854$            955,560,700                 0.0069476        

Non Residential 55,947,419$          4,021,493,470             0.0139121        

Farm Land 16,301$                  1,770,900                     0.0092050        

Machinery & Equipment
1

-$                         37,085,170                   0.0139121        

TOTAL TAX LEVY 136,416,924$       15,640,348,890           

Allowance for non-collections -$                         

Approved tax requirement 136,417,008$       

Assessment Class Tax Levy Taxable Assessment Tax Rate

Single Family Residential 28,772,753$          10,618,035,810           0.0027098        

Multiple Family Residential 2,507,970$            925,518,500                 0.0027098        

Non Residential 15,138,131$          3,914,898,770             0.0038668        

Farm Land 4,799$                    1,770,900                     0.0027098        

Machinery & Equipment
1

-$                         37,085,170                   -                      

TOTAL TAX LEVY 46,423,653$          15,497,309,150           

Prior year over/under levy 168,351-$                

Estimated tax requirement 46,255,278$          

Assessment Class Tax Levy Taxable Assessment Tax Rate

Single Family Residential 396,053$                10,618,035,810           0.0000373        

Multiple Family Residential 34,522$                  925,518,500                 0.0000373        

Non Residential 146,026$                3,914,898,770             0.0000373        

Farm Land 66$                          1,770,900                     0.0000373        

Machinery & Equipment
1

-$                         37,085,170                   

TOTAL TAX LEVY 576,666$                15,497,309,150           

Prior year over/under levy 1,268-$                    

Approved tax requirement 575,000$                

Assessment Class Tax Levy Taxable Assessment Tax Rate

Non Residential
2

12,273$                  156,149,300                 0.00007860      

TOTAL TAX LEVY 12,273$                  156,149,300                 

Approved tax requirement 12,273$                  

1
Exempt from taxation per Bylaw 3211/98

2
Designated Industrial Property assessment and tax rate are set by the Provincial Assessor

2019 Municipal Tax Rates

2019 Education Tax Rates
(Requisitions by Alberta School Foundation and Red Deer Catholic Region)

2019 Management Bodies Tax Rates
(Requisition by Piper Creek Foundation)

Designated Industrial Property Requisition Tax Rate
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April 1, 2019 

Proposed amendments to create a new land use district in the 

Queens Business Park area – Bylaw 3357 / N-2019  

Proposed Amendments:  

Bylaw 3398/A-2019 –West QE2 Major Area Structure Plan (MASP)  

Bylaw 3399/A-2019 –Queens Business Park Industrial Area Structure 

Plan (IASP) 

Bylaw 3469/A-2019 –Queens Business Park SE 36 Industrial Area 

Structure Plan (IASP)  

Planning Department  

 

Report Summary & Recommendation 
An external application has been made to expand the current uses considered on lands backing onto the 

QE2 Highway in the Queens Business Park area.  Currently the MASP and IASPs show the future uses for 

these lands as only a vehicle dealership district.  The current zoning for these lands include I1 Industrial 

(Business Park), A1 Future Urban Development, and DC (24).  Only the DC (24) district allows for 

dealerships to be developed.  Since the MASP was adopted in 2007, the economic demand for vehicle 

dealerships has changed and may no longer be the best single land use for this area.  The intent of the 

application is to expand the development potential to allow for parcels along the QE2 Highway to have 

both I1 uses and vehicle dealership opportunities.   

 

Administration recommends the following action: 

1. Council approves first reading of Bylaw 3357/N-2019 (LUB) – See Appendix 1 – Proposed Bylaws 

2. Council approves first reading of Bylaw 3398/A-2019 (MASP) – See Appendix 1 – Proposed 

Bylaws 

3. Council approves first reading of Bylaw 3399/A-2019 (Queens Business Park IASP) – Appendix 1 – 

Proposed Bylaws 

4. Council approves first reading of Bylaw 3469/A-2019 (Queens Business Park SE 36 IASP) – See 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Bylaws 
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City Manager Comments  
I support the recommendation of Administration.  If first reading of Bylaw 3357/N-2019, Bylaw 3398/A-

2019, Bylaw 3399/A-2019 and Bylaw 3469/A-2019 are given, these bylaws will be advertised for 2 

consecutive weeks with a Joint Public Hearing to be held on Monday, May 27, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. during 

Council’s regular meeting. 

 

Tara Lodewyk 

Interim City Manager 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Resolution  
That the following bylaws be read a first time: 

- Bylaw 3357/N-2019 

- Bylaw 3398/A-2019 

- Bylaw 3399/A-2019 

- Bylaw 3469/A-2019 
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Rationale for Recommendation 
 

1. Reflects the current economic demand of the subject lands 

Since initial planning was done for this area, the demand for vehicle dealerships has changed.  

This series of bylaws reflect that change and allows more flexibility in the future in response to 

market demands and economic drivers. 

 

2. Proposed amendment is in keeping with intent of the West QE2 MASP, Queens Business Park 

IASP, and Queens Business Park SE 36 IASP  to have all of the lands within the same land use 

district 

The MASP and IASPs show these lands all with the same development potential due to the 

location adjacent to the highway.  The LUB amendment will redesignate all of the DC (24) and 

applicable I1 properties to the same new proposed combined district.   

 

3. Supported by impacted landowners 

No planning related concerns have been expressed by affected landowners.  

 

Discussion 
 

Background 

In 2007 the City annexed the lands now developed as Queens Business Park.  Later that year the City 

adopted the West QE2 MASP and the Queens Business Park IASP which replaced previous plans adopted 

by Red Deer County for the area.   

 

At the time of the adoption of the MASP there was discussion about allowing vehicle dealerships within 

the area due to an existing dealership in place prior to annexation.  It was also noted that vehicle 

dealerships were an allowed use under the County’s LUB and some property owners were seeking to 

retain this opportunity.  Through review and analyzation it was determined for many reasons that 

parcels with frontage along the QE2 Highway, given the visibility and large parcel size, would be suitable 

for vehicle dealership use.  

 

Based on these discussions, Council had identified an area which would allow industrial uses as well as a 

unique area adjacent to the highway for only vehicle dealerships, along the same lines as what the 

County had previously allowed.  Previous to this vehicle dealerships within the City were only allowed 

within commercial areas.  As a result, in 2007, the MASP identified three parcels as vehicle dealerships 

(DC (24)).  See Appendix 2 – Development Concepts for these statutory plans. 

 

In February 2010 amendments related to the dealership area in the MASP and the Queens Business Park 

IASP were approved by Council.  One of the intents of the amendment was to clarify the types of uses 

allowed within the dealerships area to prevent potential land uses conflicts as well as to expand the area 

where vehicle dealerships could be considered.  Expansion was considered as there was landowner 

interest for more vehicle dealerships.  As a result, vehicle dealerships were expanded to include the 

southern-most parcel within the Queens Business Park IASP backing onto the QE2 Highway, all the way 

south to the City-County border (see Appendix 2). 
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In April 2015 the Queens Business Park SE 36 IASP was adopted by Council.  This plan was consistent 

with the MASP in that all of the lands backing onto the QE2 Highway were identified as a future vehicle 

dealership (see Appendix 2 – Development Concepts). 

 

At the time when the MASP and IASPs were adopted and amended, only the parcels which received 

landowner interest were redesignated to the DC (24) district, a district which would accommodate 

vehicle dealerships along the QE2 Highway within the Queens Business Park.  This meant that although 

the plans indicated that the future land use was a vehicle dealership, parcels that did not wish to change 

to DC (24) kept their original land use districts, being either I1 or A1.  In the case of previous County 

industrial lands, the lands were redesignated to the I1 district.  And in the case of undeveloped lands, 

the lands were redesignated to A1.  In 2009 and 2018 the LUB was amended to include additional 

properties within the DC (24) district.  Currently there are six DC (24) parcels (see Appendix 3 – Lands for 

Redesignation). 

 

Current Proposal 

The application is to establish the same development potential, through land use districting, for all of 

the serviced lands, DC (24) and I1, in the Queens Business Park backing onto the QE2 Highway.  The A1 

lands that are backing onto the QE2 Highway have not been included at this time. These lands are 

largely undeveloped and would require further planning and servicing prior to being developed; as a 

result, it was determined to be premature to redistrict the A1 lands at this time.  When the A1 lands are 

developed it expected that the developer will apply to have them redesignated to the new district prior 

to development.  A map of the lands to be redesignated is included in Appendix 3 – Lands for 

Redesignation.   

 

Since 2010 when the MASP was amended to expand the vehicle dealership area, the economic demand 

for dealerships has declined. Since this time only one additional dealership has received permits; 

therefore continuing to keep this land for only one use may no longer the best use of land.  The 

amendment allows for flexible long term market and economic diversity. 

 

Rather than amend the current DC (24) district, Administration is proposing to create a new land use 

district which combines the uses considered and regulations applied in the DC (24) district and the I1 

district.  As both districts have remained adjacent to each other since 2007 there are no concerns of 

incompatibility between the uses and therefore no need for a Direct Control District.  In combining these 

districts no additional regulations or uses have been added that were not in either previous district.  

Administration does not foresee this district being used in other areas of the City therefore the purpose 

states that the district is applicable to only those areas in the Queens Business Park backing onto the 

QE2 Highway. 

 

Both the DC (24) and the affected I1 property owners benefit from the new district as each will have 

added development potential through additional uses being considered.  A summary of how the new 

district affects each the DC (24) and I1 landowners has been included in Appendix 4 – Summary of 

Changes. 

 

The Municipal Government Act requires all statutory plans to be consistent with one another.  As a 

result of the new land use district, the corresponding MASP and IASPs also need to be amended to 

ensure consistency between each of the plans.  Apart from the creation of the new land use district, no 

other changes have occurred in the plans.  See Appendix 4 – Summary of Changes for text changes to 

the plans. 
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Dialogue 

The application was circulated to various City departments for review. All concerns have been 

considered and are reflected in the proposed bylaws.   

 

In total, three referral letters were sent out to landowners.  In October 2018 the first letter was 

addressed to the current DC (24) landowners. This letter explained the intent of the application and the 

potential impacts to their land.  In November 2018 the second letter was addressed to the affected I1 

landowners, it also explained the intent of the application and the potential impacts to their lands. A 

third referral letter was sent out to all landowners within 100m of the property in January 2019.  In 

total, the City received two letters back – one from the DC (24) landowners letter, and one from the I1 

landowners letter.  Appendix 5: Dialogue includes copies of communication between the City and area 

landowners. 

 

The Planning Department also had additional consultation with an A1 landowner to discuss the 

redistricting. The landowner indicated that rezoning the A1 lands would be premature at this time. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Bylaws  

Appendix 2 – Development Concepts 

Appendix 3 – Lands for Redesignation 

Appendix 4 – Summary of Changes 

Appendix 5 – Dialogue 
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APPENDIX 1 
Proposed Bylaws
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BYLAW NO. 3398/A-2019 

 
Being a Bylaw to amend Bylaw No. 3398/2007, the West QE2 (West of Highway 
Queen Elizabeth II) Major Area Structure Plan as described herein. 
 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER, ALBERTA, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Bylaw No. 3398/2007 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

1. The second paragraph in Section 1.3 Background is amended to: 
 

“In order to address evolving land use and transportation 
considerations, amendments to the West QE2 MASP were 
proposed in 2009. Amendments specific to evolving land use were 
proposed in 2019.” 

 
2. Section 4.1.2 Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle, and Machinery District is 

amended by adding the following text at the end of the existing text. 
 

“Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control district, DC 
(24),  has been replaced with the I1B/AD district which combined 
the DC (24) and I1 district uses and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-
2019).  The intent of this amendment was to reflect the current 
market demands and expand the number of considered uses in this 
area while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district uses.”    

 
3. Section 4.3.3(b) Collector Roadways is amended by adding the 

following text at the end of the existing text. 
 

“In 2019 the DC (24) was replaced with the I1B/AD district which 
combined the DC (24) and I1 district uses and regulations (Bylaw 
3357/N-2019).” 
 

4. Table 1: Land Use Statistics is amended from specifying “Vehicle and 
Machinery Sales and Service (Direct Control District)” to “Combined 
Industrial (Business Service) and automobile dealerships” 
 

5. Figure 3 – Land Use Concept is amended from specifying “Vehicle, 
Recreational Vehicle, and Machinery Dealership District” to “Combined 
Industrial (Business Service) and automobile dealerships” 

 
 
READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of      2019. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this     day of         2019. 
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READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of        2019. 
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this   day of      2019. 
 
 
 
 
             
MAYOR      CITY CLERK 
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BYLAW NO. 3399/A-2019 

 
Being a Bylaw to amend Bylaw No. 3399/2007, the Queens Business Park 
Industrial Area Structure Plan as described herein. 
 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER, ALBERTA, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Bylaw No. 3399/2007 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

1. Section 3.1.4 Vehicle, Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery Dealerships 
District is amended by adding the following text at the end of the 
existing text. 
 

“Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control district, DC 
(24),  has been replaced with the I1B/AD district which combined 
the DC (24) and I1 district uses and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-
2019).  The intent of this amendment was to reflect the current 
market demands and expand the number of considered uses in this 
area while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district uses.”    
 

2. Section 5.3 Land Use Bylaw is amended by adding the following 
paragraph between the existing second and third paragraphs: 
 

“The lands identified for combined I1 uses and automobile 
dealerships shall be rezoned to I1B/AD Industrial (Business Service 
and Automobile Dealership) District.” 

 
3. Table 1: Land Use Statistics is amended from specifying “Vehicle, 

Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery Dealerships” to “I1B/AD – 
Combination of I1 uses and automobile dealerships.” 
 

4. Figure 2 – Land Use Concept is amended from specifying “Vehicle, 
Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery Dealership District (DC-24)” to 
“I1B/AD – Combination of I1 uses and automobile dealerships. 

 
 
READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of      2019. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this     day of         2019. 
 
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of        2019. 
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this   day of      2019. 
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MAYOR      CITY CLERK 
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BYLAW NO. 3496/A-2019 
 
Being a Bylaw to amend Bylaw No. 3496/2013, the Queens Business Park SE 36 
Industrial Area Structure Plan as described herein. 
 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER, ALBERTA, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Bylaw No. 3496/2013 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

1. Section 3.1.2 Development Concept District Rezoning is amended by 
adding the following text at the end of the existing text. 
 

“Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control district, DC 
(24),  has been replaced with the I1B/AD district which combined 
the DC (24) and I1 district uses and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-
2019).  The intent of this amendment was to reflect the current 
market demands and expand the number of considered uses in this 
area while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district uses.”    
 

2. Section 3.2.3 Roadways is amended by adding the following text at the 
end of the existing text. 

 
“In 2019 the DC (24) Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle and Machinery 
Dealerships District was replaced with the I1B/AD district which 
combined the DC (24) and I1 district uses and regulations (Bylaw 
3357/N-2019).” 
 

3. Section 5.3 Land Use Bylaw is amended by adding the following text at 
the end of the existing text. 
 

“Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control district, DC 
(24),  has been replaced with the I1B/AD district which combined 
the DC (24) and I1 district uses and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-
2019).  The intent of this amendment was to reflect the current 
market demands and expand the number of considered uses in this 
area while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district uses.”    
 

4. Table 1: Land Use Statistics is amended from specifying “Direct 
Control (Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle, and Machinery Dealership 
District)” to “I1B/AD – Combination of I1 uses and automobile 
dealerships”. 
 

5. Figure 3 Development Concept is amended from specifying “Vehicle, 
Recreational Vehicle, and Machinery Dealerships District (DC (24))” to 
“I1B/AD – Combination of I1 uses and automobile dealerships”. 

 
 

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 158 Item No. 5.3.



READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of      2019. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this     day of         2019. 
 
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of        2019. 
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this   day of      2019. 
 
 
 
 
             
MAYOR      CITY CLERK 
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BYLAW NO. 3357 / N – 2019 
 
Being a Bylaw to amend Bylaw No. 3357/2006, the Land Use Bylaw of The City 
of Red Deer as described herein. 
 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER, ALBERTA, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Bylaw No. 3357/2006 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

1. The reference to Section 6.4 (2)(a) in the General Purpose in Section 
6.1 I1 Industrial (Business Service) District is amended to Section 6.5 
(2)(a). 
 

2. The reference to Section 6.4 in Section 6.1 .2(b) I1 Industrial (Business 
Service) District Regulations is amended to Section 6.5. 
 

3. The reference to Section 6.4 (2)(b) in the General Purpose in Section 
6.2 I2 Industrial (Heavy Industrial) District is amended to Section 6.5 
(2)(b). 
 

4. The reference to Section 6.4 in Section 6.2 .2(b) I2 Industrial (Heavy 
Industrial) District Regulations is amended to Section 6.5. 
 

5. The references to Section 6.4(2) and 6.4(3)(a) and (b) in Section 
6.3.1(a)(xi)(7)(c) I1A/BSR (Light Industrial and Business Service-
Residential) District is amended to Sections 6.5(2) and 6.5(3)(a) and 
(b). 

 
6. The reference to Section 6.4 in Section 6.3.2 I1A/BSR (Industrial Light 

Industrial and Business Service-Residential) District Regulations is 
amended to Section 6.5. 

 
7. Section 6.4 General Industrial District Regulations is renumbered to 

Section 6.5 General Industrial District Regulations.   
 

8. The existing content in Section 6.4 (1)(a) Site Development is replaced 
with: 
 

“Within the I1A/BSR, I1B/AD, I1, and I2 Districts Site Plans, the 
relationship between Buildings, Structures and open space, the 
architectural treatment of Buildings, the provision and 
architecture of landscaped open space, and the parking layout, 
shall be subject to the approval by the Development Authority.” 

 
9. The reference to Section 6.4(6) in Section 6.4 .2(a)(7) Industrial 

Standards Definitions is amended to Section 6.5(6). 
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10. The reference to Section 6.4(2) in Section 6.4(3)(b) General Industrial 
Performance Standards is amended to Section 6.5(2). 
 

11. The following land use district is created and added as Section 6.4 of 
the Bylaw: 

 
6.4 I1B/AD Industrial (Business Service and Automobile 
Dealership) District 
 
General Purpose  
The general purpose of this District is to provide for development in 
the Queens Business Park for those Sites identified as light 
industrial with a vehicle dealership component in the West QE2 
Major Area Structure Plan.  Development provides for a limited 
range of light industrial, Warehousing, storage, Industrial Support 
Services, and vehicle sales and related uses such as Service and 
Repair.  Development will be within the performance standards of 
section 6.5(2)(a), the operation of which do not create or emit 
noises, odours, dust, fumes or other factors which are regarded as 
nuisances.   In addition, this District will provide for development 
that is complimentary to adjacent industrial uses and recognizes 
highway exposure.   
 
1. I1B/AD Permitted and Discretionary Uses Table  
 
(a) Permitted Uses  
(i) Accessory Buildings or Accessory Uses (excluding 

sales)  
(ii) Accessory Use - sales related to manufacturing, 

processing, and/or distribution of any good (excluding 
Motor Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service 
and Repair) 

(iii) Building Sign  
(iv) Freestanding Sign 

(v) Industrial Support Services  
(vi) Manufacture, processing, distribution, repair, servicing, 

and/or rental of any goods (excluding Motor Vehicle, 
Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service and Repair) 

(vii) Outdoor Storage not in association with Motor Vehicle, 
Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service and Repair  

(viii) Service Stations 
(ix) Warehousing  
 
 (b) Discretionary Uses  
(i) Above ground storage tanks for motor fuel products 

including propane and used oil  
(ii) Accessory Use - Outdoor Display or Sale of Goods 
(iii) Alternative/Renewable Energy Facility on Sites 
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designated in an Eco Industrial Park Overlay District 
(iv) Animal Services  
(v) Auction marts (excluding livestock)  
(vi) Billboard Sign 
(vii) Crematorium  
(viii) Dynamic Fascia Sign  
(ix) Dynamic Freestanding Sign  
(x) Dangerous Goods Occupancy  
(xi) Industrial Trade Schools (maximum capacity of 60 

persons)  
(xii) Manufactured Homes Sales 
(xiii) Motor Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service 

and Repair  
(xiv) Outdoor Storage in association with Motor Vehicle, 

Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service and Repair  
(xv) Pet Crematorium  
(xvi) Restaurant 
(xvii) Transportation, Communication or Utility Facility  
(xviii) Uses that may consume waste materials, outputs, or 

by-products that are produced by an industrial 
operation within an Eco Industrial Park Overlay 
District. This use does not include Cannabis Retail 
Sales  

(xix) Uses that produce waste materials, outputs, or by-
products that may be used as inputs for an industrial 
operation within the Eco Industrial Park Overlay 
District. This use does not include Cannabis Retail 
Sales  

 
 

2. I1B/AD Development Standards 

 
(a) Table 6.4 I1B/AD Development Standards 

 

Development Standards Requirements 

Floor Area Minimum n/a 

Building Height Maximum n/a 

Front Yard Minimum 6.0 m 

Side Yard Minimum 6.0 m one side 

Rear Yard Minimum 3.0 m 

Landscaped Area 40 % of minimum Front Yard 

Parking Spaces Subject to section 3.1 and 3.2 

Loading Spaces Subject to section 3.7 

Site Area Minimum 929.0 m
2
 

Frontage Minimum 22.0 m 

 
(b) The I1B/AD District is subject to any applicable development 

standards listed within section 6.5 General Industrial District 
Regulations.  
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(c) All Development shall meet the requirements of section 7.15 
Major Entry Areas Overlay District.  

 
12. The existing content in Section 8.20.4 Direct Control District No. 24 DC 

(24) is replaced with “DELETED”. 
 

13. Section 11.13 Freestanding Sign Development Standards is amended 
by deleting the row in Table 1 pertaining to DC(24), and adding the 
following new row in Table 1 below the I1A/BSR district. 
 

Districts Maximum Sign Height Maximum Sign Area 

I1B/AD 9.0 m  12.0 m2 

 
14. The land shown in the sketch attached as Schedule A to this Bylaw is 

redesignated from I1 Industrial (Business Service) District and Direct 
Control District No. 24 to I1B/AD Industrial (Business Service and 
Automobile Dealership) District. 

 
15. The “Land Use District Maps H19, H20, and H21” contained in 

“Schedule A” of the Land Use Bylaw are hereby amended in 
accordance with the Land Use District Map 13 / 2019 attached hereto 
and forming part of the bylaw.  

  
 
READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of      2019. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this     day of         2019. 
 
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of        2019. 
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this   day of      2019. 
 
 
 
 
             
MAYOR      CITY CLERK 
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APPENDIX 2 
Development Concepts  
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West QE2 MASP Land Use Concept - 2007
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West QE2 MASP Land Use Concept - 2010
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Queens Business Park IASP Land Use Concept
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Queens Business Park SE 36 IASP Development Concept

  

Vehicle Dealership area 
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APPENDIX 3 
Lands for Redesignation   
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APPENDIX 4 
Summary of Changes 
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Land Use Bylaw 3357/N-2019 
Changes affecting current DC24 landowners Changes affecting current I1 landowners 

Additional permitted uses:  
 Accessory Buildings or Accessory Uses (excluding 

sales)  
 Accessory Use - Sales related to manufacturing, 

processing, and/or distribution of any good 
(excluding Motor Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery 
Sales, Service and Repair) 

 Industrial Support Services  
 Manufacture, processing, distribution, repair, 

servicing, and/or rental of any goods (excluding 
Motor Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service 
and Repair) 

 Outdoor Storage not in association with Motor 
Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service and 
Repair  

 Service Stations 
 Warehousing  

 

Additional permitted uses: 
 None 

Additional discretionary uses: 
 Above ground storage tanks for motor fuel 

products including propane and used oil  
 Accessory Use - Outdoor Display or Sale of Goods 
 Alternative/Renewable Energy Facility on Sites 

designated in an Eco Industrial Park Overlay District 
 Animal Services  
 Auction marts (excluding livestock)  
 Billboard Sign 
 Crematorium  
 Dynamic Fascia Sign  
 Dynamic Freestanding Sign  
 Dangerous Goods Occupancy  
 Industrial Trade Schools (maximum capacity of 60 

persons)  
 Manufactured Homes sales 
 Pet Crematorium  
 Restaurant 
 Transportation, Communication or Utility Facility  
 Uses that may consume waste materials, outputs, 

or by-products that are produced by an industrial 
operation within an Eco Industrial Park Overlay 
District. This use does not include Cannabis Retail 
Sales  

 Uses that produce waste materials, outputs, or by-
products that may be used as inputs for an 
industrial operation within the Eco Industrial Park 
Overlay District. This use does not include Cannabis 
Retail Sales 

Additional discretionary uses: 
 Motor Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery Sales, 

Service and Repair  
 Outdoor Storage in association with Motor 

Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service and 
Repair  

 

Other: 
 Building sign and freestanding sign changes from a 

discretionary use to a permitted use 

Other: 
Changes regarding permitted uses 

 Accessory sales of used trucks, used auto 
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Changes affecting current DC24 landowners Changes affecting current I1 landowners 

 The requirement for lighting to not interfere with 
highway traffic and to be approved by the 
Development Authority has been removed; Alberta 
Transportation reviews this according to their 
standards. 

mobiles and used holiday trailers, providing that 
collectively there are not more than three units 
for sale on the site at any one time.  

This use is deleted as a permitted use as it is included 
in a broader context under the discretionary use Motor 
Vehicle, Trailer and Machinery Sales, Service and 
Repair. 

 
West QE2 MASP Bylaw 3398/A-2019 
Existing Text Proposed Text (new text in red font) 

Second Paragraph of 1.3 Background 
 
In order to address evolving land use and transportation 
considerations, amendments to the West QE2 MASP 
were proposed in 2009. 

Second Paragraph of 1.3 Background 
 
In order to address evolving land use and transportation 
considerations, amendments to the West QE2 MASP 
were proposed in 2009. Amendments specific to 
evolving land use were proposed in 2019. 

4.1.2   Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle, and Machinery 
Dealerships District 
 
Parcels located along Highway QEII have higher than 
the usual visibility given the volume of traffic passing by 
on the highway.  While the West QE2 area is intended 
as an industrial area, it is recognized that not all 
industrial uses require this amount of exposure.  On the 
other hand, it has been suggested that many 
commercial land uses (specifically vehicle, recreational 
vehicle, and machinery dealerships) do require 
moderate to highly visible locations.  In considering the 
most appropriate use of the parcels along Highway QEII, 
many needs and issues had to be considered as these 
related to both industrial and vehicle sales related land 
uses.   
 
Review of traffic considerations, development needs, 
current development levels and pressures, and the 
mitigation and prevention of conflict between land uses 
were all key components in looking at future land use in 
this location.    In brief, planning and traffic engineering 
research indicated that parcels along Highway QEII are 
highly visible allowing the type of marketing 
opportunities required by vehicle dealers.  It was also 
acknowledged that some of the properties are already 
operating as dealerships.  Under I1 zoning, these 
businesses would be non-conforming.  Further, studies 
indicated that vehicle and machinery sales and service 
uses in the area can be supported through roadway 
enhancements and should not cause excessive conflict 
with other land uses in the area if restricted to specific 
locations.   
 

4.1.2   Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle, and Machinery 
Dealerships District 
 
Parcels located along Highway QEII have higher than 
the usual visibility given the volume of traffic passing by 
on the highway.  While the West QE2 area is intended 
as an industrial area, it is recognized that not all 
industrial uses require this amount of exposure.  On the 
other hand, it has been suggested that many 
commercial land uses (specifically vehicle, recreational 
vehicle, and machinery dealerships) do require 
moderate to highly visible locations.  In considering the 
most appropriate use of the parcels along Highway QEII, 
many needs and issues had to be considered as these 
related to both industrial and vehicle sales related land 
uses.   
 
Review of traffic considerations, development needs, 
current development levels and pressures, and the 
mitigation and prevention of conflict between land uses 
were all key components in looking at future land use in 
this location.    In brief, planning and traffic engineering 
research indicated that parcels along Highway QEII are 
highly visible allowing the type of marketing 
opportunities required by vehicle dealers.  It was also 
acknowledged that some of the properties are already 
operating as dealerships.  Under I1 zoning, these 
businesses would be non-conforming.  Further, studies 
indicated that vehicle and machinery sales and service 
uses in the area can be supported through roadway 
enhancements and should not cause excessive conflict 
with other land uses in the area if restricted to specific 
locations.   
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Therefore, specific parcels adjacent to the Highway 
QEII, as identified on Figure 3, have been designated for 
a specialized land use district which will build upon the 
key locational attributes of these parcels.  This  
specialized district allows for the continued operation 
of the land uses which are existing at present (where 
development has already occurred), but also allows for 
the development of automobile dealerships and vehicle 
sales/service including recreational vehicles, heavy 
machinery and trucks, cars and automotive vehicles, as 
well as trailer sales and service. 
 
This district will be implemented through the use of 
direct control zoning (a Direct Control or DC District).  
Additional detail regarding this district will be contained 
in future IASPs. 

Therefore, specific parcels adjacent to the Highway 
QEII, as identified on Figure 3, have been designated for 
a specialized land use district which will build upon the 
key locational attributes of these parcels.  This  
specialized district allows for the continued operation 
of the land uses which are existing at present (where 
development has already occurred), but also allows for 
the development of automobile dealerships and vehicle 
sales/service including recreational vehicles, heavy 
machinery and trucks, cars and automotive vehicles, as 
well as trailer sales and service. 
 
This district will be implemented through the use of 
direct control zoning (a Direct Control or DC District).  
Additional detail regarding this district will be contained 
in future IASPs. 
 
Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control 
district, DC (24), has been replaced with the I1B/AD 
district which combined the DC (24) and I1 district uses 
and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-2019).  The intent of this 
amendment was to reflect the current market demands 
and expand the number of considered uses in this area 
while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district 
uses. 

(b) Collector Roadways 
 
Designated collector roadways are identified on Figure 
3. Typically a collector roadway provides direct frontage 
access to abutting land uses, provides public parking on 
both sides, accommodates snow storage, serves as a 
transit route and, where required by The City, provides 
sidewalks.  
 
However, as described previously, the MASP establishes 
a direct control district (DC24) to allow for vehicle, 
recreational vehicle, and machinery dealerships along 
the east boundary of the plan area.  To prevent or 
lessen any potential traffic conflicts and ensure 
compatibility for dealerships, which are a unique use 
being situated in what is a primarily industrial area, 
some variation of these typical practises will be 
necessary for roadways serving the Direct Control area.  
Specifically, it is the intention of this MASP to restrict 
parking along the collector road serving the dealerships.   
 
The alignment of collector roadways proposed on 
Figure 3 is based on the standard of 400 metre 
minimum intersection spacing onto arterial roadways 
and 800 metre intersection spacing onto expressways, 
as well as the requirement for collector street linkages 

(b) Collector Roadways 
 
Designated collector roadways are identified on Figure 
3. Typically a collector roadway provides direct frontage 
access to abutting land uses, provides public parking on 
both sides, accommodates snow storage, serves as a 
transit route and, where required by The City, provides 
sidewalks.  
 
However, as described previously, the MASP establishes 
a direct control district (DC24) to allow for vehicle, 
recreational vehicle, and machinery dealerships along 
the east boundary of the plan area.  To prevent or 
lessen any potential traffic conflicts and ensure 
compatibility for dealerships, which are a unique use 
being situated in what is a primarily industrial area, 
some variation of these typical practises will be 
necessary for roadways serving the Direct Control area.  
Specifically, it is the intention of this MASP to restrict 
parking along the collector road serving the dealerships.   
 
The alignment of collector roadways proposed on 
Figure 3 is based on the standard of 400 metre 
minimum intersection spacing onto arterial roadways 
and 800 metre intersection spacing onto expressways, 
as well as the requirement for collector street linkages 

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 175 Item No. 5.3.



Existing Text Proposed Text (new text in red font) 

between adjacent quarter sections without creating 
opportunities for shortcutting. 
 
Sidewalks (1.5 metres in width) will be constructed 
along one side of collector roadways as required. 

between adjacent quarter sections without creating 
opportunities for shortcutting. 
 
Sidewalks (1.5 metres in width) will be constructed 
along one side of collector roadways as required. 
 
In 2019 the DC (24) was replaced with the I1B/AD 
district which combined the DC (24) and I1 district uses 
and regulations. 

Table 1: Land Use Statistics 
Vehicle and Machinery Sales and Service (Direct Control 
District) 

Table 1: Land Use Statistics 
Combined Industrial (Business Service) and automobile 
dealerships 

Figure 3 – Land Use Concept 
Vehicle, Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery Dealership 
District 

Figure 3 – Land Use Concept 
Combined Industrial (Business Service) and automobile 
dealerships 

 
Queens Business Park IASP Bylaw 3399/A-2019 
Existing Text Proposed Text (new text in red font) 

3.1.4 Vehicle, Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery 
Dealerships District 
 
As identified in Figure 2, some of the land which has 
frontage on QEll Highway will be designated specifically 
for automotive, trailer, heavy machinery, and 
recreation vehicle sales dealerships.  Adjacent parcels 
to the south (out of the boundary of this IASP but with 
the MASP) will also be redesignated to direct control 
district to accommodate such sales lots. The visibility of 
this location, as well as some pre-existing dealerships to 
the south, make this an attractive location for motor 
vehicle, recreation vehicle and trailer dealerships . 
There has also been some suggestion that Red Deer has 
a shortage of larger sites to accommodate new 
dealerships. While the dealerships will likely contain 
accessory uses such as repair, car wash, and parts sales, 
the focus of this direct control district is on the 
establishment of new or existing dealerships that will 
serve residents of Red Deer and the surrounding areas. 
 
In planning for the location of automotive, recreation 
vehicle, and trailer dealers it is recognized that efforts 
must be taken to prevent conflicts between 
surrounding industrial uses and these types of 
commercial uses. By requiring all developed properties 
to meet city requirements for parking, signage, lighting, 
and landscaping it is expected that conflicts between 
industrial traffic and traffic generated by the 
dealerships as well as conflicts between industrial land 
uses and this form of motor vehicles focused 
commercial use can be effectively minimized or 

3.1.4 Vehicle, Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery 
Dealerships District 
 
As identified in Figure 2, some of the land which has 
frontage on QEll Highway will be designated specifically 
for automotive, trailer, heavy machinery, and 
recreation vehicle sales dealerships.  Adjacent parcels 
to the south (out of the boundary of this IASP but with 
the MASP) will also be redesignated to direct control 
district to accommodate such sales lots. The visibility of 
this location, as well as some pre-existing dealerships to 
the south, make this an attractive location for motor 
vehicle, recreation vehicle and trailer dealerships . 
There has also been some suggestion that Red Deer has 
a shortage of larger sites to accommodate new 
dealerships. While the dealerships will likely contain 
accessory uses such as repair, car wash, and parts sales, 
the focus of this direct control district is on the 
establishment of new or existing dealerships that will 
serve residents of Red Deer and the surrounding areas. 
 
In planning for the location of automotive, recreation 
vehicle, and trailer dealers it is recognized that efforts 
must be taken to prevent conflicts between 
surrounding industrial uses and these types of 
commercial uses. By requiring all developed properties 
to meet city requirements for parking, signage, lighting, 
and landscaping it is expected that conflicts between 
industrial traffic and traffic generated by the 
dealerships as well as conflicts between industrial land 
uses and this form of motor vehicles focused 
commercial use can be effectively minimized or 
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mitigated. 
 
In addition, land within this district may be subject to 
additional site standards (such as lighting, signage, 
waste removal, parking, landscaping) to reflect its highly 
visible location and its commercial nature. 

mitigated. 
 
In addition, land within this district may be subject to 
additional site standards (such as lighting, signage, 
waste removal, parking, landscaping) to reflect its highly 
visible location and its commercial nature. 
 
Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control 
district, DC (24), has been replaced with the I1B/AD 
district which combined the DC (24) and I1 district uses 
and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-2019).  The intent of this 
amendment was to reflect the current market demands 
and expand the number of considered uses in this area 
while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district 
uses.   

5.3 Land Use Bylaw 
 
The subdivision of land within the plan area is subject to 
subsequent successful rezoning of the land. The 
majority of the lands will remain within the A1 Future 
Urban Development District until such time that 
municipal services are provided to these lands and the 
rezoning process occurs. 
 
The proposed industrial lands shall be rezoned to either 
I1 Industrial (Business Service) District or the I2 
Industrial (Heavy Industrial) District. Lands within an 
eco-industrial park shall be contained within a new 
specific eco-industrial district or within the I1 Industrial 
(Business Service) District but be subject to specific 
requirements. 
 
The commercial nodes shall be rezoned to C4 
Commercial (Major Arterial) District. 
 
Lands intended to preserve natural capital, will be 
districted to the A2 Environmental Preservation District. 
Other municipal reserve lots will be districted into the 
P1 Parks & Recreation District. 
 
The lands adjacent to Highways QEll and 11A will be 
designated as a major entry area into the city with 
increased landscaping standards for development 
adjacent to this highway. 
 

5.3 Land Use Bylaw 
 
The subdivision of land within the plan area is subject to 
subsequent successful rezoning of the land. The 
majority of the lands will remain within the A1 Future 
Urban Development District until such time that 
municipal services are provided to these lands and the 
rezoning process occurs. 
 
The proposed industrial lands shall be rezoned to either 
I1 Industrial (Business Service) District or the I2 
Industrial (Heavy Industrial) District. Lands within an 
eco-industrial park shall be contained within a new 
specific eco-industrial district or within the I1 Industrial 
(Business Service) District but be subject to specific 
requirements. 
 
The lands identified for combined I1 uses and 
automobile dealerships shall be rezoned to I1B/AD 
Industrial (Business Service and Automobile Dealership) 
District. 
 
The commercial nodes shall be rezoned to C4 
Commercial (Major Arterial) District. 
 
Lands intended to preserve natural capital, will be 
districted to the A2 Environmental Preservation District. 
Other municipal reserve lots will be districted into the 
P1 Parks & Recreation District. 
 
The lands adjacent to Highways QEll and 11A will be 
designated as a major entry area into the city with 
increased landscaping standards for development 
adjacent to this highway. 

Table 1: Land Use Statistics  
Vehicle, Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery Dealerships 

Table 1: Land Use Statistics 
I1B/AD – Combination of I1 uses and automobile 
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dealerships 

Figure 2 – Land Use Concept 
Vehicle, Recreation Vehicle, and Machinery Dealership 
District (DC-24) 

Figure 2 – Land Use Concept 
I1B/AD – Combination of I1 uses and automobile 
dealerships 

 
Queens Business Park SE36 IASP Bylaw 3469/A-2019 
Existing Text Proposed Test (new text in red font) 

3.1.2  Development Concept District Rezoning 
 
The majority of the parcels of land including an existing 
farmstead, within the plan area are currently zoned as 
A1 Future Urban Development District with a small 
portion of the land in the south east corner currently 
zoned as DC(24), the Vehicle Recreational Vehicle, and 
the Machinery Dealerships District along the QE II 
Highway. 
 
As per Figure 3 Development Concept, the current 
south east corner would remain DC(24) the Vehicle 
Recreational Vehicle, and the Machinery Dealerships 
District and zoning of these lands as DC(24) 
accommodates the existing uses and intents (vehicle 
and trailer sales and service), as these uses do not 
conform to the I1 Industrial (Business Service) District 
proposed for the remainder of industrial uses in the 
plan area.  
  
The remainder existing A1 zoning would be rezoned to 
l1 Industrial (Business Service) District as per Figure 3 
Development Concept. 

3.1.2  Development Concept District Rezoning 
 
The majority of the parcels of land including an existing 
farmstead, within the plan area are currently zoned as 
A1 Future Urban Development District with a small 
portion of the land in the south east corner currently 
zoned as DC(24), the Vehicle Recreational Vehicle, and 
the Machinery Dealerships District along the QE II 
Highway. 
 
As per Figure 3 Development Concept, the current 
south east corner would remain DC(24) the Vehicle 
Recreational Vehicle, and the Machinery Dealerships 
District and zoning of these lands as DC(24) 
accommodates the existing uses and intents (vehicle 
and trailer sales and service), as these uses do not 
conform to the I1 Industrial (Business Service) District 
proposed for the remainder of industrial uses in the 
plan area.   
 
The remainder existing A1 zoning would be rezoned to 
l1 Industrial (Business Service) District as per Figure 3 
Development Concept. 
 
Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control 
district, DC (24), has been replaced with the I1B/AD 
district which combined the DC (24) and I1 district uses 
and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-2019).  The intent of this 
amendment was to reflect the current market demands 
and expand the number of considered uses in this area 
while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district 
uses. 
 

3.2.3 Roadways 
 
Roadways identified on Figure 3 are in accordance with 
the major road network determined within the West 
QE2 Major Area Structure Plan. Typical roadway cross 
sections are illustrated in Figure 8. 
 
Figure 3 also shows the proposed local roads.  Local 
roads may not be completely constructed as shown.  
Construction of the roads will depend on current 

3.2.3 Roadways 
 
Roadways identified on Figure 3 are in accordance with 
the major road network determined within the West 
QE2 Major Area Structure Plan. Typical roadway cross 
sections are illustrated in Figure 8. 
 
Figure 3 also shows the proposed local roads.  Local 
roads may not be completely constructed as shown.  
Construction of the roads will depend on current 
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market trends and needs (large lot development 
compared with smaller lots).  Where a local road is 
deemed not to be needed it will not be constructed.     
 
However, in the event that a local road, or portion 
thereof, is developed, it is to be constructed within the 
road boundaries and access locations shown in this 
plan.  Any variation deemed significant by planning 
staff, from the identified locations, may require an IASP 
amendment.  Easements and public utility lots would be 
required to accommodate municipal services in the 
event that the complete network of local roads is not 
constructed.   
 
The land for the undivided arterial road shown in Figure 
3 is to be dedicated as part of the initial phase of 
construction. Construction of the arterial roadway will 
be the responsibility of the City of Red Deer. A portion 
of the 38 metre wide right of way for the arterial 
roadway will be on the adjacent property to the west.  
In the event that the adjacent landowner to the west 
will not sell / dedicate land for the arterial roadway, the 
roadway will fit in the right of way shown within the 
IASP area however the trail shown on the west of the 
arterial roadway may have to be shifted to the east side 
of the right of way. 
 
It should be noted that DC (24) Vehicle, Recreational 
Vehicle and Machinery Dealerships District may 
generate more traffic and parking issues than would be 
expected of typical light industrial uses.  For this reason, 
parking along those collector roads that serve the  
Queens Business Park SE 36 IASP will be restricted as 
stated in section 4.3.3, “Roadways”, in the West QE2 
Major Area Structure Plan. Parking restrictions would 
be implemented through the use of appropriate 
roadway signage. 

market trends and needs (large lot development 
compared with smaller lots).  Where a local road is 
deemed not to be needed it will not be constructed.     
 
However, in the event that a local road, or portion 
thereof, is developed, it is to be constructed within the 
road boundaries and access locations shown in this 
plan.  Any variation deemed significant by planning 
staff, from the identified locations, may require an IASP 
amendment.  Easements and public utility lots would be 
required to accommodate municipal services in the 
event that the complete network of local roads is not 
constructed.   
 
The land for the undivided arterial road shown in Figure 
3 is to be dedicated as part of the initial phase of 
construction. Construction of the arterial roadway will 
be the responsibility of the City of Red Deer. A portion 
of the 38 metre wide right of way for the arterial 
roadway will be on the adjacent property to the west.  
In the event that the adjacent landowner to the west 
will not sell / dedicate land for the arterial roadway, the 
roadway will fit in the right of way shown within the 
IASP area however the trail shown on the west of the 
arterial roadway may have to be shifted to the east side 
of the right of way. 
 
It should be noted that DC (24) Vehicle, Recreational 
Vehicle and Machinery Dealerships District may 
generate more traffic and parking issues than would be 
expected of typical light industrial uses.  For this reason, 
parking along those collector roads that serve the  
Queens Business Park SE 36 IASP will be restricted as 
stated in section 4.3.3, “Roadways”, in the West QE2 
Major Area Structure Plan. Parking restrictions would 
be implemented through the use of appropriate 
roadway signage. 
 
In 2019 the DC (24) Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle and 
Machinery Dealerships District was replaced with the 
I1B/AD district which combined the DC (24) and I1 
district uses and regulations. 

5.3 Land Use Bylaw 
 
Subdivision of land within the plan area is subject to 
subsequent successful rezoning of the land.  The lands 
in the plan area are currently zoned A1 Future Urban 
Development District and DC(24) Vehicle, Recreational 
Vehicle and Machinery Dealerships District.  
 
Lands currently designated DC(24) Direct Control 

5.3 Land Use Bylaw 
 
Subdivision of land within the plan area is subject to 
subsequent successful rezoning of the land.  The lands 
in the plan area are currently zoned A1 Future Urban 
Development District and DC(24) Vehicle, Recreational 
Vehicle and Machinery Dealerships District.  
 
Lands currently designated DC(24) Direct Control 
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Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle and Machinery 
Dealerships will not require rezoning.  These lands are 
districted to accommodate the less-intense uses of a 
commercial-industrial hybrid nature for those lands 
adjacent to and with exposure to the QE II Highway, 
specifically automotive dealerships and vehicle 
sales/service including recreational vehicles, heavy 
machinery and trucks, cars and automotive vehicles, as 
well as trailer sales and service.  This DC District also 
accommodates the uses existing at the time of the 2007 
annexation.  The purpose of this DC District is to 
provide for developments, which in the opinion of 
Council, require specific regulations that take into 
account their visibility from the highway and proximity 
to adjacent industrial uses.   

Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle and Machinery 
Dealerships will not require rezoning.  These lands are 
districted to accommodate the less-intense uses of a 
commercial-industrial hybrid nature for those lands 
adjacent to and with exposure to the QE II Highway, 
specifically automotive dealerships and vehicle 
sales/service including recreational vehicles, heavy 
machinery and trucks, cars and automotive vehicles, as 
well as trailer sales and service.  This DC District also 
accommodates the uses existing at the time of the 2007 
annexation.  The purpose of this DC District is to 
provide for developments, which in the opinion of 
Council, require specific regulations that take into 
account their visibility from the highway and proximity 
to adjacent industrial uses.   
 
Since the time this Plan was adopted, the direct control 
district, DC (24), has been replaced with the I1B/AD 
district which combined the DC (24) and I1 district uses 
and regulations (Bylaw 3357/N-2019).  The intent of this 
amendment was to reflect the current market demands 
and expand the number of considered uses in this area 
while being compatible with the neighbouring I1 district 
uses. 

Table 1: Land Use Statistics 
Direct Control (Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle, and 
Machinery Dealership District) 

Table 1: Land Use Statistics 
I1B/AD – Combination of I1 uses and automobile 
dealerships 

Figure 3 – Development Concept 
Vehicle, Recreational Vehicle, and Machinery 
Dealerships District, (DC(24)) 

Figure 3 – Development Concept 
I1B/AD – Combination of I1 uses and automobile 
dealerships 
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Letter 1: DC (24) Landowners  
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Letter 2: I1 Landowners  
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Letter 2: Responses  
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Letter 3: 100m Referral  
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April 15, 2019 

Proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment (site exception) to allow 

a Freestanding Dynamic Sign as a discretionary use on 75 Burnt 

Park Drive 

Bylaw 3357 / R – 2018  

Planning Department 

 

Report Summary & Recommendation 

 
The City has received an application for a site exception which would allow a Dynamic Freestanding Sign 

as a discretionary use at 75 Burnt Park Drive (Lot 13, Block 1, Plan 182 2045).  The site is currently within 

the Direct Control District No. 24 and the Major Entry Areas Overlay District.   

 

Administration recommends the following action: 

1. Council defeats Bylaw 3357/R-2018, see Appendix 1 – Bylaw, at first reading.  

 

 

City Manager Comments  

 

I support the recommendation of Administration.   

 

Tara Lodewyk 

Interim City Manager 

 

 

Proposed Resolution  
 

That first reading of Bylaw 3357/A-2019 be defeated. 
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Rationale for Recommendation 
 

1. Recent Sign Bylaw review provided balanced approach.   

Based on public and sign stakeholder consultations from the Signage Development Standards 

review (2018) and the Major Entry Areas Overlay District review (2016), Administration 

recommended and Council adopted the current regulations which prohibit Freestanding 

Dynamic Signs in the Major Entry Areas Overlay District.  Additional areas for Dynamic Signage 

were provided outside of the Major Entry areas through the Signage Development Standards 

review in 2018.   

 

2. The Municipal Development Plan (MDP) provides policy for performance standards within the 

Land Use Bylaw for commercial development to improve the visual quality of arterial 

roadways, including the QE 2 Highway. 

Through the approval and implementation of the Major Entry Areas Overlay District and the Sign 

Development Standards, Dynamic Freestanding Signs are considered not compatible with Major 

Entry Area visual design intent. 

 

3. Alberta Transportation does not support the development of a Freestanding Dynamic Sign at 

this location. 

The proposed sign would face onto Highway 2 and therefore Alberta Transportation was 

consulted.  Through their review of the application they believe this site would be better suited 

for a non-dynamic freestanding business identification sign. 

 

Discussion 
 

Background 

An application has been submitted to allow a Freestanding Dynamic Sign as a discretionary use at 75 

Burnt Park Drive, see Appendix 2 – Subject Parcel.  The subject parcel is located within the Direct Control 

District No. 24 (DC (24)) where Freestanding Dynamic Signs are neither a permitted nor discretionary 

use.  The DC (24) district provides for motor vehicle sales, service, and repair for parcels within the 

Queens Business Park backing onto the QE 2 Highway.  The parcel is also located within the Major Entry 

Areas (MEA) Overlay District; Dynamic Signs are prohibited within the MEA.  In order to erect a 

Freestanding Dynamic Sign at the subject site, Council would need to approve the proposed site 

exception.   

 

Analysis 

The subject parcel is within the West QE2 Major Area Structure Plan (MASP), within this plan it states 

that increased landscaping, architectural, site, and signage standards may be implemented through the 

MEA district.   

 

The Municipal Development Plan (MDP) also states that increased standards for commercial 

development may be developed. 

 

In keeping with the policies of the West QE2 MASP and the MDP, the City has developed increased 

development standards along entrance ways into the city within the Land Use Bylaw.   When originally 

created they were known as the Major Entry Areas Development Standards.  In 2009 these development 
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standards were amended to prohibit dynamic signs.  In 2016 these standards were amended to the 

MEA.   The 2016 amendment included public and stakeholder consultation, Administration’s review and 

Council’s decision.  The 2016 amendment was consistent with the 2009 standards which prohibited 

dynamic signage in major entry areas.  

 

In 2018 Administration completed a full review of the signage regulations.  During this review the public 

and industry was consulted through an on-line survey.  Previous to this Dynamic Signs were not allowed 

within the MEA.  Results from the consultation included the sign industry wanting more opportunity for 

Dynamic signs and the general public expressing concerns about the impacts Dynamic Signs will have on 

residential uses and traffic safety. Council took a balanced approach; the City now allows Dynamic Signs 

in more land use districts, but has attributed a larger minimum distance separation between Dynamic 

Signs and from Dynamic Signs to residential uses as a result.  In reviewing this, Dynamic Signs were not 

expanded to areas within the MEA.   

 

Copies of the DC (24) district and the MEA Permitted and Discretionary Uses are included in Appendix 3 

– LUB Regulations. 

 

Upon receiving of the application for a site exception, a site specific review of the location was 

undertaken to determine if this site had unique characteristics which would be favourable to approval of 

the site exception.  Upon completion of this review, Administration did not find any unique 

characteristics of this site.  If Council were to consider dynamic signage at this location, Administration 

would recommend a broader review of Dynamic Signage in all Major Entry Areas.   

 

Dialogue 

The application has been circulated to landowners within 100m of the site.  No comments of support or 

objection have been received.  A copy of the letter circulated can be found in Appendix 4 – Dialogue. 

 

As part of the City’s circulation process, the application was also referred to internal departments and 

external parties of interest for comment.  All comments from internal departments have been 

considered and are reflected in Administration’s recommendation.  Alberta Transportation has 

commented that dynamic signage should be avoided along this portion of the QE 2 Highway.  In 

addition, they have stated that they have provisions for non-dynamic freestanding business 

identification signs for locations such as the subject property.  A copy of their comments can be found in 

Appendix 5 – Alberta Transportation’s Comments. 

 

Options 

Administration has reviewed three options and is recommending Option 1 – Defeat the amendment.  

The three options were considered by Administration as viable courses of action in its review of the 

propose Land Use Bylaw amendment. 

 

Option 1 – Defeat the amendment at First Reading 

Defeat the proposed Land Use Bylaw amendment for the following reasons: 

1. It does not conform to the MEA regulations 

2. Was not a consideration of recent Sign regulations updates. 

3. It does not conform to the uses listed in the DC (24) district 

4. It is not supported by Alberta Transportation 

This option does not provide the applicant the opportunity to speak to Council at a Public Hearing. 
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Option 2 – Defeat the amendment and explore amendments to the MEA  

Defeat for the same reasons as stated in Option 1, and direct Administration to explore amendments to 

determine: 

1. If the MEA should be amended to include Dynamic Signs as a discretionary use.  

 

Option 3 – Approve the amendment  

Approve the proposed amendment based on the following merits: 

1. Council feels the site is a suitable location for a Freestanding Dynamic Sign 

2. No objections have been raised by landowners within 100m of the Site 

This option would still prohibit Dynamic Signs in other areas within the MEA and DC (24). 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Bylaw  

Appendix 2 – Subject Parcel 

Appendix 3 –LUB Regulations 

Appendix 4 – Dialogue 

Appendix 5 – Alberta Transportation’s Comments 
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Bylaw 
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BYLAW NO. 3357/R-2019 
 

Being a Bylaw to amend Bylaw No. 3357/2006, the Land Use Bylaw of The City 
of Red Deer as described herein. 
 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER, ALBERTA, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Bylaw No. 3357/2006 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

1. The “Land Use District Map H19” contained in “Schedule A” of the Land Use 
Bylaw is hereby amended in accordance with the Land Use District Map 14 / 
2019 attached hereto and forming part of the bylaw. 
  

2. Section 8.22(1)(e) Exceptions Respecting Land Use is amended by adding 
the following new subsection: 
 

(xiii) Dynamic Freestanding Sign on Lot 13, Block 1, Plan 182 2045 (75 
Burnt Park Drive) subject to the provisions of Part 11. 

 
 

READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this    day of  2019.  
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this  day of  2019.  
 
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of  2019.  
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this  day of  2019. 
 
 
 
 
   

MAYOR  CITY CLERK 
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APPENDIX 2 

Subject Parcel 
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 Approximate location of Dynamic Freestanding Sign 

 Subject Site - 75 Burnt Lake Drive 
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APPENDIX 3 

LUB Regulations 
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APPENDIX 4 

Dialogue 
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PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

February 25, 2019 
 
«Prime_Owner_Name» 
«Owner_Address_1» 
«Owner_Address_2»  «Owner_Address_3» «Owner_Address_4_» 
 
Dear Landowner: 
 
RE:  75 Burnt Park Drive (Lot 13, Block 1, Plan 182 2045) 

   Site Exception to allow for a Dynamic Freestanding Sign 

   Land Use Bylaw amendment 3357/R-2019 

 
What is being proposed? 
 
This letter is to inform you that an application for a site exception has been made to amend the City’s Land Use 
Bylaw.  The application is to allow for a Freestanding Dynamic Sign at 75 Burnt Park Drive.   
 
A site exception is an exception to the rules in the bylaw.  It is required when an applicant wishes to develop 
something on their property that is currently not allowed within their land use district.  75 Burnt Park Drive is 
located within the Direct Control 24 District (DC(24)) and the Major Entry Areas Overlay District, neither district 
allow for dynamic signs.  If the site exception is approved by City Council, the landowner would then be able to 
apply for a development permit to construct the sign on the property.  The applicant’s intent is to locate the sign 
so that it would be visible to travelers along the Queen Elisabeth 2 Highway. 
 
The Land Use Bylaw defines a Freestanding Dynamic Sign as “a freestanding sign with features that move or 
appear to move or change, and includes any display that incorporates a technology or method allowing the 
image on the Copy Area to change such as rotating panels, LED lights manipulated through digital input, or 
digital ink.  Dynamic Freestanding Signs must not display videos.” 
 
Copies of the DC(24) District and the Major Entry Areas Overlay District have been attached to this letter.  
 
Do I have to provide comments? 

 
Comments or concerns regarding the application may be submitted in writing, using the enclosed Comment 
Sheet, prior to 4:30pm, Monday, March 18, 2019 by one of the methods listed on the Comment Sheet. It is 
optional to provide comments. Please note that any comments submitted may be made public. 
 
What will happen if I submit comments? 
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Inspections & Licensing    4914 - 48 Avenue    Phone: 403.342.8190    Fax:  403.342.8200    E-mail: inspections@reddeer.ca 
The City of Red Deer          Box 5008          Red Deer, AB  T4N 3T4           www.reddeer.ca 

 

Comments received regarding the application will be reviewed by Administration and will be incorporated into a 

report that will be forwarded to City Council when considering the application.  

What are the next steps? 

The application will be presented to City Council for consideration in the coming months.  Individuals will be 

given the opportunity to speak to City Council about concerns they have at a Public Hearing.  Public Hearings are 

advertised in the Friday edition of the Red Deer Advocate and all landowners within 100 metres of the Site will 

also receive written notification of the Public Hearing. 

Should you require further information please contact the undersigned. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Christi Fidek, RPP, MCIP 
Senior Planner 
403.406.8701 
christi.fidek@redder.ca 
 
Enc.
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PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Comment Sheet  
We invite you to provide feedback regarding the proposed plan amendment/subdivision 

application. Your feedback is very important to us. Please be sure to specify which 

application you are responding to by checking the appropriate box and addressing 

application address & name of the planner. 

Collection & Release of Your Information: The City is collecting your information as part of the referral process that is described 

in Section 2.19(5) of The City of Red Deer Land Use Bylaw. The personal information on this form is collected under the authority 

of the Municipal Government Act Section 3 and is protected under the provisions of the Freedom of Information & Protection of 

Privacy (FOIP) Act.  The City will seek to balance the dual objectives of open government and protection of privacy.  If you have 

questions about the collection and use of this information, please contact the Manager of Planning at The City of Red Deer, 

4914-48 Ave, Red Deer, AB 403-406-8700. 

 
Please check the box below which applies:                                  

                  
Land Use Bylaw Amendment                                                 

 
 Subdivision Application                                                          

 
 Plan Amendment                                                                    

 
 Other                                                                                    

 
Contact Information  
Your contact information allows administration to respond as needed.      
 
Name: _______________________________________________________________________________   
 
Mailing Address:  __________________________________________ Postal Code: ___________________ 
 
Phone #: __________________________ E-mail Address:  _____________________________________ 

 

General Comments 

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

Amendment/Subdivision Address: 

 

 75 Burnt Park Drive 

 

 

Name of Planner (Working on the Application): 

 

 Christi Fidek 
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           _____ 

 ______________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________ 

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

              

Comment sheet may be submitted using the following options: 

 Return, by mail to: City of Red Deer Planning Department, Box 5008, Red Deer, Alberta, T4N 

3T4; or 

 Drop off at the Planning Department counter on the 3rd floor of City Hall at 4914 – 48 Avenue; 

or 

 Fax to the Planning Department at 403.342.8200; or 

 Email to christi.fidek@reddeer.ca 

 

Thank you for your input! 
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Map of Surrounding Areas 
 

Subject Property 
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Alberta Transportation’s Comments 
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April 12, 2019 

Bylaw 3357/D-2019: 

 Amendment to Direct Control District No. 27, and 

Resolution of Council: 

 Clearview Market Square: Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package  

Administrative Report  

Report Summary and Recommendation 
 
 
The Planning department has received an application from the owner to amend the Direct 
Control District No. 27 and to adopt by resolution a new Clearview Market Square: Phase 2 Site 
Plan and Design Package. 
 
Specifically, the proposal is to: 

 Amend the Land Use Bylaw’s DC27 district (Appendix A) to: 
o Add “Motor Vehicle Service or Repair, excluding Motor Vehicle Sales (for Phase 

2)” as a discretionary use in the DC27 district, 
o  Modify the DC27 district’s approving authority (Option 1) in order to streamline 

the approval process, and 

 Adopt, by resolution, a new Clearview Market Square: Phase 2 Site Plan and Design 
Package (Appendix B) to guide future development of the subject area. 

 
Administration recommends Council give First Reading to Bylaw 3357/D-2019 and following 
final reading of Bylaw 3357/D-2019 adopt by resolution the new Clearview Market Square 
Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package.  
 

City Manager Comments  
 
I support the recommendation of Administration.  If first reading of Bylaw 3357/D-2018 is 
given, this bylaw will be advertised for 2 consecutive weeks with a Public Hearing to be held on 
Monday, May 27, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. during Council’s regular meeting. 
 
Tara Lodewyk 
Interim City Manager 
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Proposed Resolution  
 
That Bylaw 3357/D-2019 be read a first time. 
 
 

Rationale for Recommendation 

The rationale for Administration’s recommendation is as follows: 

1. The inclusion of “Motor Vehicle Service or Repair, excluding Motor Vehicle Sales (for 
Phase 2)” as a discretionary use is a compatible land use along the northern periphery of 
the Clearview Market Square area.  Locating the proposed use along the periphery, as 
illustrated in the Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package, will provide good visibility from 67 
Street and good vehicular access while not impeding pedestrian access and flow within the 
overall Clearview Market Square. 
 

2. Modification of the approving authority in this direct control district will provide quicker 
more efficient processing of development permit applications.  The DC27 district has been 
in existence for a number of years with substantial development now in place.  Council sets 
the framework for the Development Authority through the DC27 district site plan.  
Therefore it is reasonable for Council to delegate more approval authority to the 
Development Authority. 

 
3. The revised Clearview Market Square Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package addresses 

concerns arising from the development of Phase 1 and external changes such as the 
roundabout.  The revised Phase 2 site plan addresses tenants concerns about the number 
of parking stalls and parking and building layout while maintaining walkability within the 
overall site.  It also provides consistency between Phases 1 and 2 in terms of landscaping, 
connectivity, and building design.  
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Discussion 
 

Background 
 
On June 26, 2017 Council adopted Bylaw 3357/P-2017 and Road Closure Bylaw 3587/2017, that 
closed the curved road portion southeast of the 67 Street / 30 Avenue roundabout and rezoned 
the closed road and two city-owned parcels next to the closed road to DC27 (Appendix C).  Then 
on July 10, 2017, Council passed the following resolution: 
 

Resolved that the Council of the City of Red Deer having considered the report 
from the Planning Department, dated June 30, 2017, re: Site Plan and Design 
Package re Direct Control District No. 27 (Clearview Market), hereby rescinds that 
portion of the Site Plan and Design Package that was adopted by resolution of 
Council on September 20, 2010 that applies to Phase 2, being the area affected 
by Bylaw 3357/P-2017 (adopted June 26, 2017). 

 
This land was subsequently sold to the developer, and in response to the July 10, 2017 
resolution the developer has submitted a new Clearview Market Square: Phase 2 Site Plan and 
Design Package that illustrates how Phase 2 will be developed along with an application to 
amend the DC27 district to add, “Motor Vehicle Service or Repair, excluding Motor Vehicle 
Sales (for Phase 2)” as a discretionary use in Phase 2.  The Amendment also includes proposed 
changes to how development applications are processed and approved in the DC27 district. 
 
Appendix D contains a copy of the current DC27 district with the proposed wording additions 
highlighted in yellow and the proposed wording deletions shown in strikeout. 
 
Analysis 
 
Addition of a Discretionary Use in Phase 2 
 
While the DC27 district strives to be pedestrian friendly, commercial development of this scale 
serves a broader portion of the city and therefore many customers access the site by private 
vehicles.  This, coupled with its location along two arterial roads, generates demand for vehicle 
oriented services such as lube shops and repair shops.  Motor vehicle oriented service and 
repair uses are common in other commercial and direct control districts and the Phase 2 Site 
Plan and Design Package situates these businesses on the periphery adjacent to 67 Street so 
there will be less impact on pedestrian oriented businesses within Clearview Market Square.   
 
Amendment to Approving Authority 
 
The proposed amendment includes changes to the development approving authority 
(Development Officer / MPC or Council) depending on the scale and nature of the proposed 
use.  The proposed amendment includes a 10 percent variance power for the DO/MPC 
regarding building footprints, parking, and landscaping.  A requested variance above 10 percent 
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would be referred to Council for a decision.  Currently Council is the approving authority for 
permitted use applications for buildings over 50,000 square feet (4,645 m²), permitted uses 
that do not comply with the provisions of the DC27 district, and some discretionary uses.  The 
proposed amendment streamlines the process and enables Development Authority to process 
applications quicker and more efficiently. 
 
Administration has considered several options, as requested by the applicant, regarding how 
and to what extent variances will be considered.  Administration is recommending Option 1: 
 

Option 1 
The DO/MPC can consider variances up to 10 percent regarding individual building 
footprints, overall parking, and overall landscaping.  A request for a variance above 10 
percent would be referred to Council for a decision. 
 
Option 2 
Same as Option 1, but the 10 percent variance for buildings would not be applied to 
each individual building, but to the total of all building footprints.  In this option one 
building’s footprint could exceed the 10 percent provided the total of all building 
footprints is within 10 percent of the Site Plan and Design Package figure.  In this case 
applications would not come to Council until the total building footprint variances in 
Phase 2  exceeded 748 m² (10 percent of 7,482 m²   
 
Option 3 
In this option, there would be a sliding scale of variance powers for buildings depending 
on the size of the proposed building; e.g. up to 10 percent on large buildings, up to 15 
percent on mid-sized buildings, and up to 20 percent on small buildings.  Buildings 
would be categorized into small, medium and large, and any variance requests that 
exceeded the respective 20, 15, or 10 percent would go to Council for a decision on the 
application. 
 

Administration recommends Option 1, i.e. the 10 percent figure applied to individual buildings, 
not the overall sum of buildings, as this is a balance of flexibility and consistency.  If Council sees 
merit in the alternative approaches Council has the option to modify the proposed bylaw 
accordingly. 
 
Administration recommends the proposed changes in approving authority to provide a balance 
of flexibility, efficiency and consistency as the Phase 1 portion of Clearview Market Square has 
already developed and the DO/MPC have clear direction to implement the vision for Phase 2 in 
a manner consistent with Phase 1.  The proposed amendment will result in more efficient and 
timely decisions for most developments 
 
Clearview Market Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package Resolution (See Appendix B) 
 
The revised site plan and design package ensures pedestrian walkability while allowing for some 
vehicle oriented uses on the periphery.  The layout proposes 442 parking stalls for the Phase 2’s 
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total building footprint of 7,482 m2.  This is equivalent to approximately 5.5 stalls per 93 m² of 
gross floor area, which exceeds the LUB’s standard of 5.1 stalls per 93 m² for district shopping 
centres, which would only require 411 stalls.  
 
The new Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package will also provide consistency between the 
existing Phase 1 and the future Phase 2 areas in terms of building design and landscaping. 
 
Dialogue 
 
The proposed LUB amendment and Site Plan were circulated to 32 tenants and 9 landowners 
within 100 metres of the site.  There were several inquiries for clarification on the proposal and 
two written submissions (Appendix E).  One business indicated they oppose the proposed 
Motor Vehicle Service or Repair use as it would be unfair competition.  However, the regulation 
of market competition is not part of the land use planning rationale for what uses may or may 
not be suitable in a given district.  Another business owner wanted to be sure that the uses 
match those of the C5 – Commercial (Mixed Use) District.  A review of all Direct Control Districts 
will occur as part of the ongoing Land Use Bylaw update.  They also expressed concern about 
the proposed Phase 2 right-out turn onto 30 Avenue.  Any access off or on to a public road will 
require the approval of Engineering Services to ensure it functions correctly and safely. 
 
The proposal was also referred to relevant city departments and all concerns/comments 
provided by departments have been reviewed and considered by the Planning Department. 
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Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Bylaw 3357/D-2019  
 
Appendix B – Clearview Market Square: Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package 
 
Appendix C – Areas Affected by Road Closure Bylaw 3587/2017 and  

Land Use Bylaw 3357/P-2017 (Adopted June 26, 2017) 
 
Appendix D – Current DC27 District showing Proposed Wording Additions and Deletions 
 
Appendix E – Written Comments Received from Landowners within 100 m and Tenants 
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Appendix A – Bylaw 3357/D-2019 
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BYLAW NO. 3357 / D – 2019 
 
Being a Bylaw to amend Bylaw No. 3357/2006, the Land Use Bylaw of The City of Red 
Deer as described herein. 
 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER, ALBERTA, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Bylaw No. 3357/2006, Section 8.20.7 Direct Control District No. 27 Neighbourhood 
Centre DC (27) is hereby amended as follows: 
 

1. The General Purpose statement is DELETED in its entirety and REPLACED with: 
 

General Purpose  
This district shall apply only to the Clearview North Neighbourhood Centre site (the 

Site).  Its purpose is to allow for and encourage a variety of commercial, limited office, 

residential, civic, cultural and recreational uses that primarily serve the local 

neighbourhoods.  These uses shall be distributed throughout a comprehensively designed 

development area that emphasizes sustainability and compact pedestrian-friendly urban 

development. The regulations shall apply to both Phase 1 and 2 of the area depicted on 

the Figure 1 of this district, unless otherwise specified in the regulations. 

 

  Figure 1: Phases 1 and 2 
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2. Section 8.20.7(1)(b) Discretionary Uses is amended by ADDING “Motor Vehicle 

Service or Repair, excluding Motor Vehicle Sales (for Phase 2 only)” and the 
subsequent list of Discretionary Uses is renumbered in alphabetical order. 
 

3. Section 8.20.7(2) Approving Authority is DELETED in its entirety and is 
REPLACED with the following: 

 

2. Approving Authority 
 

The approving authority for applications for development approval in this district 

shall be as follows: 

 

(a) The Development Authority in the case of all applications, except as described 

in subsection (b) below; 

 

(b) City Council in the case of: 

 

(i) Development of a new building exceeding 50,000 square feet (4,645 

m²); or 

(ii) Any application requiring a variance of the Site Plan and Design 

Package greater than 10 percent; 

 

Approving Authority Variances 

 

(c) The Development Authority may permit variances from the Site Plan and 

Design Package regarding individual building footprints, overall landscaping, 

and overall parking where the Development Authority deems the proposed 

changes to be less than 10 percent of what is shown in the Site Plan and 

Design Package, and the proposed development complies with the General 

Purpose and Uses of this District, and would not, in the Development 

Authority’s opinion, unduly impact the surrounding area. 

 

(d) Where the Development Authority deems that a proposed variance from the 

Site Plan and Design Package is greater than 10 percent, City Council shall be 

the Approving Authority. 
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READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of      2019. 
 
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this     day of         2019. 
 
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of        2019. 
 
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this   day of      2019. 
 
 
 
 
             
MAYOR      CITY CLERK 
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Appendix B – Clearview Market Square: Phase 2 Site Plan and Design Package 
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Appendix C – Areas Affected by  
Road Closure Bylaw3587/2017 and Land Use Bylaw 3357/P-2017 

(Adopted June 26, 2018) 
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ROAD CLOSURE BYLAW NO. 3587 / 2017 
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BYLAW NO. 3357 / P – 2017 

 

 
 

  

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 247 Item No. 5.5.



 21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix D – Current DC27 District showing Proposed 
Wording Additions and Deletions 
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18.20.7 Direct Control District No. 27 Neighbourhood Centre DC (27) (See 

Map P17)  

 

 

 

 

General Purpose  
This district shall apply only to the Clearview North Neighbourhood Centre site (the Site).  Its 

purpose is to allow for and encourage a variety of commercial, limited office, residential, civic, 

cultural and recreational uses that primarily serve the local neighbourhoods.  These uses shall be 

distributed throughout a comprehensively designed development area that emphasizes 

sustainability and compact pedestrian-friendly urban development. The regulations shall apply to 

both Phase 1 and 2 of the area depicted on the Figure 1 of this district, unless otherwise specified 

in the regulations. 

 

  Figure 1: Phases 1 and 2 
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 3357/D-2019 

DC (27) Proposed Additions are shown in highlight 
Proposed Deletions are shown in strikeout 
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1. Permitted and Discretionary Uses Table  

  

(a) Permitted Uses  

(i) Building Sign. 

(ii) Commercial Entertainment Facility. 

(iii) Commercial Recreation Facility. 

(iv) Commercial Service Facility   

(v) Day Care Facility. 

(vi) Freestanding Sign. 
(vii) Home Music Instructor/Instruction, subject to section 4.7(10). 

(viii) Home Occupations which, in the opinion of the Development Officer, will 
not generate additional traffic. 

(ix) Merchandise sales and/or rental (excluding industrial goods, motor vehicles, 

machinery, Cannabis Retail Sales and fuel and all uses where the primary 

focus is adult oriented merchandise and/or entertainment). 

(x) Multi-Attached residential Building without commercial or with commercial 

at or above the ground floor and with residential above, with a minimum 

density of 35 dwelling units/hectare. 

(xi) Multiple Family Building without commercial or with commercial at or 

above the ground floor and with residential above, with a minimum density 

of 35 dwelling units/hectare. 

(xii) Park. 

(xiii) Restaurant without drive-through. 

(b) Discretionary Uses  

(i) Accessory Building or Use. 

(ii) Assisted Living Facility without commercial or with commercial at or above 

the ground floor and with residential above, with a minimum density of 35 

dwelling units/hectare. 

(iii) Car wash facility on westerly ±33.02 m (0.310 ha) of Lot 81, Block 7, Plan 

102 5689 (62 Carleton Avenue). 

(iv) Drinking Establishment (adult entertainment prohibited). 

(v) Dynamic Fascia Sign. 

(vi) Dynamic Freestanding Sign. 

(vii) Institutional Service Facility. 

(viii) Motor Vehicle Service or Repair, excluding Motor Vehicle Sales (for Phase 2 

only). 

(ix) Office. 

(x) Outdoor Display of Goods. 

(xi) Sale of Fuel. 

(xii) Parking Lot/Parking Structure. 

(xiii) Restaurant with drive-through. 

(xiv) Show Home or Raffle Home. 
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2. Approving Authority 

The approving authority for applications for development approval in this district shall be as 

follows: 

 

(a) The Development Authority in the case of all applications, except as described in 

subsection (b) below; 

 

(i) Applications for a Permitted Use up to 50,000 square feet (4,645 m
2
) which are 

compliant with the provisions of this district and the Site Plan and Design 

Package; 

(ii) an application for a Discretionary Use in an existing approved building; 

 

(b) City Council in the case of: 

 

(i) Development of a new building exceeding 50,000 square feet (4,645 m²); or 

(ii) Any application requiring a variance of the Site Plan and Design Package 

greater than 10 percent; 

 

(i) an application for a Permitted Use over 50,000 square feet (4,645 m
2
); 

(ii) an application for a Permitted Use which does not comply with the provisions of 

this district; and 

(iii) any other applications for Discretionary Use except as noted in subsection (a). 

 

 

Approving Authority Variances 

 

(c) The Development Authority may permit variances from the Site Plan and Design 

Package regarding individual building footprints, overall landscaping, and overall 

parking where the Development Authority deems the proposed changes to be less 

than 10 percent of what is shown in the Site Plan and Design Package and the 

proposed development complies with the General Purpose and Uses of this District, 

and would not, in the Development Authority’s opinion, unduly impact the 

surrounding area. 

 

(d) Where the Development Authority deems that a proposed variance from the Site Plan 

and Design Package is greater than 10 percent, City Council shall be the Approving 

Authority. 

 

(c) the Development Authority may permit deviation from the Site Plan and Design 

Package as described in this bylaw, where the proposed changes are deemed by the 

Development Authority to be minor in scale or are changes that will result in an equal 

or greater standard of development than that outlined in the Site Plan and Design 

Package; 
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(d) where the Development Authority deems that the proposed deviation from the Site 

Plan and Design Package is major in scale or will result in a lower standard of 

development than that outlined in the Site Plan and Design Package as described in 

this bylaw, these changes must be approved by City Council. 

3. Concept Design 

(a) All development within this district shall comply with: 

 
(i) the Site Plan and Design Package approved by Council, which shall comply 

with the provisions of this district and which shall describe in details the 
following aspects of development: 

 
(A) buildings; 
(B) landscaping; 
(C) architecture; 
(D) public spaces; 
(E) parking; 
(F) pathways and roadways; and 
(G) signage; 

 

(ii) the Key Elements listed in subsection 4(c) below; and 

 

(iii)  the Neighbourhood Centre Concept Design set out in the following sketch; 
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4. General Design Guidelines  
 

(a) The site plan, the relationship between buildings, structures and open space, the 

architectural treatment of buildings, the provision and architecture of landscaped open 

space, and the parking layout, and all other development standards shall be subject to 

approval by the approving authority, which may impose, as a condition of approval of 

any development, such standards as are reasonably necessary to ensure that the 

development will create the character of the envisioned Neighbourhood Centre 

district and will achieve the following objectives: 
 

(i) be consistent with the East Hill Major Area Structure Plan and the 
corresponding Neighbourhood Area Structure Plans within the mixed use area; 

 
(ii) be consistent with the East Hill Town Centre Design Guidelines; 

 
(iii) be consistent with the parking requirements of the Land Use Bylaw; 

 
(iv) reflect the objective of capturing a blend of office, higher density residential and 
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commercial in a pedestrian friendly environment; 
 

(v) where the development is adjacent to private/public sidewalks, have a design of 
front, side and rear façade which are of comparable architectural treatment; 

 
(vi) be consistent with the following building height regulations: 

 

Storeys Requirements 

Minimum 

 

2 storeys or 6.5 m (or such other lower minimum height which may 

be established by City Council for buildings under 7,500 square 

feet) 

Maximum 

 

8 storeys or 38.5 m (except where adjacent to single family 

buildings in which case the maximum shall be 4 storeys or 19.2 m) 

Greater than 4 Storeys 

 

In the case of buildings adjacent to a public or private sidewalk or 
park, the façade of the fifth storey and above shall be stepped back 
a minimum of 1 metre from the lower storeys, in order to maintain 
a human scale. 

Equal to 4 Storeys 

 

Buildings that are four storeys tall shall treat the third and fourth 
storeys with materials and colours which are different, from but 
complementary with, the first and second storeys; 

Less than 4 Storeys N/A 

 

(b) Each of the Key Elements in the Neighbourhood Centre Concept Design has been 
assigned a priority from 1 (highest) to 6 (lowest).  In instances where the suggested 
characteristics of one or more elements contradict each other, priority shall be given 
to the element with the highest priority. 
 

(c) Key Elements 

 

The following are the Key Elements of the Neighbourhood Centre Concept Design: 

 

(i) Hard Surface Public Spaces: Priority 1 
 

Purpose and Location: 

A place for social interaction such as: gathering, public entertainment, displays, 

markets, or similar activities. At minimum, these spaces shall be placed wherever 

the main Pedestrian Promenade intersects with one or more pathways. In general, 

wherever multiple pathways intersect a public space shall be considered.  There 

must be at least two hard surface public spaces: 

 

(1) One that acts as a gateway in the general vicinity of the southwest corner of 

the Site.  

 

(2) One that is located at the point (a relatively central location) where the 

Regional Trail Pathway intersects with the Pedestrian Promenade. 

 

Components and Programming: 

These spaces should include permanent or dynamic public art exhibitions, water 

fountains, monuments, or any human scale physical component adding a unique 
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character to the space. Street furniture such as benches and tables may be added as 

permanent features to the space, but the temporary addition of such features is 

possible.  

 

Design and Relationship with Adjacent Buildings: 

These spaces shall be defined by adjacent buildings, essentially creating an 

“outdoor room”, where the building “façades” act as walls. Adjacent building 

facades shall address the space via some or all of the following elements: 

entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly defined and architecturally 

interesting corridors leading to any of the aforementioned elements. The ground 

surface of these spaces shall primarily be made of hard materials such as stone, 

brick or concrete. Plants/ vegetation may be used intermittently throughout the 

space to add character and to soften the environment. Trees may be incorporated 

into the space in order to provide shelter from the elements throughout the year.  

 

Linkages: 

These spaces shall be clearly connected, physically and/ or visually, to other public 

spaces and residential uses via at least two of the following linkages: the pedestrian 

promenade the regional trail pathway, local pedestrian pathways or vehicular 

pedestrian pathways.  

 

If one of the aforementioned “pathways” terminates in a public space, the visual 

“terminus” shall be treated with a “significant physical element” creating a “vista”. 

Examples of these “significant physical element” are: an architecturally significant 

building or building feature, a monument, sculpture, etc. If there is a significant 

natural element at the terminus, then that natural feature may be used as the 

significant physical element.  

 

(ii) Pedestrian Promenade: Priority 2 

 

Purpose and Location: 

Draws people into the Site, and connects the local off Site and on Site residential 

population with local amenities, business and activities. The corridor also acts as 

the “spine” of the neighbourhood town centre from which the rest of the 

neighbourhood town centre and greater community can be accessed. The pedestrian 

Promenade shall be anchored at the southwest corner of the Site by a Hard Surface 

Public space and runs through the centre of the Site eventually being anchored in 

the north/northeast of the Site. 

 

Design and Relationship with Adjacent Buildings: 

Adjacent building facades address the space via some or all of the following 

elements: entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly defined and 

architecturally interesting corridors leading to any of the aforementioned elements. 

The ground surface of this space is primarily made of hard materials such as stone, 

brick, concrete or creatively treated asphalt. Plants/landscaping may be used 

intermittently throughout the space to add character and to soften the environment. 

Trees line the corridor providing shelter from the elements throughout the year. 
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Components and Programming: 

This space may include features such as; permanent or dynamic public art 

exhibitions, water fountains, monuments, or any human scale physical component 

adding a unique character to the space. 

 

Places to sit shall be frequently provided via street furniture and/or landscaping. 

Where any other major pathway intersects this space, information shall be provided 

directing people to amenities, businesses and activities. This information can be 

provided via: signage, kiosks, small vendors etc. 

 

This space may also be used as a place for social interaction providing a space for 

activities such as; recreation, gathering, public entertainment, displays, markets and 

similar activities.  

 

(iii) Regional Trail Pathway: Priority 3 

 

Purpose and Location: 

A continuation of the existing regional trail system. The Regional Trail Pathway, 

shall be anchored by two small welcoming spaces, and shall connect the existing 

trail system to the future development to the east. These spaces shall be landmarks 

that draw people in to the Site. Each of the anchor spaces shall be at relatively 

opposite ends of the Site, with one being located in the general vicinity of the 

northwest corner.  

 

Components and Programming: 

Vegetation is used continuously throughout the pathway clearly distinguishing the 

pathway as the “regional green path system”. This vegetation may include but is not 

limited to: Trees, shrubs and grass. Places to sit are intermittently provided via 

street furniture and/or landscaping. Where any other major pathway intersects this 

space, information is provided directing people to amenities, businesses and 

activities. This information can be provided via: signage, kiosks, small vendors etc. 

 

Design and Relationship with Adjacent Buildings: 

Where possible, adjacent building facades should address the pathway via some or 

all of the following elements: entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly 

defined and architecturally interesting corridors leading to any of the 

aforementioned elements. Plants/vegetation may be used intermittently throughout 

the space to add character and to soften the environment. 

 

(iv) Open Green Spaces: Priority 4 

 

Purpose and Location: 

To be used as an alternative to a hard surface public space, these spaces shall be 

places to enjoy a more “natural” setting. Physical elements may include existing 

natural features or constructed features. In general wherever multiple pathways 

intersect there is potential for an open green space or any form of public space. 

 

Design and Relationship with Adjacent Buildings: 
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These spaces shall be adjacent to buildings that address the space via some or all of 

the following elements: entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly defined 

and architecturally interesting corridors leading to any of the aforementioned 

elements. Adjacent buildings shall at minimum overlook the spaces through 

windows providing a perceived surveillance of the spaces.  

 

Components and Programming: 

Places to sit shall be sporadically provided via street furniture and/or landscaping. 

The landscaping should at minimum contain some aspects of the local natural 

environment or be entirely native to Red Deer/Alberta. These spaces may include 

features such as; permanent or dynamic public art exhibitions, water fountains, 

monuments, or any human scale physical component adding a unique character to 

the space.  

 

These spaces may also be used as a place for social interaction providing a space for 

activities such as; recreation, gathering, public entertainment, displays, markets, etc. 

 

(v) Vehicular Pathways: Priority 5 

 

Purpose and Location: 

Vehicular pathways shall provide non-curvilinear direct two-way access for 

motorized vehicles, to the neighbourhood centre amenities, activities, businesses, 

transit stops and parking. There shall be a minimum of 1 access point on the west 

edge of the Site and 1 at the south edge of the Site to the satisfaction of Engineering 

Services. 

 

Components: 

When possible street parking should be provided. Where any major pathway 

intersects with the vehicular pathway, pedestrians are given priority via crosswalks. 

These pathways may also consist of pedestrian oriented sidewalks separated from 

the vehicle path by boulevards. These boulevards shall contain some or all of the 

following physical elements: Lighting fixtures, trees, signage, or similar elements. 

Sidewalks and boulevards are at minimum on 1 side of the right of way at all points. 

 

Design and Relationship with Adjacent Buildings: 

Where possible, adjacent building facades should address the right of way via some 

or all of the following elements: entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly 

defined and architecturally interesting corridors leading to any of the 

aforementioned elements. Plants/vegetation may be used intermittently throughout 

the space to add character and to soften the environment. 

 

(vi) Local Pedestrian Pathways: Priority 6 

 

Purpose and Location: 

Shall provide direct access for pedestrians to the neighbourhood town centre 

amenities, public spaces, activities, businesses and parking areas.  

 

Components and Programming: 
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These pathways shall be defined throughout the neighbourhood town centre via 

consistent ground material treatment, lighting, signage and when possible 

boulevards containing trees. 

 

Design and Relationship with Adjacent Buildings: 

Where possible, adjacent building facades should address the pathway via some or 

all of the following elements: entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly 

defined and architecturally interesting corridors leading to any of the 

aforementioned elements. Plants/vegetation may be used intermittently throughout 

the space to add character and to soften the environment. 

 

General Land Use 

 

(vii) Primarily Residential Area 

 

Purpose and Location: 

This general area shall consist of residential uses. Commercial uses shall be 

considered on the ground floor in this area. 

 

Interface and Relationship with Adjacent Uses: 

When a building in this area is adjacent to a public space, or a pathway, the fronting 

walls/surface shall address the space/pathway via some or all of the following 

elements: entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly defined and 

architecturally interesting corridors leading to any of the aforementioned elements. 

 

(viii) Primarily Retail Commercial 

 

Purpose and Location: 

This general area shall consist of commercial uses. Office uses serving the local 

area are encouraged throughout this area. Residential uses should be considered 

above the ground floor. Cannabis Retails Sales are not permitted. 

 

Design and Relationship with Adjacent Uses: 

When a building in this area is adjacent to a public space, or a pathway, the fronting 

walls/surface shall address the space/pathway via some or all of the following 

elements: entrances/doorways, windows, patios, or clearly defined and 

architecturally interesting corridors leading to any of the aforementioned elements. 
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Appendix E – Written Comments Received from Landowners 
within 100 m and Tenants 
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April 15, 2019 

Appeals Board Bylaw 3619/2019 

Clarifying Amendments Bylaw 3619/B-2019 
Legislative Services 

 

Report Summary & Recommendation: 

In March 2019 Council adopted Appeals Board Bylaw 3619/2019 which reflected changes 
required to comply with recent amendments to the Municipal Government Act (MGA) as 
well as some administrative amendments to enhance clarity within the bylaw. 
 
At the time of first reading, Council requested that administration explore additional 
amendments with a report to be brought back at a future date. This report responds to that 
request. 
 
Based on the review of potential amendments there are several recommendations for 
amendments and Bylaw 3619/B-2019 is presented for Council’s consideration.  

 

City Manager Comments: 

I support the recommendation of Administration.  If first reading of Bylaw 3196/B-2019 is given, this 
bylaw will come back for second and third reading at the Monday, April 29, 2019 Council Meeting. 
 
Tara Lodewyk 
Interim City Manager 
 

 

Proposed Resolution: 

Resolved that Bylaw 3196/B-2019 be read a first time. 
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Background: 

In March 2019 Council adopted Appeals Board Bylaw 3619/2019 which reflected changes 
required to comply with recent amendments to the Municipal Government Act as well as 
some administrative amendments to enhance clarity within the bylaw. 
 
At the time of first reading, Council requested that administration explore additional 
amendments with a report to be brought back at a future date. The requested exploration 
included: 

• Section 8 – adding clarity with respect to the composition of panels of 5 Members (or 
3 Members) as circumstances permit, shall be assigned to each hearing 

• Section 10(3): CEO – including “in ex officio capacity” 

• Section 12(b): remove will perform and replace will be assigned to perfom 

• Section 16(2): Delete the word “thing” and replace with the word “matter” 
 

It should be noted that there were two additional points raised that were responded to 
when 2nd and 3rd reading of the bylaw were considered, as follows: 

• Ensuring the code of conduct was specifically included within Board policies and were 
enforceable and had oversight; and 

• The inclusion of “mandate” language as it related to the Red Deer Appeal & Review 
Board 

 

Discussion: 

Following is a review of each of the points identified above. 

 

• Section 8 – adding clarity with respect to the composition of panels of 5 Members (or 
3 Members) as circumstances permit, shall be assigned to each hearing 
 

The composition of the Board is 5 members with alternate members assigned to step in and 
fill the absence of a sitting citizen representative or Council representative. Section 9 already 
specifies that the Board must not sit in even numbered panels and that quorum is a majority 
of Members. As a result, the convening of panels of either 3 or 5 Members is already 
permitted. For clarity, the following amendment to section 8 is proposed: 

 

 Recommendation: 

That section 8 be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the new section 8, as follows: 

 

8. (1) Each Board consists of five Members as follows: 

  (a)  One Council representative 

  (b) Four Citizen representatives 
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 (2) Alternate members are appointed and trained to fulfill the Board composition 
in the event of Board member absence as follows: 

  (a) One alternate Council representative 

  (b) One alternate Citizen representative 

 

• Section 10(3): CEO – including “in ex officio capacity” 
 
The MGA defines a Council Committee as: a committee, board or other body established by 
a council under this Act but does not include an assessemnt review board established under 
section 454 or a subdivision and development appeal board estalished under section 627. 
 
As a result of the preceding definition, this does mean that the Red Deer Appeal & Review 
Board is considered a committee of Council.  
 
The MGA further states in sections 154 that: 
 
 (2) The chief elected official is a member of all council committees and all bodies 

to which council has the right to appoint members under this Act, unless the 
council provides otherwise. 

 
 (3) Despite subsection (2), the chief elected official may be a member of a board, 

commission, subdivision authority or development authority established under 
Part 17 only if the chief elected official is appointed in the chief elected 
official’s personal name. 

 
Because the Red Deer Appeal & Review Board is not established under Part 17, section 
154(2) would apply, “unless the council provides otherwise.” It is for this reason section 
10(3) clarifies that the Mayor is not a member. However, the words “unless specifically 
appointed under this bylaw” may be redundant and could be removed. 
 

Recommendation:  
It is recommended that subsection 10(3) be amended as follows: 
 
 That subsection 10(3) be amended by deleting the words “unless specifically 

appointed under this bylaw.” 
 
  

• Section 12(1)(b): remove “will perform” and replace “will be assigned to perfom” 
 

The Appeals Board bylaw is by its nature an assignment of roles and responsibilities. As a 
result, we do not believe that added the words “will be assigned” are required. Stepping into 
the vacancy of the chair is the responsibility of the vice chair. 
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It is noted however that section 12(1)(c) provides flexibility for either the chair or vice chair 
when acting in the chairing role to appoint other members to that role. This can be done at 
the discretion of the chair to enable coaching, mentoring and succession planning. 

 

 Recommendation: 

No change is recommended to this section. 

 

• Section 16(2): Delete the word “thing” and replace with the word “matter” 
 

In a review of common dictionary definitions the word “matter” is a better descriptor of  the 
substance of an appeal in that it reflects both the physical substance, e.g. license, 
development permit, etc., and the content of the submissions being made to an appeal.  

 

Recommendation: 

The following amendment is recommended: 

 

That subsection 16(2) be amended by replacing the word “thing” with the word 
“matter.” 

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 266 Item No. 5.6.



 

 

 BYLAW NO. 3619/B-2019 

 

Being a bylaw of The City of Red Deer, in the Province of Alberta, to amend the Appeal Boards Bylaw 

3619/2019, a Bylaw to establish the Subdvision and Development Appeal Board and the Red Deer 

Appeal and Review Board. 

 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Bylaw 3619/2019 is amended as follows: 

 

1. That section 8 be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the new section 8, as follows: 
 

8. (1) Each Board consists of five Members as follows: 
   (a)  One Council representative 
   (b) Four Citizen representatives 
 
 (2) Alternate members are appointed and trained to fulfill the Board composition in 

the event of Board member absence as follows: 
   (a) One alternate Council representative 
   (b) One alternate Citizen representative 

  

2. That subsection 10(3) be amended by deleting the words “unless specifically appointed under this 
bylaw.”  

 

3. That subsection 16(2) be amended by replacing the word “thing” with the word “matter.” 
 
 

READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this       day of         2019. 

 

READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this   day of          2019. 

 

READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this      day of        2019. 

 

AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this  day of    2019. 

 

 

___________________________  ______________________________ 

MAYOR      CITY CLERK 
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BYLAW NO. 3619/2019 
 
Being a bylaw of The City of Red Deer to establish the Appeal Boards. 
 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF RED DEER ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
 

PART I 
PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO BOTH APPEAL BOARDS 

 
Short Title 
 
1. The short title of this bylaw is “The Appeal Boards Bylaw”. 
 
 
Interpretation 
 
2. The headings in this bylaw are for reference purposes only. 
 
3. References to enactments and bylaws in this bylaw include amendment and replacement 

enactments and bylaws, and regulations and orders made in accordance with them. 
 
Definitions 
 
4. (1) In this bylaw: 
 

(a) “Advisory Committee” is a subcommittee of the Board and meets as 
necessary. 

 
(b) “Appellant” means a person who has served a written Notice of Appeal 

as set out in the Municipal Government Act or subordinate legislation or 
authorized person acting on behalf of the Appellant. 

 
(c) “Applicant” means a person who made the initial application upon which 

an appeal is based or authorized person acting on behalf of the Applicant. 
 

(d) “Board” means either the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or 
Red Deer Appeal and Review Board as established by Council, and in a 
section of this bylaw relating to a specific Board, means that specific 
Board. 

 
(e) ‘Chief Elected Official” means the Mayor for the City of Red Deer. 
 
(f) “Citizen Representative” means a person appointed by Council who does 

not represent a specific organization; 

Strikethrough Version 
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 (g) “Designated Officer” means the designated officer appointed as the Clerk 

of the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board in accordance with 
section 627.1 of the MGA. 

 
(h) “Member” means a member of the Board;  

 
(i) “MGA” means the Municipal Government Act of Alberta, RSA 2000, Ch. 

M-26, as amended; and 
 

(j) “Resident” means a resident of the City of Red Deer; 
 
 
Establishment of Boards 
 
5. (1) The following Boards are established: 
 
  (a) Red Deer Appeal and Review Board; and 
 
  (b) Subdivision and Development Appeal Board. 
 
 
Advisory Committees 
 
6.  (1) The Boards may act as an Advisory Committee for the purpose of collaborating 

with the Designated Officer on all matters affecting the Board including but not 
limited to: 

 
(a) Board Member attendance at hearings; 
 
(b) Developing policies regarding Board matters; 

 
(c) Monitoring and evaluating Board performance. 

 
(2) When meeting in an advisory capacity, the Board shall convene and keep minutes 

as an Advisory Committee and the quorum and voting requirements in this 
Bylaw apply. 

 
 

Conduct and Procedures 
 
7. (1) The conduct of Members and the procedures of the Board will be in accordance 

with: 
 
  (a) The express provisions of the MGA and related regulations; 
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  (b) Principles of natural justice and procedural fairness; and 
 
  (c) Policies and procedures of the Board.  
 
 
 
Membership  
 
8. (1) Each Board consists of five Members as follows: 
 
  (a) One Council Representative; 
 
  (b) Four Citizen Representatives; 
 
  (c) One alternate Council Representative; and 
 
  (d) One alternate Citizen Representative. 
 
8. (1) Each Board consists of five Members as follows: 

  (a)  One Council representative 

  (b) Four Citizen representatives 

 

 (2) Alternate members are appointed and trained to fulfill the Board composition in 
the event of Board member absence as follows: 

  (a) One alternate Council representative 

  (b) One alternate Citizen representative 

  
Quorum 
 
9. (1) Quorum is a majority of Members.   
 
 (2) The Board must not sit in even numbered panels. 
 

(3) The majority decision constitutes the decision of the Board. 
 
 
Appointments 
 
10. (1)  In selecting Members, preference may be given to local residents; however, it is 

also recognized that non-residents who own property or have a business in the 
City also have a stake in the community. 

  
(2) Former Members, former Council Members, and former City employees may 

apply for appointment for either Board after a two year hiatus from that capacity, 
with exceptions to be made at the discretion of Council. 
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(3) The Chief Elected Official is not a Member of the Board unless specifically 

appointed under this bylaw. 
 
(4) All Members are appointed for three-year terms and serve on hearings for 

appeals and/or reviews filed during their term. 
 
(5) Where a Board position is left vacant for any reason, Council may appoint a 

replacement for the remainder of that term.  Council may also alter the terms of 
appointment of any Member. 

 
(6) A Member may be re-appointed to a Board at the expiration of the Member’s 

term but may not serve more than two consecutive terms, with exceptions to be 
made at the discretion of Council; 

 
(7) A Member may resign from a Board at any time by giving written notice to the 

Designated Officer. 
 
(8) Council may remove any Member from a Board for cause or misconduct on the 

recommendation of the Designated Officer. 
 
Hearings 
 
11. (1) Hearings will be held at such time and place as determined by the Board. 
 

(2) Public notice of a Board hearing will be given in the manner provided for in the 
MGA and subordinate legislation. 

 
(3) The proceedings of the Board must be conducted in public.  However, the Board 

may close to the public portions of a hearing in accordance with the MGA, the 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, and Policies of the Board. 

 
(4) The Board may deliberate and make its decisions in meetings closed to the 

public. 
 
Chair and Vice Chair 
 
12. (1) The Chair and Vice Chair will be: 
 
  (a) Chosen annually from among Members; 
 

(b) The Chair will preside over and be responsible for the conduct of 
hearings.  If the Chair is unable to perform the Chair’s duties, the Vice 
Chair will perform them. 
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(c) Notwithstanding the above, the Chair may in his discretion delegate role 
of presiding over the conduct of a hearing to another Member. 

 
Designated Officer  
 
13. (1) The Designated Officer shall assign Members to hearings.  Any Member assigned 

to and absent from three consecutive hearings to which the Member has been 
assigned, unless such absence is authorized by resolution of the Advisory 
Committee, will automatically forfeit his/her membership as of the date of the 
third consecutive hearing.  

 
 (2) The Designated Officer may, at the request of the Chair sign orders, decisions and 

documents issued by the Board. 
 
 (3) The Designated Officer may, at the request of the Chair sign documents issued by 

the Advisory Committee. 
 
 (4) The Designated Officer will issue instructions to independent legal counsel for 

the Boards when required.   
 
 
Remuneration 
 
14. (1) Remuneration for Members and reimbursement of expenses, if any, will be set 

out in ‘Schedule A’. 
 
 
Fees 
 
15. (1) Filing Fees payable by Applicants and/or Appellants will be set out in ‘Schedule B’. 
 
 (2) Fees and charges will be set out in ‘Schedule B’. 
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PART II 
RED DEER APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARD 

 
16. (1) The functions and duties of the Red Deer Appeal and Review Board is to hear 

and to make decisions on appeals for which it is responsible under any City 
bylaw and in particular, arising under the following bylaws: 

 
  (a) Alarm Bylaw; 
 
  (b) Business License Bylaw; 
 
  (c) Chicken Bylaw; 
 
  (d) Dog Bylaw;  
 
  (e) Escort Services Bylaw; 
 
  (f) Firearms Bylaw; 
 
  (g) Land Use Bylaw; 
 
  (h) Limousine and Sedan Bylaw; 
 
  (i) Taxi Bylaw; 
 
  (j) Utility Bylaw. 
 
 (2) When the Board receives an appeal where the enabling bylaw is silent as to the 

Board’s authority, the Board may confirm, deny or vary the thing matter being 
appealed. 

 
 (3) When considering the merits of an appeal or a review, the board shall have 

regard to: 
(a) The need to maintain the integrity of the policies which the applicable 

bylaw and statutes are intended to promote; 
(b) The potential cost implications to The City of Red Deer of the decision 

of the Board; and 
(c) The need to treat fairly the persons affected by the order or decision 

under appeal. 
 
Delegation of Authority 
 
17. (1) In addition, under s. 203(1) of the MGA, the Board is given the authority and 

shall exercise the power of Council in respect of applications for review arising 
under s. 547 of the MGA  
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 (2) Where in the opinion of the Board, a Request to Review under section 547 of 
the MGA involves a matter of significant public policy to The City of Red Deer, 
the Board may refer the review to Council. 

 
Filing an Appeal or Review 
 
18. (1) An appeal or a review is commenced by mailing or delivering to the Designated 

Officer of the Board a Notice of Appeal or a Request to Review in the form 
established by the Board from time to time, with the applicable fee. 

 
(2) The Notice of Appeal or Request to Review must be received by the Designated 

Officer within the time frames set out in the MGA, the bylaw or thing that is 
being appealed.  Where there is no time frame set out, the Notice of Appeal 
must be received within fourteen (14) days of the date the Appellant was 
notified of the issue to which an appeal is sought. 
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PART III 
SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT APPEAL BOARD 

 
Functions and Duties 
 
19. (I) The Subdivision and Development Appeal Board will perform the functions and 

duties of a subdivision and development appeal board in accordance with the 
MGA. 

 
Training 
 
20. (1) Members will meet the training requirements set out in the MGA to be qualified 

to participate in a hearing. 
 
 
Designated Officer  
 
 
21. (1) The Legislative Services Manager is the Designated Officer of the Board, and has 

the duties as set out in the MGA and this Bylaw. 
 
 (2) The Designated Officer will meet the training requirements set out in the MGA 

and will perform the duties and functions as set out in the MGA. 
 
 (3) A subdivision or development appeal is commenced by mailing or delivering to 

the Designated Officer a Notice of Appeal in the form established by the Board 
from time to time, within the time specified in the MGA with the applicable fee. 
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PART IV 
 

Repeal 
 
22. (1) Bylaw 3487/2012 is repealed. 
 
Transitional 
 
23. (1) Board Members holding office at the date this bylaw comes into full force shall 

continue to hold office until the expiry of their terms in accordance with their 
appointment under the Appeal Boards Bylaw. 

 
 
 

READ A FIRST TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this 18 day of March 2019. 
     
READ A SECOND TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this 18 day of March 2019. 
     
READ A THIRD TIME IN OPEN COUNCIL this 1 day of April 2019. 
     
AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK this 1 day of  April 2019. 
 
 
 
“Mayor Tara Veer”                     “Frieda McDougall”  
MAYOR CITY CLERK 
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SCHEDULE A 
 
REMUNERATION 
 
1. Members receive the following remuneration when attending hearings and legislated 

training.    
 

Up to 3 hours 3 to 6 hours Over 6 hours 
104.00 203.00 267.00 

 
 These amounts will increase to match the percentage salary increase granted to 

management staff, rounded up to the next dollar.  (current as July 2017) 
 
2. Members will be reimbursed for mileage when attending legislated training outside of 

the City of Red Deer, in accordance with The City’s Expenses and Remuneration Policy. 
 
 
 
 

City of Red Deer City Council Regular Meeting, 2019/04/29 - Page 277 Item No. 5.6.



Bylaw No. 3619/2019 

 11 

SCHEDULE B 
 
FEES: 
 
1. Filing Fee:       Seventy-Five ($75.00) dollars 
 
2. When required by the Board to be advertised:  Seventy-Five ($75.00) dollars 
 
3. There is no fee for applications of the Red Deer Appeal and Review Board for a Review 

arising under s. 547 of the MGA.  
 
4. Where a person may be affected by a subdivision or development but does not have a 

legal or equitable claim in the site, or is not the agent of the person having such interest: 
there is no fee.  

 
5. Fees may be waived or refunded at the discretion of the Designated Officer. 
 
 
CHARGES: 
 
The following charges apply: 
 
1.  copy of the audio recording from a hearing:  $20 / each piece of digital equipment 
 
2.  transcript of the audio from a hearing:   actual costs incurred  
 
3.  photocopies:      Black and white: $0.25/page 
        Color   $0.35/page 
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